
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Thursday, 19th June, 2014 
 

2.00 pm 
 

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 





 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Thursday, 19th June, 2014, at 2.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

  
 Telephone (01622) 694277 

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting  
 

Membership (13) 
 
Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 

Mr G Lymer and Mrs J Whittle 
 

UKIP (2): Mr B Neaves and Mrs Z Wiltshire 
 

Labour (1): Mr R Truelove 
 

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr M J Vye 
 

Co-opted Members 
(4): 

Mrs T Carpenter, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths and Mrs C Moody 
 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports. 
 
Item 
No 

 
 
 A.  PANEL BUSINESS 
A1 Membership - to report that Mrs Jenny Whittle has replaced Mr Peter Oakford as 

a Member of the Panel  
A2 Substitutes  
A3 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 April 2014 (Pages 5 - 12) 



A4 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 22 May 
2014 (Pages 13 - 18) 

A5 Chairman's Announcements  
A6 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council  
A7 Cabinet Member's Verbal Update (Pages 19 - 20) 

 
 B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 
B1 Update on Adoption Service (Pages 21 - 140) 
B2 Update regarding the work of the Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (Pages 

141 - 152) 
B3 IRO Service  - quarterly update (Pages 153 - 176) 
 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services  
 (01622) 694002 
 
Wednesday, 11 June 2014 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 
 



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 

 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 10 April 2014. 
 
PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs T Carpenter, 
Mrs P T Cole, Mr S Griffiths, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, 
Mr R Truelove, Mr M J Vye and Mrs Z Wiltshire 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford and Mrs J Whittle 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Ms M MacNeil (Director, Specialist Children's Services), 
Mr P Brightwell (Head of Quality Assurance, Children's Safeguarding Team), 
Ms S Hammond (Assistant Director of Specialist Children's Services, West Kent), 
Ms S King (Assistant Director East Kent, Children in Care), Ms T Vickers (County 
Fostering Manager) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 

10. Membership  
(Item A2) 
 
The Chairman reported that Mr Oakford had not in fact left the Panel, but that he 
would leave later in the year when he took over the Cabinet Member role to cover 
Mrs Whittle’s maternity leave. The Democratic Services Officer confirmed that she 
would amend the records accordingly. 
 

11. Minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2014  
(Item A3) 
 
1. RESOLVED that these are a correct record and they be signed by the 
Chairman.  
 
2. In response to a question from Mr Vye about the importance of exit interviews 
with social workers leaving the County Council, Ms MacNeil explained that the exit 
interview process would be reviewed to ensure that all social workers leaving would 
have a face-to-face meeting with an appropriate person and that feedback arising 
from these interviews would be carefully recorded and used to improve future 
service. 
 

12. Minutes of the meeting of Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) held on 27 
February 2014  
(Item A4) 
 
1. The inclusion of these on the Panel’s agenda was welcomed, and their clarity 
praised.  
 
2. Mr Vye, a Member of the KCPG, reported that young people had asked to 
attend meetings of the KCPG. If such meetings were also to include Members of the 

Page 5

Agenda Item A3



 

2 

Corporate Parenting Panel, the number of people involved would be so large as to be 
impractical. The Chairman added that the evening meetings which the Panel used to 
arrange with young people in care had been very valuable and should be 
resurrected.  It was generally agreed that engagement with young people needed 
careful thought and planning to make it as inclusive and productive as possible. 
 
3. In response to a question from Mr Vye about LILAC (Leading Improvement for 
looked After Children). Mr Brightwell explained that LILAC had been discussed by the 
Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) on 9 April. Two pieces of 
research were currently underway, one by LILAC and one by the Young Lives 
Foundation, and these would be combined to give a good overview of participation 
with young people in care and how this engagement could be improved. The Panel 
would keep a watching brief on the development of this research and would review it 
at a future meeting.  
  
4. RESOLVED that the minutes be noted. 
 

13. Oral Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)  
(Item A6) 
 
1. The Chairman reported that Sophia Dunstan was taking part in the 
participation days which the VSK apprentices arranged for children and young people 
in care so had given apologies to the Panel meeting.   
 
2. A written update would be circulated after the meeting to all Panel Members.   
 

14. Cabinet Member's Oral Update  
(Item A7) 
 
1. Mrs Whittle gave an oral update on the following issues:- 
 
Attended meeting of OCYPC on 9 April – this meeting had included a good 
discussion about increasing awareness of the Kent County Council’s Pledge to 
Children and Young People in Care.  A short film had been made of a rap about the 
Pledge. The meeting had been well chaired by Sophia Dunstan. 
 
Ofsted view on placement at a distance from a child’s home – some 8,000 
children in care were currently placed more than 20 miles from their family homes, 
friends and social support networks. There was an urgent need to develop provision 
to allow these young people to be placed nearer their homes. Mrs Whittle said she 
had been ‘disappointed’ by the Local Government Association’s response to the new 
regulations. Related to this was the problem of London Boroughs trying to recruit 
foster carers from Kent, rather than within their own areas. If they were to recruit 
more locally, they would be able to accommodate more of their own care population 
and would not need to make distant placements in neighbouring authorities.  A report 
by the Department for Education was expected shortly and would be considered by 
the Education and Young People’s Services Cabinet Committee.  Mrs Whittle had 
recently been interviewed about the issue and would be lobbying the Children’s 
Minister further to impose sanctions on those authorities which breach the new 
regulations, and would report back to the Panel on the outcome of this lobbying. She 
reassured the Panel that Kent County Council placed very few of its children in care 

Page 6



 

3 

outside the county, and these more distant placements were made only when there 
was a good reason to do so. 
 
Adoption Breakdowns – recent research had shown up patterns in the breakdown 
of adoption placements.  Mrs Whittle undertook to circulate the research to Panel 
members, and it was subsequently agreed that the Panel would receive a report on 
the research to a future meeting. A recent television series had highlighted the work 
of adoption services in the UK and the challenges they faced.  Campaigns were 
currently in place to target those children who were hard to place.  
 
2. Mrs Whittle responded to comments and questions from Panel members, as 
follows:- 
 

a) East London Boroughs continued to be the main source of placements in 
Kent, with Suffolk and Essex County Councils also placing large numbers;  

 
b)  Panel members referred to the known contribution of domestic abuse to 

family breakdown and children entering care, and members acknowledged 
the long term effects that such experiences could have on a child’s later 
years;  

 
c) Mrs Whittle referred to research undertaken by Martin Narey which had 

highlighted the percentage of the adult prison population which had 
previously been in care;  

 
d) at a recent conference organised by Coram, a speaker had highlighted the 

mental health issues often present in children when they entered care.  A 
check of mental health issues would be undertaken during initial health 
checks, but a view was expressed that such checks should be prioritised 
and undertaken as soon a child entered care. Members acknowledged the 
long-standing problem of delayed or uneven access to children’s mental 
health services and the work going on the address this. Mrs Whittle said 
she would emphasise the importance of Children and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) funding to MPs; and  

 
e) a view was expressed that, in addition to the CAMHS service, therapeutic 

counselling was also needed.  Ms MacNeil explained that emotional health 
and wellbeing services could meet this need, as this was not necessarily 
covered by CAMHS.   

 
3. The oral updates were noted, with thanks.  
 

15. The Views of Children and Young People in Care  
(Item B1) 
 
1. Mr Brightwell introduced the report and highlighted key areas of progress 
since drafting the report, which included a DVD made by young people in care to 
update the ‘Care to Listen’ DVD produced in 2010.  The aim of this was to follow the 
experiences of young people in care over time, in a similar way to the ‘Seven Up’ 
series of television programmes, which visited each of a research group of children 
every seven years. The Democratic Services Officer added that the Leader had 

Page 7



 

4 

proposed that the DVD be shown to the full Council on 15 May, to accompany a 
presentation on the new Care Leaver’s Charter.  
 
2. Mr Brightwell and Mrs Whittle responded to comments and questions from 
Members, as follows:- 

 
a) disappointment was expressed that almost three-quarters of young people 

in care had said they were unaware of the Care Leaver’s Charter.  Mrs 
Whittle agreed that some may not have heard about the actual Charter 
document but added that most young people were well aware of what they 
were entitled to;  
 

b) Members commented that, in future feedback, it would help to know what 
type of accommodation respondents were in at the time they gave their 
views; 

 
c) respondents could also be asked about their plans for future education and 

employment and what the 16+ service could do to help them achieve them.  
Mr Brightwell explained that, from May 2014, an online quality assurance 
audit would include a section for care leavers over 18;  

 
d) Mr Brightwell added that he was aware that some senior officers viewed 

the corporate parenting role as being limited to a small number of people, 
which suggested that more work was needed to extend awareness of the 
corporate parenting responsibility and what the County Council as a whole 
could do to support and help children in care and care leavers;   

 
e) one very practical way in which help could be given would be to support 

apprenticeships for care leavers, so they could add this to their curriculum 
vitae and compete with other care leavers. Members asked if a target could 
be established – for example, that each Directorate offer so many 
apprenticeship places for 16+ care leavers, with the aim of getting them 
into full apprenticeships at 18. The establishment the new Directorate 
structure offered a good opportunity to promote a new initiative such as 
this. The Chairman undertook to discuss this initially with the Cabinet 
Members for Commercial and Traded Services and Corporate and 
Democratic Services; 

 
f) Mr Brightwell confirmed that the surveys had been carried out 

independently of the ‘exit interviews’ undertaken with young people leaving 
care. Although the content of these interviews would be used to shape 
future service, young people’s views were sought regularly at other times.   
Some 20% of young people leaving care would usually respond to an exit 
interview, and it was hoped that this participation rate could be improved; 
and 

 
g) the importance of meetings between Panel members and young people in 

care was emphasised, and the wish expressed that these effective 
meetings should be resurrected.  

 
3. RESOLVED that:- 

 

Page 8



 

5 

a) the views of the young people detailed in this report be noted; 
 
b) analysis of the findings of the independent survey currently in progress, with 

the other sources of information available, which contain information about 
the views of children and young people in care and care leavers, be 
supported; and  

 
c) a subsequent report be presented to the Panel which contains the analysis 

of the above, with recommended actions and a timeline for regular 
reporting.  

 
16. Ofsted Inspection Action Plans - update  

(Item B2) 
 
1. Mr Brightwell introduced the report and summarised the next key steps in the 
Council’s progress from an ‘adequate’ to a ‘good’ rating:- 
 

• concentrating on care planning:- plans should be robust and of good quality; 
 

• child-focussed practice, vital to achieve a good rating:- the child should be at 
the centre of all areas of work at all times; simply asking them their views was 
not enough; 

 
• staff supervision and oversight, including deep analysis of statistics:- good 

practice management would be reflected in good quality care plans; 
 

• stability of social work allocation and good quality handover:- internal audit 
should look at how many changes of social worker there had been in any one 
year for each child.  This could be identified in monthly quality assurance 
reports, to assess how a change in social worker could impact on practice.  
The OCYPC had been asked to measure the number of changes of social 
worker and the impact of these changes.  A report on the outcomes of this 
research would be considered by a future meeting of the Panel;  

 
 
2. Mr Brightwell and Ms MacNeil responded to comments and questions from 
Members and explained the following:- 
 

a) Ofsted was not subject to any formal audit process, and variance in the 
quality of some inspectors and inspection standards had caused the 
County Council concern in the past. The majority of Ofsted practice, 
however, was good;  
 

b) it was not possible to say when the next Ofsted inspection might come but 
the County Council had to be prepared for such an inspection at any time. 
Mr Brightwell emphasised that the County Council’s social work practice 
was driven not by Ofsted but by its need to support and make a difference 
to the lives of children and young people in its care; 

 
c) at a recent meeting of the KCPG, it had been stated that approximately 

one-third of the young people in the youth justice system had had more 

Page 9



 

6 

than three care placements.  This statistic was a useful indicator of the 
importance of making good placements;  

 
d) the Safeguarding Board had taken on the oversight of practice from the 

Children’s Services Improvement Panel (CSIP), and Mr Brightwell 
undertook to clarify to Corporate Parenting Panel members the role of the 
Safeguarding Board in monitoring the four action plans;  

 
e) Independent Reviewing Officers’ quarterly reports were based on more 

than 5,000 case audits a year. Good core practice accounted for a very 
high percentage of a ‘good’ assessment, and the way in which a local 
authority responded to being given an ‘inadequate’ rating was also a telling 
indicator of the quality of its practice;  

 
f) Panel members asked that the Panel be given a report of the number and 

causes of placement breakdown over a 6-month period, including the 
potential contribution of changes of social worker to the number of 
breakdowns, and the role that the IRO service could play in supporting 
children and their foster families through breakdown; and 

 
g) Panel members expressed a commitment that an ‘inadequate’ rating 

should not be allowed to happen again. 
 
3. RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) the progress made be noted; 
 

b) a report on the outcomes of this research be considered by a future 
meeting of the Panel; and 

 
c) the Panel be given a report of the number and causes of placement 

breakdown over a 6-month period, including the potential contribution of 
changes of social worker to the number of breakdowns, and the role that 
the IRO service could play in supporting children and their foster families 
through breakdown.  

 
17. Trafficking Issues in Kent County Council Specialist Children's Services  

(Item B3) 
 
1. Ms Hammond introduced the report and highlighted key issues and challenges 
in working with unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) and other children 
at risk of being trafficked (ie moved around for purposes which were not in their best 
interest). She highlighted to the Panel some patterns of behaviour and areas of 
practice, as follows:- 

• young people entering the country could not be searched but border staff 
would always remove their mobile phones so they could not make 
arrangements with anyone who was waiting to meet them;  

• most young people who intended to abscond would do so within their first 24 
hours in the country;  

• the largest group which tended to abscond was young men at the end of their 
asylum seeking process, who chose to go missing rather than be repatriated; 

Page 10



 

7 

• most UASC did not tend to abscond; the percentage of this group which went 
missing was very small, and there was evidence that those who did were not 
trafficked but made their own decision to abscond; a very small proportion of 
the UASC with whom the County Council worked had been trafficked;  and 

• some UASC would abscond sporadically and then return; identifying and 
working with these patterns was an important part of the team’s work. 

 
2. In response to comments and questions from Members, the following points 

were highlighted:- 
 
a) all children with whom the team worked were unaccompanied and most 

were over 16, and very few had relatives in the UK with whom they could 
be reunited.  The Home Office would verify the identity of relatives very 
carefully before sending a child to them. Young people with genuine 
relatives tended to arrive with good information about them and were 
easier to reunite with confidence; those arriving with vague details about 
‘relatives’ were generally less likely to be genuine;  
 

b) the Home Office was very vigilant in identifying and challenging young 
people who might have been told to attach themselves to a family travelling 
together so they did not appear to be unaccompanied, and the Home 
Office would not hesitate to query genuine-looking families if they were 
suspicious that this may have happened; 

 
c) any young person under the age of 18 might have adult status and 

responsibility in their home country but would always be treated as a minor 
in the UK, and this would be clearly explained to them upon arrival; 

 
d) the County Council had a duty of care to any young person under 18 

arriving in the country unaccompanied, and, until their claim could be 
assessed by the Home Office and their immigration status confirmed, they 
would be assumed to come under the care of the County Council;  

 
e) mobile phones removed from new arrivals would be passed to the Police, 

who could then use them to track their movements and contacts.  Young 
people not wishing to be traced or found would usually discard their phone 
so they could not be tracked in this way; and 

 
f) patterns of UASC immigration from any country tended to relate to civil 

unrest in that country; numbers would increase during unrest and decrease 
once the conflict had ended.  Immigration tended also to rise in the 
summer months, when travel was generally easier.  

  
3. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks. 
 

18. Position Statement: Fostering  
(Item B4) 
 
1. Ms King and Mrs Vickers introduced the report and highlighted key areas of 
progress, including the establishment of new teams and a continuing drive to recruit 
more foster carers. For the latter, and for foster placements, challenging targets had 
been set.  The County Council’s fostering service had to compete with independent 

Page 11



 

8 

fostering agencies (IFAs), and to help with this it had made its fostering website more 
dynamic.  Ms King and Mrs Vickers responded to comments and questions from the 
Panel, as follows:- 
 

a) Kent had to compete with IFAs in both London and Kent, and with London 
Boroughs to recruit foster carers.  This had been a challenge for many 
years; 

 
b) one Panel member expressed concern at the level of payment made to 

private foster carers in a neighbouring authority, and said this could attract 
people who may take up the role primarily for the income.  Mrs Vickers said 
she believed the package that Kent offered to its foster carers was very 
competitive;  

 
c) Ms King advised the Panel that feedback from foster carers who had 

attended training events had been very positive;  and 
 
d) the availability of respite care was also a long-standing challenge, although 

Mrs Vickers pointed out that many foster carers did not use it.  Good respite 
care was often difficult to arrange as many children would not want to leave 
their foster family to stay for a week or two weeks with someone whom they 
did not know.  

 
2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks, 

and the Fostering team be congratulated on the progress they have made in 
improving the service. 

 
 

Page 12



 

 1 

 
 
 

 
Kent Corporate Parenting Group 

Minutes of the meeting held on 22 May 2014 
John Wigan Room, Oakwood House 

Present: Apologies: 
Mairead MacNeil – Director Specialist Children’s 
Services  

Michelle Woodward – Children and Young People’s 
Service Manager South Kent 

Andy Heather – Principal Educational Psychologist 
 

Sue Clifton – Operations Manager Catch 22/16+ 
Nancy Sayer - NHS Susan Rogers – Director Education and Young 

People’s Services 
June Capuano – Kent Community Health NHS Trust Nick Wilkinson – Youth Offending Service Lead 

Manager  
Paul Brightwell – Head of Quality Assurance Anne Nerva – Children and Young People’s Service 

Manager Thanet 
Tony Doran – Head Teacher, Virtual School Kent  Sarah Hindle – Assistant Principal Educational 

Psychologist 
Jane Grogan – Children and Young Person’s Service 
Manager West Kent 

Patricia Denney – Assistant Director of Safeguarding 
and Quality Assurance 

Martin Vye – Elected Member for Canterbury 
 

 
Sharon Dodd – Strategic Manager ELS/KIASS 
 

 
Rebecca Ransley – Interim Children and Young 
Person’s Service Manager South Kent 

 
Maureen Shepherd – Assistant Director Children & 
Families, Kent Community Health NHS Trust 

 
Sarah Skinner – Service Business Manager, Virtual 
School Kent 

 
Maureen Robinson – Service Manager, MIU 
 

 
Dr Noreen Ahmad-Bhatti – East Kent Hospitals 
University Trust 

 
Diana Robinson – Interim Principal Advisor, Special 
and PRU 

 
Anthony Walker – Operations Manager, Share 
Foundation 

 
Yashi Shah – Interim County Adoption 
 

 
Sarah Hammond – Assistant Director West Kent 
 

 
 

Item 
No 

General Overview of discussion, followed by decisions and actions in bold Actions 
1. Welcome and Introductions 

• Mairead MacNeil welcomed everyone to the meeting and apologies were noted.  
Mairead reiterated the need for members of the group to send apologies if unable to 
attend, particularly if there are actions that require following up 

 
 
 
 

2. Minutes and Matters Arising  
• Page 2 - Sharon Dodd supplied 2 statements to provide further clarity about full time 

 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item A4



 

 2 

hours as requested on the day of the meeting.  
 
“Key judgement: The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence: 
 
Children and young people who do not attend school have access to 25 hours per week 
of good-quality registered alternative provision. They are encouraged and supported to 
attend the provision and there is regular review of their progress. Urgent action to 
protect children is taken where they are missing from school or their attendance 
noticeably reduces” 
 

Framework and evaluation schedule for the inspection of services for children in need 
of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers 
December 2013, No. 130216 
 
[Taken from  Alternative Provision Statutory guidance for local authorities  
January 2013] 
 
“While ‘full-time’ is not defined in law, pupils in alternative provision should receive the 
same amount of education as they would receive in a maintained school. Full-time can 
be made up of two or more part-time provisions” (page 5)” 
 
• Page 2 - Participation strategy has been circulated 

 
• Page 2 - Corporate Parenting Lanyards – Amanda Beer has stated that all lanyards 

should be KCC branded.  Mairead MacNeil has asked for a decision as to whether 
these will be taken forward.  Action – Paul Brightwell to ask Tina Onuchukwu to 
take this forward and update the next meeting 

• Page 2 – SE7 Protocol – Regional Protocol has been signed off by Paul Carter.  
Sue Roberts-Hughes has been attending meetings in relation to the Local Protocol 
and there is some clarification needed on regional issues.  Action - Sharon Dodd 
will follow up with Paul Brightwell and Nick Wilkinson  

• Page 3 – Kent CiC and the Youth Justice System – Sharon Dodd has had 
conversations with Eileen McKibben in the Business Intelligence Unit on evaluation 
of data and has asked for SCS colleagues to work with them on evaluating data.  
Piece of work to take place outside of this meeting to capture the best possible 
synopsis.  Action – Sharon Dodd to lead on this work with Tony  Doran and 
Sue Dunn and feedback to next meeting 

• Page 3 – DfE Kitemark – Tony Doran has been involved in this project with 6 Local 
Authorities looking at best practice in schools working with traumatised children.  It 
is a 3 year research programme before a kitemark would be developed.  Tony 
Doran has been working with Andy Heather to look at a kitemark for Kent schools 

• Page 3 – LILAC assessment –this has been delayed due to part of the assessment 
requiring a survey that was very similar to the Young Lives survey that had been 
requested by Paul Carter and it not being possible to use this survey to inform the 
LILAC assessment.  The LILAC assessment will now take place at the end of 
September/beginning of October.  The Young Lives survey has closed and 294 
surveys have been returned.  The draft report has been sent to Mairead MacNeil 
and will then go to Paul Carter.  The Children’s Rights Survey has also just come 
out; however one of the themes coming out of the Young Lives survey is that young 
people want to stop being surveyed.  There needs to be a more coordinated 
approach to surveys.  Paul Brightwell has a paper on research that Kent 
participated in from the Regional Corporate Parenting Network on the voice of the 
child.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
PB 
 
 
 
SD 
 
 

 
 
 
SD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

 3 

• Page 3 - Care to Listen DVD – new DVD has been finalised.  Paul Carter is meeting 
with the Children in Care Council on 2nd June and will view the DVD, which will then 
go to Cabinet in July.  Action – Sarah Skinner to present the DVD with some of 
the Young People involved at the next meeting.   

• Page 3 – Staying Put Policy – This is currently with Legal.  DfE website has draft 
guidance that was issued in February. Action – Paul Brightwell will circulate 
guidance with the minutes and this item to be tabled for further discussion at 
the next meeting 

• Page 3 – IRO reports – Quarter 3 report has not been completed due to the Liberi 
data issues.  Paul Brightwell is currently writing the Quarter 4 report and the IRO 
Management report.  Action – Both of these reports to be tabled for the next 
meeting  

• Page 4 – QA Online Audit Report - Action – This to be tabled for the next 
meeting  

• Page 4 – Children in Care Strategy – Paul Brightwell has met with colleagues from 
this group and will be drafting.  The main sections will be kept but will focus on the 
journey to good and link to the Ofsted action plans.  It will focus primarily on SCS 
work but incorporate key actions and priorities from partner agencies. 

• Page 4 – CiC Education – Tony Doran has been meeting with Louise Simpson and 
the School Improvement Team regarding the data on fixed term exclusions.  The 
differences in the data are due to the different databases where the figures are 
drawn from.  Capita one is updated at differing times depending on when the 
schools report their fixed term exclusions, whereas VSK use a system that is 
updated daily.  Data on fixed term exclusions is now being shared with Service 
Managers.  Action – Sharon Dodd, Maureen Robinson and Tony Doran to work 
together to provide an overview on this matter and data accuracy to be added 
to the next agenda 

• Page 4 – KCPG scorecard – Action - Maureen Robinson to bring proposals for 
scorecard to the next meeting   

• Page 4 - Kent Pledge and Care Leavers Charter Leaflets – Sean Kearns did not 
send through a paragraph regarding training and employment.  Action to be 
carried over to the next meeting 

• Page 5 – Sarah Skinner did not receive any further observations on the leaflets.  
Leaflets have now been finalised and printed and will be seen by Paul Carter on the 
2nd June 

• Minutes agreed 

 
 
SS 
 
 
PB 
 
 

 
 
PB 
 
PB 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
SD/TD/MR 

 
 

MR 
 
 
SK 
 
 
 

 
3. Junior ISA’s and Share Foundation 

• Anthony Walker from Share Foundation was introduced and welcomed. 
• Share Foundation is based in Aylesbury and has a team of 4 staff. 
• Junior ISA’s are for Children under the age of 18 that did not qualify for a Child 

Trust Fund.  Child Trust Funds ran from September 2002 - January 2011 
• Unaccompanied asylum seeking children do qualify if they meet the same criteria 

and are physically in the UK 
• The £200 that opens the account from the Government is a one off payment  
• All Local Authorities in England have provided the Share Foundation with the data 

on qualifying children.  MIU provides the data on behalf of Kent  
• There are a number of funds that can be selected from and the job of the Share 

Foundation is to select the best one.  There are 6/7 standard funds, an ethical fund 
and a sharia fund. The Corporate Parent can request that an ethical fund is used. 

• Share Foundation administers donations and funds raised.  Action – This matter 
to be taken to Corporate Parenting Panel to investigate ways of raising funds 
in Kent  

• There is a form on the website for one off donations or for a standing order to be set 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MV 

Page 15



 

 4 

up 
• Anthony Walker asked the group if they had any suggestions for local donors to be 

sent through to him 
• Links to information from the Share Foundation are on the Children in Care website 

and work is under way on reviewing the information that is given to Children in Care 
• Next year Child Trust Funds can  be converted into Junior ISA’s 
• Kent Pledge Funds were set up for children that did not qualify for Child Trust Funds 

and for those that now have Junior ISA’s the Kent Pledge money is being 
transferred this account 

4. Adoption – Impact of the Children and Families Act 
• Yashi Shah gave a presentation to the group on the impact of the new Children and 

Families Act on adoption 
• The act introduces a 26 week time limit on care proceedings which is a huge 

reduction in the Ministry of Justice statistics on the average length of care 
proceedings of 40.8 weeks 

• Expert reports should only be used where reasonably required as they are highly 
expensive and are often of poor quality 

• Children’s social workers produce high quality analytical assessments and 
summaries 

• There is now a requirement that separating families attend mediation which can 
include extended families 

• Adoption summit 2nd July and Emotional Wellbeing summit 7th July  
• Foster to Adopt is very different  to concurrency and will only apply to a small 

number of children 
• Yashi Shah asked members of the group for: 
1) Educational expertise support on adoption panels  
2) Expertise from Health partners  
3) Volunteers for a small working party to look at the pathways for adopted children 

and adopters.  Action – Yashi Shah to email to the group, Margaret Pike will 
provide Yashi with email addresses 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
YS 

5. Ofsted Action Plans 
• Covered in minutes and matters arising  

 
 

6. Children in Care Strategy 
• Covered in minutes and matters arising 

 

7. Corporate Parenting Framework 
• Paul Brightwell distributed a report on research conducted by the Regional 

Corporate Parenting Network that Kent contributed to and asked that members of 
the group take this away and read 

• Paul Brightwell read a short paragraph on Links between Children in Care Councils 
and Corporate Parenting Panels.  Action – Report to be tabled  for further 
discussion at the next meeting 

 
 
 
 
 
PB 

 
8. Transformation of CiC/16+ and service reconfiguration with UASC  

• The new integrated Children in Care 0-18 and leaving care services will go live on 
1st October 

• Integrated care leavers service will be a county wide service delivered in 2 halves – 
east and west 

• Pathway to independence – some care leavers may never be able to live fully 
independently and this will involve contact with adult services  

• Next steps – there will be a consultation with affected Catch 22 and UASC staff, 
views are also welcomed from parties around the table. The offer will be “mapped” 
as to what children in care and care leavers can expect and the service will be 
launched on 1st October. 

• This is an opportunity to do things differently and maximise inclusion 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

 5 

• There is work to be on children on the edge of care which Sharon Dodd, Sarah 
Hammond and Eileen McKibben are working on.  Action – Sharon Dodd and 
Tony Doran to meet and discuss their edge of care work and feedback to the 
next meeting 

 
 

SD/TD 

9. AOB 
• None raised  

 
 

10. Date of Next Meeting  
4th September 2014 at Oakwood House 09:30-12:30 

 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
By:  Mr P Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services 

 
 
To:  Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 June 2014 
 
 
Subject:  Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member  
 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
 

 
 
The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:- 
 

1. Fostering Fortnight 
2. Children’s Social Worker Recruitment and Retention 
3. Foster Children and Carers Sports Day in Thanet 
4. LLP – Supporting Care Leavers in Education and Training 
5. The Caldecott Foundation 

 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item A7



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services 

 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Families and Social Care  
To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 June 2014 

Subject: UPDATE ON ADOPTION SERVICE 

 
Classification: For information 
 
Summary: Attached are update reports providing information on: 

• Annual report on Adopters’ journey 
• Analysis of Information Event 
• Evaluation of Kent Adoption Panels 
• Annual report on Children’s adoption journeys 
• Children’s adoption journey: summary statistics 

 
 
 
 
1. (1) As reported to previous meetings of the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
Coram is working in partnership with the County Council to manage the Adoption 
Service. Additional post adoption support services are provided by Action for 
Children. 
 

(2) Attached for information are reports on: 
 

• Annual report on Adopters’ journey (Appendix 1) 
• Analysis of Information Event (Appendix 2) 
• Evaluation of Kent Adoption Panels (Appendix 3) 
• Annual report on Children’s adoption journeys (Appendix 4) 
• Children’s adoption journey: summary statistics (Appendix 5) 
• Voice of the child – Marketing activity to recruit adopters (Appendix 6) 

 
 
 
Andrew Ireland 
Corporate Director for Families and Social Care 
01622 694173 
andrew.ireland@kent.gov.uk 
 
Background documents: None 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item B1



This page is intentionally left blank



Kent County Council and Coram Partnership 
Corporate Parenting Panel: 19 June 2014 
Annual Report on Adopters’ Journey 
1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service and Improvement, Coram, Kent CC 
Kevin Yong, Senior Data Analyst, Coram 

Page 23



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Table of Contents 
 
Introduction......................................................................................................................2 

Summary Statistics..........................................................................................................3 

Adopters’ enquiries ..........................................................................................................5 

Initial visits and Registration of Interest Forms ................................................................9 

ROIs (applications to Stage One) received from prospective adoptive households .........9 

Applications for assessment received from prospective adoptive households ............... 11 

Conversion rates ........................................................................................................... 15 

Adopters approved ........................................................................................................ 15 

Kent approved adopters matched with looked after children from other local authorities
...................................................................................................................................... 17 

Adopters approved who have not yet adopted a child ................................................... 18 

Forecast of number and types of adopters needed........................................................ 19 

Inter-country .................................................................................................................. 19 

Conclusion..................................................................................................................... 20 

Appendix A – assumptions and calculations in forecasting............................................ 21 

Page 24



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

 
Introduction 

This annual report provides a detailed analysis of performance for all adoptive 
households who made an enquiry, submitted a formal application to be assessed as 
adoptive households or were approved to be adopters between 1 April 2013 and 31 
March 2014. 

The Recruitment and Assessment teams are provided with data from the Initial Enquiry 
Team (shared with Fostering Service), who are responsible for fielding the initial calls 
from members of the public who are interested in enquiring about adoption. In addition, 
the teams continue to use a spreadsheet-based tool that captures data for the whole 
adopter’s journey and uses it to support effective performance management of every 
case we are dealing with. Coram needs to continue to use this tool alongside Liberi as 
the current version of Liberi does not properly support the new two-stage recruitment 
process nor does it allow us to track our progress to the level of detail we need to be 
able to report on our performance in sufficient detail.  

Coram has also built tools to support efficient management of panel bookings and to 
track family finding progress. A proposal was submitted by Coram at the beginning of 
April to the Management Information Unit for the spreadsheet tools to be converted into 
web-based tools that would then provide the robustness and security for the medium to 
long term, as well as generate automatic alerts when key actions are needed, and we 
are awaiting their response. 

All of the performance reported on in this report relates to the work of Recruitment and 
Assessment teams - there are two teams of social workers (made up of 15 full-time 
equivalent staff and 1.3 team managers), supported by three assessment administrators, 
two enquiries administrators  and one data administrator. In reports from 2014/15 we will 
be reporting on the performance of each of the teams, and will include some analysis of 
this type in this report.

Page 25



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

 

Summary Statistics 

• This report covers the twelve-month period from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 and 
sets out the analysis of data for households who made an enquiry, submitted an 
application or whose application was presented to panel during this timeframe. As 
the government introduced a new assessment process from 1 July 2013, this report 
analyses performance under the old and new style processes separately. The report 
also includes a forecast for the number of adopters we need to approve in the next 
two years. 

• The adoption service has seen an increase in the number of enquiries received 
from prospective adoptive households: 578 were received in 2013/14, a 38.9% 
increase compared to the same period in 2012/13 (416). 440 of these enquiries are 
being managed under the new two-stage process. 

• We have considerably reduced the amount of time taken to process enquiries. For 
enquiries received between 1 April and 30 June 2013, under the old style process, all 
those that progressed from initial enquiry to formal application took 98 days (3 
months) on average, whereas in 2012/13 the average was 13 months. 

• For enquiries received since 1 July, we have followed the new two-stage recruitment 
process, which is designed to be more adopter-led. We received 322 formal 
enquiries, of which 126 returned a Registration of Interest (ROI), which signals 
their desire to proceed to Stage One of the process. The average time from initial 
enquiry to formal application for these applicants was 50.5 days. 90 of these (71.4%) 
had a decision made within five working days, meeting the timescale required. 

• 169 of the 578 enquiries (29.2%) received this year have resulted in a formal 
application to be assessed, either through submission of a ROI (new style - 126) or 
attending a preparation group (old style - 43). By comparison, 70 of the 414 enquiries 
(17%) received in 2012/13 resulted in applications being made. 

Page 26



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

• We have also seen an increase in the number of applications to be assessed 
received this year – 155, which is a 14% increase on last year (136). 106 were 
under the old process. 

• 129 were from first-time households (30 under the new process), 13 from repeat 
adopters (9 under the new process) and 13 from foster carers (10 under the new 
process). 

• The majority of households applying are couples: 145 couples (including 14 
same-sex couples) and 10 single adopters.  

• As with previous years, the majority of individuals who have applied are White 
British (90.7%); 4.3% are White but not British; 2% are from ‘mixed’ backgrounds; 
and 2% are Black. We also had our first Pakistani applicant for at least two years. 

• In total 167 prospective adoptive households were approved by Agency 
Decision Maker between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014. This is 92% higher than 
the number approved in 2012/13 (87 approvals) and 149.3% higher than 2011/12 
(67). 

• Of the 167 households approved in the current year 134 were first-time adoptive 
households, 10 second-time adopters, 3 third-time adopters and 20 foster-carer 
adoptive households. 

• The National Minimum Standards (NMS) for the old style process, which required 
adopters to be considered by the Adoption Panel within 8 months of their formal 
application, were met for 72.2% (109 of 151) of the adopters approved in 2013/14 
(59% in 2012/13). Our target for the year was 65%. 

• For new style assessments, the ADM decision for approval needs to be made within 
4 months of an application to be assessed. 68.8% (11 out of 16) households were 
approved within this timeframe 

• As of 31 March 2014, we had 59 active assessments of which 8 were on hold. 
• Further analysis of all of this is provided in the report. 

Page 27



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

 
Adopters’ enquiries 
Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, the Adoption Service received 578 initial 
enquiries from prospective first-time applicants, a 38.9% increase compared with 
2012/13 (416), 10.1% higher than 2011/12 (525) and 19.9% higher than 2010/11 (482). 
Of these, 440 were handled under the new two-stage recruitment process that was 
introduced on 1 July 2013. Figure 1 shows the number of enquiries received each month 
for the last three financial years.  

Figure 1 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of adopter enquiries by month

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
 

This year we have had significant peaks in November and January, with the former due 
to people attending the information event organised during the National Adoption Week. 

The enquiries have come from all over Kent as well as from outside the local authority. 
11.8% (68) were from outside of Kent’s borders, including 30 from Medway, 7 from 
Bexley, 1 from Brighton, 7 from Bromley, 1 from Croydon, 3 from East Sussex, 2 from 
Essex, 2 from Greenwich, 1 from Hackney, 1 from Lambeth, 3 from Lewisham, 7 from 
Surrey and 2 from West Sussex, plus one household informed us that they were not 
from Kent but did not tell us which authority they lived in. 18 enquirers did not provide us 
with any address details – in these cases, they contacted us by email and have not 
responded to our attempts to contact them back. Figure 2 shows the distribution of these 
enquiries across the authority. 

Page 28



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Figure 2 

54 55

31 26
18

63

44
36 38

49
41 37

30
38

18

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Number of enquiries by district (2013/14)

  
Timescales from the initial enquiry to formal application – first-time adopters  
Old Process – applications received before 1 July 2013 
We received 141 formal enquiries from first-time adopters between 1 April and 30 June 
2013, which would have been handled under the old assessment process. However 
three of these asked to put on the new process and so are included in the next section. 
The average time from initial enquiry to preparation group was just over 3 months (98 
days) - in 2012/13 it took on average 13 months, so we have made significant 
improvements in this aspect. All these enquiries are now either closed, converted to 
applications or moved to the new two-stage process. The enquiries progressed as 
shown in Table 1 below. 

Page 29



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Table 1: Progress of enquiries made under the old process 
Information event Initial visit Prep Group 
102 out of 138 
households (74%) 
attended an info event 

69 out of 102 households (68%) 
had an initial visit. 

43 out of 69 households (62%) have 
attended prep group. 

3 households were moved 
to the new process. 

  

33 households withdrew 
before attending Info 
event: 
- 17 did not respond to 
our attempts to contact 
them 

- 10 were not ready to 
proceed 

- 3 trying IVF 
- 2 due to health 
concerns 

- 1 progressed with 
another agency 

33 households withdrew before 
initial visit 
- 19 did not respond to our 
attempts to book an initial 
visit 

- 6 were not ready to proceed 
- 2 are progressing with 
another agency 

- 2 are renovating their home 
- 1 is now pregnant 
- 1 trying IVF 
- 1 wants to move to Kent 
before proceeding 

- 1 due to work commitments 

26 households withdrew following an 
initial visit and before prep group 
- 4 were not ready to proceed 
- 4 due to work commitments 
- 4 had unsuitable accommodation 
- 3 did not respond to our attempts to 
contact them 

- 2 were moving house 
- 4 due to health concerns 
- 1 due to family concerns 
- 1 became pregnant 
- 1 was a smoker and not willing to give 
up 

- 1 was trying IVF 
- 1 was getting married 
- 1 couple had separated 

 
New two-stage process – enquiries received 

For enquiries received after 1 July, we have to follow the new process introduced by the 
Government, which is designed to be more adopter-led. When we receive an initial 
enquiry, by phone or email, we aim to have households attend an information event 
within ten working days of their initial enquiry, and we hold an information event at least 
every ten working days to support this. When an enquirer wishes to make a formal 
enquiry they will attend an information event, where we provide them with a Registration 
of Interest (ROI) form to complete – statutory timescales require the ROI form is 
provided within ten working days of a formal enquiry, and our process ensures that we 
provide the form on the same day as the formal enquiry in the majority of cases (there 
are some instances where enquirers do not attend an information event, see below). 

Up until 31st March we had 440 initial enquiries from first time households under the 
new process. 314 of these households (71.4%) went on to attend an information event, 
with 136 of the 314 (43.3%) doing so within ten working days of their initial contact with 
the Council. The reasons for households not attending an information event within ten 
working days are as follows: 

Page 30



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

- They have existing commitments on the date of the next information event; 
- The location of information events is rotated around the county, as it is so large, 

but sometimes an event is too far for enquirers to travel to – we rotate the 
location of the event between East-, Mid- and West-Kent to try and cater for the 
whole authority; or 

- They have contacted us by email, and while the Initial Enquiries Team will try to 
contact them back within a day, they were not able to get in touch with them in 
time for them to attend the next information event. 

In addition, eight households did not attend an information event and went straight to 
having an initial visit as we felt they did not need to attend an event: 

- Four households had been to a KCC information event previously, under the old 
process; 

- One had started Stage One with East Sussex, their home authority, but we 
agreed to take their assessment on as one of their relatives works for East 
Sussex Council; 

- One had already adopted via Lewisham; 
- One had withdrawn from an assessment previously as they did not feel ready to 

proceed at the time; and 
- One had already adopted a child from Kent and wanted to be assessed for the 

relinquished baby sibling. 

All eight households were provided with the ROI form within ten working days once we 
had established that they wanted to proceed with an application. 

This meant that we received 322 formal enquiries during the year and the ROI was 
provided within ten working days as required for all of these. 

Of the 118 who have not yet made their enquiry formal, 5 are expected to attend an 
information event in the next couple of months; 96 have either notified us that they do 
not wish to proceed at the moment or not responded to our attempts to book them on to 
an information event; and for 17, who all enquired in March, we have given them the 
dates for upcoming events and are waiting for them to confirm when they can attend at 
their convenience. After each event we contact, within five working days of the event, 
any enquirers who have not attended an event and provide them with the details of 
future information events. 

Page 31



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Initial visits and Registration of Interest Forms 

Every enquirer who attends an information event is offered the opportunity to book an 
initial visit at the event. We are able to conduct two visits per day, giving us the capacity 
to conduct around 40 visits a month. If a household does not book a visit while at the 
information event, we contact them within five working days of the event to offer them 
the opportunity to book a visit, with the aim of conducting the visit within six weeks of the 
information event they attended. If they do not respond to us within ten working days we 
write to them asking them to get in touch with us when they are ready to proceed. For 
these cases, we stop trying to contact them and just wait for them to contact us. 

Once an initial visit has been conducted, we require social workers to write up a report 
within 3 working days for their manager to review – the manager then has 2 working 
days to sign off the report. We are now tracking these deadlines at a weekly tracking 
meeting (identifying which reports are due), monthly performance surgeries (tracking 
individual and manager compliance with the timescales) and as part of supervision 
(performance management). We invite applicants to return their ROI form at the initial 
visit, and our timescales are designed to ensure we meet the statutory timescales for 
making ROI decisions. So far this year, 215 of 252 initial visit reports (85.3%) were 
written up by the social worker within 3 working days; 194 (77%) reports were signed off 
within two working days. 

ROIs (applications to Stage One) received from prospective adoptive households 

126 of the 322 formal enquiries (39.1%) have resulted in ROIs being submitted. The 
average time it took from initial enquiry was 50.5 days. While this is faster than under the 
old process, the timescales should be compared directly. We will continue to monitor this 
performance and work towards decreasing the timescale as much as possible. A 
decision on whether to accept a ROI or not needs to be made by a manager within 5 
working days of receipt of the ROI, in line with statutory timescales. This was met for 
71.4% (90) of the ROIs - Team 1 made 64% of ROI decisions within 5 working days and 
for Team 2 this was 80%. The Head of Service has discussed this performance with 
team managers as it needs to improve and performance will continue to be monitored on 
a weekly basis. 

For the 36 cases where we did not meet the timescales: 

Page 32



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

- 9 decisions were originally deferred, either because further investigation was 
needed or we wanted to give the applicant’s time to resolve particular issues (e.g. 
response to obesity/smoking, improve accommodation). 

- 3 are still to be made – one needs to demonstrate their commitment to a healthier 
lifestyle before we accept their ROI, one is in the process of renovating their 
home and one has a criminal conviction and we are looking to speak to their ex-
partner; 

- 1 was the application from the couple transferring from East Sussex, where we 
needed to clarify the situation with their application, and they are now in Stage 
One; 

- 23 were due to delays within the service, either due to a delay in social workers 
providing a recommendation or in managers making their decision, which we are 
addressing in our weekly tracking meetings and monthly performance surgeries. 

196 households have not submitted their ROI, of which 63 have informed us that they 
will not be submitting their ROI – reasons include applying to another LA (5), not ready 
for adoption, needing to move house, changing jobs and trying IVF; a further 115 have 
not responded to our attempts to contact them and so we have written to them asking 
them to contact us when they are ready; for 18 we are still expecting them to submit their 
ROI when they are ready. 52 of the 196 households requested an initial visit, which we 
conducted, but they have not yet returned their ROI. 

113 of the 126 ROIs submitted (90.0%) were accepted (two of which went straight to 
Stage Two as they had previously adopted), 9 were rejected and one couple also 
withdrew the day after submitting their ROI form as they decided they were not ready to 
proceed. The reasons for rejecting ROIs include the applicants needing to evidence their 
response to stopping smoking, getting more childcare experience, find suitable 
accommodation or complete IVF treatment. In addition, three ROI decisions are still to 
be made, as mentioned above. 

Of the 111 households accepted on to Stage One of the new style assessment process, 
59 have completed Stage One – all but two were invited to Stage Two, one due to 
concerns about an applicant’s mental health history, the other due to concerns about 
how the applicants reacted to a positive DBS. Statutory timelines require us to complete 
Stage One within 2 months. We met this timescale for 4 of the 59 cases (6.8%). 8 

Page 33



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

households withdrew their application before completing Stage One. 24 ongoing 
applications should have completed Stage 1 by mid-May, if we were to meet the two-
month timescale, but had not been. 

We have had significant issues in processing cases through Stage One, some of which 
is in part due to an issue we had with administrative resources at the time the new 
process was introduced. Prior to 1 July 2013 we were already trying to clear a backlog of 
checks and references, due to a shortage in admin staff, and the introduction of the new 
process resulted in an increase in the number of checks we had to perform and in a 
shorter timeframe than under the old process. We brought in temporary staff in 
September and prioritised clearing the backlog. We have now recruited permanent staff. 

There have also been delays with applicants having medical assessments completed by 
GP’s and there after a medical view provided by medical advisors, in DBS checks being 
completed, and LA (outside Kent) checks and references being returned. The delays 
involving medical advisor recommendations being provided were in part caused by 
planned and unexpected leave. We have a meeting on 16 June to set up arrangements 
with NHS colleagues to monitor and address any delays with GPs and medical advisers. 

Applications for assessment received from prospective adoptive households 
We received 155 new applications in 2013/14, 106 under the old process and 49 
received for Stage Two of the new process. This is a 14% increase on the number 
received in the same period in 2012/13 (136). Figure 3 shows the number of applications 
we received in each month. 

Page 34



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Figure 3 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of applications to be assessed as prospective 
adopters

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
 

The 83.2% (129) of the applications received in 2013/14 have been from first-time 
applicants (compared with 66.2% in 2012/13), 30 under the new process. 8.4% (13) of 
applications were from repeat adopters (15.4% in 2012/13), 9 under the new process. 
8.4% (13) of applications were from KCC foster carers (17.6% in 2012/13), 10 under the 
new process. 
Figure 4 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140

First time adopters Second or third 
time adopters

Foster carer 
adopters

Relative adopters

Number of prospective households who formally 
applied by type of adopter

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
 

Page 35



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Adopters’ background 
The 155 households consisted of 300 individuals: 145 couples and 10 single 
adopters. The majority were married couples (116), with a further 15 male-female 
couples are co-habiting. 14 applications were received from same-sex couples (9 
applications in 2012/13). 

The majority of applicants are White British: 90.7% prospective adopters (272) in the 
current year (91% in 2012/13). A further 4.3% (13) are non-British white (4% in 
2012/13) – mostly from Western European backgrounds. 2% (6) were Black and 2% (6) 
were of mixed ethnicity. We also had our first Pakistani applicant for at least two years. 

3 applications have been received from a prospective adopter reporting a disability 
(compared with 5 in 2012/13). 

We have had applications from all twelve districts in Kent, plus 2 from Medway and 12 
from other local authorities (2 from West Sussex, 2 from Surrey, 1 from Lewisham, 2 
from Bexley, 1 from Greenwich, 1 from Lewisham, 1 from Merton, 1 from Bolton and 1 
from Croydon). Figure 5 shows the distribution of applications across the twelve Kent 
districts. 
Figure 5 

10

23

8 7 8

17

12 13

8

15 14

6

2

15

0

5

10

15

20

25

Number of applications by district

 
Ongoing assessments and withdrawals 
As of 31 March 2014, we had 59 cases under assessment, 27 under the old process, 
and 8 of these were on hold, 5 under the old process. 

Page 36



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

27 applications were withdrawn between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, all but one 
being assessed under the old process. The reasons for the withdrawals were: 

- Six changed their minds about wanting to adopt 
- Six had personal issues they were not able to resolve and did not continue with 

their assessment 

- Two withdrew due to financial concerns 

- One couple were foster carers who withdrew after a financial package could not 
be agreed 

- One was counselled out as there were concerns about them being able to 
balance the needs of their birth child with that of an adopted child 

- One couple split up 

- One had ongoing family commitments 

- One became ill and did not want to proceed 

- One wanted to complete renovations to their home but did not know how long it 
would take 

- One decided to move to the North East of England 

- One became pregnant 

- One stopped responding to our attempts to contact them 

- One decided that their birth daughter was not ready 

- One decided to try IVF after attending prep group 

- One (single applicant) could not proceed due to work commitments 

- One withdrew during prep group as they decided they were not ready to proceed. 

For the 8 assessments on hold at the end of March: 

Page 37



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

- One couple had become pregnant and had a miscarriage during their 
assessment – this has happened to them several times, which is why they are 
looking to adopt. Their social worker will be visiting them at the end of May to 
determine if they are now ready to proceed; 

- Two couples are renovating their home; 

- One couple had work commitments and have now withdrawn; 

- For one applicant, they knew they would have a positive DBS and did not want to 
proceed until we could establish whether it would preclude them from adopting; 

- For one, there were concerns about whether the birth son had autism and this 
became their priority. They have since withdrawn; 

- One couple are moving house; 

- One couple had health issues that needed to be addressed 

There were also three approved households who were de-registered in 2013/14. One 
was due to the couple splitting up; one had been approved as adopters for two years but 
despite considerable efforts by the agency, were not able to not match them with a child 
and they stopped responding to our attempts to contact them; and the last one changed 
their mind about adopting after a potential match with a child from another local authority 
fell through. 

Conversion rates 

169 of the 578 enquiries (29.2%) received this year have resulted in a formal application 
to be assessed, either through submission of a ROI (new style - 126) or attending a 
preparation group (old style - 43). 

By comparison, 70 of the 414 enquiries (17%) received in 2012/13 resulted in 
applications being made. 

Adopters approved 

Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, the Kent CC Adoption Agency decision 

Page 38



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

maker approved 167 prospective adoptive households, a 92.0% increase compared 
with 2012/13 (87), 149.3% higher than 2011/12 (67) and 317.5% higher than 2010/11 
(40).  

The approvals were made for 134 (80%) first-time adoptive households, 13 (8%) 
second- or third-time adoptive households and 20 (12%) foster-carer adoptive 
households (including one independent foster carer). Our target was to approve 105 
households in 2013/14, and we exceeded that by 59%. Figure 6 shows the number of 
adopters approved by the ADM each month over the past three years. 

Figure 6 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Ap
r-1
1

Ma
y-1
1

Jun
-11

Jul
-11

Au
g-1
1

Se
p-1
1

Oc
t-1
1

No
v-1
1

De
c-1
1

Jan
-12

Fe
b-1
2

Ma
r-1
2

Ap
r-1
2

Ma
y-1
2

Jun
-12

Jul
-12

Au
g-1
2

Se
p-1
2

Oc
t-1
2

No
v-1
2

De
c-1
2

Jan
-13

Fe
b-1
3

Ma
r-1
3

Ap
r-1
3

Ma
y-1
3

Jun
-13

Jul
-13

Au
g-1
3

Se
p-1
3

Oc
t-1
3

No
v-1
3

De
c-1
3

Jan
-14

Fe
b-1
4

Ma
r-1
4

Number of adopters approved by the ADM each month

 

The Agency Decision Makers also deferred decisions on seven applications. These 
were due to: 

- An allegation made by an applicant’s brother – now approved; 
- Further investigation of a school report and concerns about one applicant’s 

alcohol consumption – now approved; 

- Further investigation into medical concerns raised (3) – one not yet approved, 
two now approved 

- Concerns about the applicant’s insight into the needs of an adopted child – not 
yet approved 

- Concerns about one applicant’s decision not to have a birth child – now approved 

Page 39



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

They also deferred a decision on a match, as further medical assessment was needed 
for the child. The match has now been approved. 

Compliance with the National Minimum Standards for Adoption 

151 of the households approved were assessed under the old process. 109 (72.2%) met 
the NMS requirement of being presented to Adoption panel within 8 months of applying 
(59% in the whole of 2012/13). 29 took between 8 and 11 months; and 13 took longer 
than 11 months. There has been a 21.8% drop in the average time taken to assess first-
time applicants, from 9.6 months in 2012/13 to 7.5 months in 2013/14 (including delays 
due to assessments being put on hold by applicants). If we excluded the time that 
assessments were on hold, the average would be 7 months this year compared with 9 
months last year. 

16 households (6 first time adopters, 4 repeat adopters and 6 foster carers) were 
assessed under the new process. Under the new guidance ADM decisions should be 
made with four months of the application being accepted. 11 of these 16 cases (68.8%) 
met this timescale. For the five where the timescale was exceeded: 

- Three were delayed as positive DBS checks needed to be investigated. All three 
were approvals for foster carers wishing to adopt a child in their care, so all 
checks and references were completed in parallel with the assessment rather 
than before the assessment had started, which is the approach taken for first-
time applicants; 

- one assessment needed additional work as an applicant had a history of 
domestic violence during their childhood and an abusive first marriage; and 

- one was delayed as the ADM wanted further investigation into an applicant’s 
decision not to have their own birth children – if the ADM had made their decision 
when the case was first presented to them the case would not have exceeded the 
timescales. 

Kent approved adopters matched with looked after children from other local 
authorities 
Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, seven Kent households have had eight 
children placed for adoption where the child was from another local authority, two of 
which were siblings of children already adopted by two households. Three children were 

Page 40



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

placed via the consortium - the other authorities involved were Derbyshire, Essex, 
Devon and Lancashire. In 2012/13, five households adopted six children from outside of 
Kent. 

Adopters approved who have not yet adopted a child 

At the end of March 2014, we had 64 approved households where no children had been 
placed yet. Of these, 39 households are matched or linked with children: 

- 6 had been approved for a match and the child(ren) were placed in April; 
- 17 have now been approved for a match with a child; 

- 13 have now been selected as a match for a child 

- A further 3 are linked with or have shown an interest in a child, and we are 
progressing those cases to determine if any are suitable matches for the children; 

1 household was de-registered at panel in April, as their circumstances had changed, 
meaning they could no longer adopt a child. 

24 of these did not have any links identified for them, of which: 

- One household was approved in August 2013 and had been matched with a child 
in October 2013. Unfortunately the introductions broke down and the couple took 
a few months to come to terms with that; 

- Two other households have been approved for between six to twelve months, 
with whom we have shared a large number of profiles but one household is 
looking for a baby with a low risk of complications, while the other has been 
linked with several children but unfortunately not been selected; 

- Six households have been approved for between 3 and 6 months and we are still 
actively looking to match them with a child; 

- Fifteen households have been approved for less than 3 months. 

Page 41



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Forecast of number and types of adopters needed 

We anticipate a small increase in the number of households approved in 2014/15, as we 
now looking to sustain the improvements we have made over the past two years. We 
now have a full complement of assessment social workers (15 full time equivalents) and 
so our reliance on independent social workers has been gradually decreasing.  

With assessments expected to take 4 months, we would expect that any new 
assessments started in the first eight months of 2014/15 to be completed before the end 
of that financial year. We received 120 applications in the first 8 months of 2013/14, so a 
similar figure in 2014/15, plus the 59 assessments carried over from 2013/14, would lead 
to 179 approvals, if no households withdrew their application or put their assessment on 
hold. 

To forecast how many adopters would need to be approved in order for there to be 
enough to match with the children we expect to place, we have come up with a 
methodology, which is set out in Appendix A. 

In summary, based on the profile of children placed in 2013/14, we would need 137 
households to adopt a single child, 27 to adopt a sibling group of 2 and 3 to adopt a 
sibling group of 3 over the next two years, In all we forecast that we will need to approve 
an additional 154 households by 31 March 2016, on top of the 25 already approved, so 
we are confident that we can recruit enough adopters for the types of children we expect 
to match with them: 

- 137 single children, 54 children in a sibling group of 2, 9 children in a sibling 
group of 3; 

- 100 children will be under 2; 74 will be aged 2 to 4; 26 will be aged 5 or over; 

- 170 children will be White British; 26 will be BME; 4 will be from other White 
backgrounds. 

Inter-country 

In 2013/14 there were 3 inter-country adoption applications approved, 1 match approved 
and 2 reviews presented to panel. 

Page 42



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

Conclusion 

The service continues to manage assessments under both the old and new processes. 
The deployment of Liberi took up significant resources too and we are monitoring its use 
by staff. In addition, the service does not have a full management team. Despite this, we 
have greatly improved the speed with which we are processing enquiries. 

We expect that we will be managing the two recruitment processes side-by-side for three 
more months. The standards and performance management processes we have 
introduced continue to support us in ensuring that we continue to operate effectively and 
meet the demands placed on us. 

As part of budget efficiency, we are monitoring how often social workers see prospective 
adopters in the office, to reduce the time and distance our staff spend travelling across 
such a large county. Seeing adopters in the office would enable staff to use their time 
more efficiently. 

Page 43



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

 
Appendix A – assumptions and calculations in forecasting 

To forecast the number and types of adopters needed over the next two years, we have 
analysed historical data and made the following assumptions: 

- There will be 141 POs in 2014/15 and 2015/16 (as set out in the Children’s 
adoption journey report) 

- 15% of children with POs will have a change of plan from adoption; 

- 15% of children will be placed outside the authority, either with a Voluntary 
Adoption Agency or another local authority; 

- 15% of children will be adopted by foster carers or relative adopters; 

- The distribution of sibling groups will be – 69% of children placed individually; 
27% placed with one other child (group of 2); 4% placed with two other children 
(group of 3); 

- 50% of children will be under 2; 37% will be aged 2 to 4; 13% will be aged 5 or 
over; 

- 85% of children will be White British; 13% will be BME; 2% will be from other 
White backgrounds; 

- 6% of Kent approved adopters will either adopt children from outside Kent (5%) 
or be de-registered without adopting a child (1%). 

At the end of March 2014, we were actively family finding for 46 children who were 
waiting to be placed with an adoptive family. This does not include any child who had not 
been placed but where a matching meeting is planned or there will be a change of plan 
from adoption.  

We also had 25 approved households who were not matched with a child by the end of 
March 2014 (15 of which were only approved in the last three months). 

Based on our assumptions we forecast that 282 children will be granted a PO over the 

Page 44



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2013 to March 2014 

 

next two years, with 42 plans (15%) later changing from adoption, meaning we will need 
to find placements for 240 + 46 = 286 children. 

Of these children, 15% (43) will be placed inter-agency and another 15% (43) will be 
placed with foster carers or relatives, so we forecast that we will need to place 200 
children in-house. 

Given our assumption on the proportion of single (69%, 137 children), two sibling (27%, 
54 children) and three sibling (4%, 9 children) placements, this means these children 
would be placed with 168 households. If 6% of approved adopters will not adopt Kent 
children, either because they adopt children from outside of Kent or de-register, we 
would need 179 approved households. Since 25 households are already approved, this 
means we would need to approve a further 154 households to match with the children 
we need to place. Since we aim to place children within 4 months of their PO, these 
households would need to be approved by March 2016 to give us 4 months to make a 
match and placement, meaning we would need to approve 77 households in each of the 
next two years. 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Brief evaluation of the Kent Information 

Event for Prospective Adopters  

Jun 2014 

 

 

Rosanagh Monaghan-Pisano and Rebecca Bellew  

Policy and Research Team 

  

Page 47



 

2 

 

 

 

Contents 

Summary ...................................................................................................... 3 

1 Introduction ............................................................................................ 4 

2 The Programme ....................................................................................... 4 

3 The Evaluation ........................................................................................ 4 

4 Participants ............................................................................................ 4 

5 Prospective Adopters first contact with KCC ................................................ 5 

6 Information Event for Prospective Adopters ................................................. 7 

7 Conclusion and recommendations for improvements .................................. 11 

 

Page 48



 

3 

Summary 

This report examines Kent County Council’s (KCC) Adoption Information event for prospective 

adoptive parents. It focuses on the experiences of 261 respondent’s first contact with the 

KCC and their feedback from their attendance at the information events between April 2013 

and March 2014. 

Key findings include: 

 Respondents were overwhelmingly positive about their first contact with the KCC 

Adoption Team, including the high quality of both the information they received 

from the Adoption Initial Enquiries Advisors (AIEIA) and the information 

available on the KCC website. In fact 98% rated their first contact with KCC as 

‘good’ or ‘excellent.’ 

 Nearly half of respondents who contacted KCC attended the event within 10 

working days of their initial enquiry. Of those who did not, many reported that 

this delay was their choice. 

 The majority of respondents were positive about the quality of information they 

received at the event and particularly noted the helpfulness and friendliness, 

with 98% suggesting the event had met their expectation. 

 Many particularly valued the opportunity to hear from an adopter who was able to 

talk about their personal experiences. Some respondents suggested that they 

would have liked to have talked to more than one adopter, to hear from people 

with different experiences, including an adopter with a birth child. 

 Prospective adopters would have liked to receive more information around the 

following themes before they attended the information event: more stories of 

single adopters, the age gap needed to adopt with birth child, more information 

about children in care, time off and finances; and no age limit for adopters.  

 Some also suggested they would have valued being able to have more of an 

informal discussion with the AIEA, and felt at times that the conversation was 

too focused on the AEIA’s questions about sustainability rather than their own 

questions about the process. 

 The venue facilities were suitable for the majority of respondents. 

 

 

 

Page 49



 

4 

1 Introduction 

Kent County Council (KCC) provides an information event for prospective adopters who are at 

the very beginning of their adoption journey. The event aims to enhance prospective adopters 

understanding of the adoption process and explore any concerns, expectation and 

anticipations. This report focuses on the experiences of 261 respondent’s first contact with 

the KCC and examines feedback from twenty three events that ran from April 2013 through 

to March 2014.  

2 Initial Adoption Enquires to Kent County Council 

The Initial Enquiries Team (IET) is prospective adopters’ first point of contact with KCC 

Adoption Team. The IET provide callers with an overview of the adoption with KCC and invite 

them to an Information Event, usually within ten working days of their initial enquiry. The 

Information Event aims to increase prospective adopters’ knowledge and understanding of the 

adoption process by providing them with the opportunity to speak directly to the adoption 

team and an adopter who has been through the process. Team Mangers from the Adoption 

Recruitment and Assessment Teams start off the event by delivering an introductory 

presentation about the adoption process. During the event prospective adopters hear from an 

adopter, who gives a brief account of their adoption journey, and their experiences of the 

preparation groups, panel, the matching process, family finding events, coffee mornings, 

exchange days and how to manage contact. The session closes with the opportunity to ask the 

team, including a social worker, any questions. The event lasts for two hours and is delivered 

across several different locations throughout Kent. 

3 The Evaluation 

Evaluation questionnaires were developed by the KCC Adoption team and distributed to 

prospective adopters at the end of the information events. The data has been collated and 

analysed by Coram’s Policy and Research team. This report will explore the feedback from the 

23 of 27 information events where questionnaires were completed (see Table 1 in see 

appendices for complete list). Throughout this evaluation the term ‘respondent’ is used to 

refer to the household who completed the questionnaire, however the majority of 

questionnaires were completed by a household of two people and sometimes a single 

household. Respondents attending the first two events in April and May 2013 completed a 

simplistic version of the final evaluation questionnaires that were used from June 2013 to 

March 2014. Where questions are the same, the data has been analysed together. The 

revised questionnaire used a five point scale (ranging from one to five) with no labels, for the 

purpose of this evaluation we have interpret the scale as running from excellent (5), to good 

(4), to satisfactory (3), to poor (2), to very poor (1). 

4 Participants 

Information events from April to March 2014 were attended by 426 households, including 

some couples and some single adopters. Two hundred and sixty-one evaluations were 

completed and returned at the end of the events. The majority of the report will refer to the 

more detailed revised questionnaire (n=237) and does not include data from April and May 

Page 50



 

5 

2013. However, where possible the data from these earlier events collected using the 

simplistic version of the questionnaire was included (n=261).  

Most often couples completed the questionnaires together, however in a few cases couples 

completed separate forms. This means that is not possible to give an exact response rate to 

the questionnaire, however most of the events the majority of households completed it. This 

is with the exception the three events that took place in September and the event on the 31st 

January, where no evaluation questionnaires were competed. See Table 1 in the appendixes 

for a full record of the number of evaluations completed.  

5 Prospective Adopters first contact with KCC 

Prospective adopters were overwhelmingly positive about their experiences of first contacting 

KCC Adoption Service. Ninety-eight percent (232) rated their experience as either ‘excellent’ 

or ‘good’, whilst only 2% (4) said it was ‘satisfactory’ and 1% (1) rated it as ‘very poor.’ 

Figure 1: Experiences of first contact with the adoption service 

 

Some prospective adopters who rated their experience between ‘satisfactory’ and ‘very poor’ 

explained their responses. Two who found the call ‘satisfactory’ suggested that it included 

“[too] many personal questions” when they were still at the early stages of enquiry. Another, 

rated their experience as ‘very poor’, said that they were given “misinformation” but did not 

provide any further details. 

The respondents were also very encouraging about the quality of information they were given 

over the telephone by the Adoption Initial Enquiries Advisor (AIEA). The majority of 

respondents (97%, 223) rated this information as ‘excellent’ or ‘good’.  

Figure 2: Quality of the information given by the AIEA 

 

4 75 157 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

very poor poor satisfactory good excellent 

n=237 

1 5 77 146 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

very poor poor satisfactory good excellent 

N=230; missing=7 

Page 51



 

6 

Two percent (5) of the respondents rated the quality of information as ‘satisfactory’, whilst 

one (0.5%) thought it was ‘poor’ and another (0.5%) ‘very poor’ (see Figure 21).  

Issues for those respondents who rated the information as ‘satisfactory’ or lower were around 

a lack of substantial information and the questioning nature of the call2. One respondent felt 

that the information they were given was ambiguous and not “definite” enough. In fact 

another suggested that they were not actually given any information and instead were just 

“asked questions and booked into an event.” This was also the case for the respondent who 

felt that the information they received was ‘poor.’ They suggested that although the AIEA was 

“really nice” they were not given any information and rather the AIEA was “just asking [them] 

questions.” One other respondent rated the information as ‘very poor’ as they suggested that 

they were given incorrect information about adopting an older child than their birth child.  

Ninety-five percent (225) of prospective adopters had looked at the information available on 

the KCC website before they attended the information event. Ninety-seven percent (218) of 

these rated the quality of the information on the website as ‘excellent’ or ‘good.’ The 

remaining 3% (7) rated it as ‘satisfactory’3. Most often this was because the information was 

unclear. One of these respondents suggested that the information on the website was 

confusing and “not clear [enough]”. For one respondent “some of the information could have 

been more in-depth”, however another thought there was a lot of information which made it 

difficult “digest”. One final respondent suggested the website “lacked personality” which 

meant it blended in to other adoption websites. 

After contact with the KCC Adoption Service and the website the majority of respondents 

reported that there was no other information they needed at that time (76%, 51). Where 

respondents wanted more information, this was most often related to clarity about the age 

gap between a birth child and adopted child (3) and needing a more in-depth understanding 

of the adoption process (3). Eleven respondents required more information, including: 

 Clarity about adopting with birth child (3)  Info. about preparation courses (1) 

 In-depth info around adoption process (3)  Info pack posted at first enquiry (1) 

 Upper age limit for adopters (1)  Ideas around successful families (1) 

 Time off and finances (1)  Confirmation of the event (1) 

 Stories of previous single adopters (1)  Children in care (1) 

 Post-adoption life stories (1)  BAAF (1) 

One hundred and ten respondents were advised that they would receive a call back after their 

initial conversation with the Initial Enquiries Team. Ninety-one percent (100) of respondents 

were called back at the agreed time, whilst 9% (10) were not. Of those that were not called 

back at the agreed time4: one respondent reported that they were “contacted at a different 

time of day” to that which had been agreed; one said that they were “promised a call back 

but I had to send a reminder”; another had left a message with KCC but had to call back a 

                                        
1 Three respondents communicated with KCC via email so were unable to answer this 

question and the remaining respondent did not answer the question. 
2 Two responses were unclear and one did not elaborate. 
3 Three did not elaborate on their response 
4 Three respondents did not elaborate on their answer 

Page 52



 

7 

second time; and another was busy when they received their call back. Four other 

respondents suggested they were not given a reason for the delay. 

KCC aims to get prospective adopters attending the event within 10 working days of their 

initial enquiry. Forty-eight percent (112) of respondents reported that they waited between 

one and two weeks from their first contact with the KCC Adoption Service to their attendance 

at the information event. The remaining respondents (52%, 121) waited longer5 (see Figure 

3), however only twelve of the 39 respondents stated that the delay was not their choice. 

Figure 3: Time period between initial contact and attending the information event 

 

N=233; missing=3; n/a=1  

Respondents who waited more than a month were asked to explain the delay. This was most 

often a result of a lack of suitable dates (6), a lack of available dates (4), a lack of suitable 

times (2), and the location and date being cancelled (1)6. One respondent who attended the 

event at Hilton House stated that they turned up at the event without speaking to a member 

of the KCC Adoption team prior to their arrival. 

 

6 Information Event for Prospective Adopters 

The vast majority of respondents rated structure and content of the information event as 

‘good’ or ‘excellent’ (see Figure 4). In fact 95% rated all five areas as either ‘excellent’ or 

‘good’. The remaining 5% of respondents suggested that the information was ‘satisfactory’ or 

‘poor’; however, they did not give further indication as to why this was. The reports from the 

respondents who attended the first two information events in April and May 2013 also 

mirrored these findings with 92% rating the helpfulness of staff as ‘excellent’ and the 

remaining 8% (2) suggesting it was ‘satisfactory.’ 

  

                                        
5 Three respondents did not answer the question 
6 One respondent gave two responses to the question 

112 82 39 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

1-2 weeks 2-4 weeks Over a month 

Page 53



 

8 

Figure 4: Quality of content and suitability of structure of the information event 

Respondents found the event helpful in understanding the adoption process. One respondent 

suggested that the social worker helped them to understand more broadly the adoption 

process and was “very informative, thorough and reassuring” (Respondent who attended the 

event at Lenham Community Centre, Lenham, August). Another really valued learning more 

about adoption stating that it was “interesting to learn more regarding the adoption process” 

(Respondent who attended the event at Angel centre, Tonbridge, July). 

Others also found the event useful in helping them make decisions about adoption. A couple 

of respondents reported that they felt that all the information was clear and useful in enabling 

them to start the adoption process without complications: 

 “Very informative event that will definitely help us to start the adoption process. 

Many thanks” (Respondent attended the event at Ditton Community Centre, Aylesford, 

February). 

“[The information event was] excellent…we are now convinced this is the correct path 

for us.” (Respondent who attended the event at Ditton Community Centre, Aylesford, 

October).  

Another suggested that the information they received enabled them to make a decision about 

the “most appropriate time to start the whole [adoption] process” (Respondent who attended 

the event at Ditton Community Centre, Aylesford, June). 

Many respondents also particularly noted the helpfulness and friendliness of the KCC staff.  

One respondent highlighted the helpfulness and value of the staff: 

“Very passionate about the positive outcomes of adoption and this is infectious” 

(Respondent who attended the event at Conningbrook Ashford, January). 

1 

2 

1 

1 

10 

7 

6 

9 

9 

71 

50 

48 

63 

54 

133 

169 

172 

150 

151 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Content of the Information Session Pack 

Spoken  

Helpfulness of staff 

Presentation 

Content of presentation 

very poor poor satisfactory good excellent 

N=214; missing= 23 

N=223; missing= 14 

N=227; missing= 10 

N=228; missing= 9 

N=215; missing= 22 

Page 54



 

9 

Another found the environment supportive and valued meeting “people who want to help” 

(Respondent who attended the event at Hilton Hotel, Maidstone, November).  One further 

respondent highlighted “[a] very positive feeling. All staff friendly and approachable.” 

(Respondent who attended the event at Hilton Hotel, Maidstone, November). 

Fifty seven percent (101) of respondents spoke to an adoption worker at the information 

event7. Forty-three percent (75) did not speak to the adoption worker. It is however, unclear if 

this was because they did not want to speak to them or that they were not able to. In fact, 

one respondent stated that they actively chose not to.  

Of the 101 respondents who spoke to an adoption worker, 100% (59) reported that this 

experience was helpful8. One respondent suggested that speaking to the adoption worker 

helped them clarify “vital questions” about the adoption process (Respondent who attended 

the event at Hilton Hotel, Maidstone, November). 

There were few comments concerned with information that may have been missing from the 

event, further suggesting the suitability of the event. One respondent however would have 

liked to have learnt more information about adopting as a single person. They said that: 

“The only thing would have been beneficial to me is details about employment and 

the expectations that are there. Especially as a single person wishing to adopt & 

having to work” (Respondent who attended the event at Oakwood House, Maidstone, 

February) 

Many respondents valued the opportunity to ask questions about the adoption process to an 

adopter. This was viewed as an important part of the day by many. Respondents valued 

having the opportunity to hear real life stories about others experiences of adoption. Sixty 

percent (113) of respondents were able to speak to the adopter, 40% (76) did not get the 

opportunity9. Again, it is not clear if those who did not speak to an adopter chose not to or 

were not able to, however, of those that were able to speak with an adopter 99% (79) found 

this conversation helpful10.  

Prospective adopters valued the opportunity to hear “real world example, personal account of 

the process with positive and negative aspects” (Respondent who attended the event at Angel 

centre, Tonbridge, November). One respondent found that the adopter was “insightful… 

helping us understand the issues they faced in their process” (Respondent who attended the 

event at Hilton Hotel, Maidstone, November). Another appreciated meeting someone who had 

been through the process whilst another said it helped “put our mind at ease about the reality 

of the process” (Respondent who attended the event at Ditton Community Centre, Aylesford, 

October).  

One respondent suggested it would have been useful to have spoken to an adopter who had a 

birth child. Similarly another respondent hoped there would be more adopters present to 

                                        
7 60 respondents did not answer the question 
8 42 respondents did not answer the question. It might be the case that those that did not find it 

helpful did not respond to this question, therefore this may be a slightly inflated figure 
9 48 respondents did not answer the question 
10 33 respondents did not answer the question 

Page 55



 

10 

share their stories, they said “we thought it would be a smaller event and more people who 

have adopted to talk about their experiences therefore enabling more discussions” 

(Respondent who attended Event at Ditton Community Centre, Aylesford, June). The one 

respondent who did not find their time with the adopter helpful felt that the conversation was 

based “on the past procedures and not relevant” (Respondent who attended the event at 

Oakwood House, Maidstone, March). 

Ninety-eight percent (240) of prospective adopters who attended the information events 

reported that it had met their expectations11. Of the respondents who felt the event had not 

one suggested this was because there was “a lot of duplication of material found on website” 

(Aylesford in June). Furthermore, 99% (246) of respondents suggested that at 2 hours long, 

the length of the session as ‘just right’12.   

7 Venue and facilities 

The majority of respondents found the venue and facilities suitable. Ninety percent of 

respondents were positive about the location of the event, the parking facilities and the venue 

where the event was held, rating them between ‘excellent’ and ‘good’. However, the 

remaining 10% rated them between ‘satisfactory’ and ‘very poor’ (see figure 5).  

Figure 5: Suitability of the venue and facilities 

 

Some of the information events were held in the summer and the rooms were not ventilated 

very well. One respondents said that it was “very hot, lack of drinks (tea ran out)” 

(Respondent who attended Event at Ditton Community Centre, Aylesford, June), whilst 

another said that there was not any “air conditioning, very hot day” (Respondent who 

attended Event at Angel centre, Tonbridge, July). 

The reports from the respondents who attended the first two information events in April and 

May 2013 (24) suggested the venue was not ideal with the majority (63%, 15) rating the 

                                        
11 One respondent found it difficult to respond to this question because they didn’t really know what to 

expect and a further 16 respondents did not answer the question.  
12 12 respondents did not answer 

1 

1 

1 

3 

2 

25 

11 

24 

74 

51 

83 

123 

159 

120 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Venue 

Parking  

Location 

very poor poor satisfactory good excellent 

N=226; not answered=11 

N=224; not answered=12 n/a=1 

N=228; not answered=9 

Page 56



 

11 

venue as ‘satisfactory.’ Respondents suggested Baypoint Club, Sandwich, location was ‘poor’ 

as it is “only accessible by car”. Furthermore three respondents who attended the event at 

Old Sessions House in Canterbury suggested improving the directions to the event, one stated 

that they “found it very difficult to find the venue using the information provided and this 

added stress to what was already a fairly stressful event”. 

   

8 Conclusion and recommendations for improvements 

The first part of this report highlights the positive experience prospective adopters 

encountered when they first contacted the Kent Adoption Service whilst the second part 

focuses on the high levels of success of the Kent Adoption Information Events.  

Prospective adopters consistently received a high quality service when they first contacted the 

Adoption Team. The information available on the KCC website was accessed and valued by 

the majority of respondents and there were limited suggestions about additional information 

needed. New feedback forms have been designed to enable KCC to continue to capture this 

valuable feedback (see appendix 1). The KCC may want to ensure information about the age 

gap needed between birth children and adopted children is clear to prospective adopters. 

KCC aims to get prospective adopters attending the event within 10 working days of their 

initial enquiry. Just under half of the respondents who contacted KCC attended the 

information events within this time, and although some of those who did not suggested this 

delay was their own preference, KCC could be to reduce the waiting time for the remaining 

respondents.  

Respondents highly valued the opportunity to speak directly with adopter’s who were able to 

share personal stories and respond to any questions about the adoption process. In addition 

adoption workers were also present to answer any additional questions which was seen as an 

invaluable and helpful part of the day, however, not all respondents were able to speak to an 

adoption worker or adopter so KCC may want to increase the number present at each event if 

a viable option. Overall the information events were successful in meeting the aims of the 

programme giving respondents important information about adoption to ensure they feel 

prepared, informed and supported to move forward with the first stages of the adoption 

process.   

  

Page 57



 

12 

9 Appendices 

Table 1: Number of prospective adopters attending KCC Information Event and completed 

evaluation forms 

Information Event Location Date 

No. of 

households 

attended 

No. of 

completed 

evaluation 

forms  

Bay Point Club 16th April 2013* 11 6 

Old Session House 4th May 2013* 35 18 

Ditton Community Centre 11th June 2013 50 40 

Angel Centre 9th July 2013 6 5 

Thanington Resource Centre 18th July 2013 2 2 

Lenham Community Centre 3rdJuly 2013 13 6 

Lenham Community Centre 20th July 2013 5 5 

Ditton Community Centre 1st August 2013 12 2 

Lenham Community Centre 29th August 2013 16 10 

Thanington Resource Centre 11th September 2013 8 0 

Brassey Centre 14th September 2013 10 0 

Oakwood House 25th September 2013 1 0 

Ditton Community Centre 8th October 2013 15 16 

Thanington Resource Centre 19th October 2013 12 10 

Angel Centre 1st November 2013 9 5 

Hilton Hotel 16th November 2013 48 11 

Bay Point Club 19th November 2013 11 9 

Thanington Resource Centre 17th December 2013 9 2 

Oakwood House 3rd) December 2013 16 13 

Conningbrook 18th January 2014 24 9 

Ditton Community Centre 7th January 2014 20 18 

Canterbery Academy 31st January 2014 16 0 

Oakwood House 11thFebruary 2014 19 18 

Ditton Community Centre 22ndFebruary 2014 22 20 

Oakwood House 18thMarch 2014 17 17 

Thanington Resource Centre 7thMarch 2014 10 11 

Angel Centre 29 March 2014 9 8 

GRAND TOTAL 426 261 

 *Old feedback forms used  

  

Page 58



 

13 

 

9.1 Survey 1: Kent County Adoption Service Information Event feedback form. 

 

Page 59



 

14 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Brief evaluation of the Kent County Council 

Adoption Panels  

June 2014 

 

 

Rebecca Bellew & Rosanagh Monaghan-Pisano  

Policy and Research Team 

Page 61



 

2 

 

Contents 

Summary ...................................................................................................... 3 

1 Introduction ............................................................................................ 4 

2 The Evaluation ........................................................................................ 4 

3 Adoptive Applicants Experiences of Kent Adoption Panels ............................ 4 

3.1 Overall satisfaction with the panel........................................................ 4 

3.2 What made panels more difficult ....................................................... 10 

4 Conclusions and recommendations .......................................................... 12 

 

Page 62



 

3 

Summary 

This report examines feedback from applicants and observers who attended and 

observed Kent County Council’s four Adoption Panels, focusing on feedback that was 

collected from 61 applicants and 13 observers from the beginning of April 2013 until 

the end of March 2014. The discussion provides details of changes and future plans 

for improvement where necessary. 

Key findings include: 

 The majority (88%) of respondents reported that their overall experience at 

adoption panel as either ‘excellent’ or ‘good.’  

 The majority (95%) of applicants felt appropriately prepared in advance of 

attending the panel. Applicants seemed to know what to expect and felt 

prepared by their adoption social workers. 

 Some respondents commented on their long wait time at the North and West 

panel. 

 Respondents were largely positive about the tone and the structure of the 

panel. Many noted the friendliness and ‘professional’ manner of the panel 

members and particularly the chairperson. 

 The majority (95%) reported that they had had sufficient opportunity to raise 

issues and that the panel listened to their contributions. 

 A minority of applicants had felt anxious and had negative expectations about 

the adoption panel; however, it was often as a much more positive experience 

than expected. 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



 

4 

1 Introduction 

Kent County Council (KCC) holds weekly Adoption Panels. Usually approval of 

prospective adopters or matching children will be discussed in separate panels, 

however this may be done in a single panel (for example where a foster carer is 

adopting a child in their care). This report explores the feedback from applicants and 

professionals from the beginning of April 2013 to the end of March 2014. 

2 The Evaluation 

Two separate evaluation questionnaires, developed by the KCC Adoption team, were 

completed by adoptive applicants and observers. The questionnaires gathered 

information about preparation for the panel, the nature and clarity of the panel and 

their overall experience. They were completed at the end of the panel and were not 

anonymous. The data has been collated and analysed by Coram’s Policy and Research 

Team. Throughout this evaluation the term ‘respondent’ is used to refer to the 

household who completed the questionnaire, however the questionnaires were 

completed most often by a household of two people, a single household or one 

member of a couple.  

Of the total 288 cases that attended KCC adoption panels from the beginning of April 

2013 until the end of March 2014 for approval, match or both, feedback was 

collected from 61 applicants1 and 13 observers. Panels took place in four different 

locations. During this time more respondents from the south (17, 28% of 

respondents) and east (16, 26%) panel completed the questionnaire. In the east 

thirteen applicants (21%) responded and in the west north twelve responded (20%). 

Three applicants attended extra panels, which were arranged on top of the regular 

panel cycle, and were not associated with any particular area. 

Forty-three respondents were completing the questionnaire concerning a panel which 

discussed adopter approval (70%) and eighteen respondents were attending panels to 

discuss matching (30%). This sample consists of four cases where respondents have 

completed questionnaires about both. 

3 Adoptive Applicants Experiences of Kent Adoption Panels 

3.1 Overall satisfaction with the panel 

Most respondents reported that the adoption panel was ‘excellent’ (62%) or ‘good’ 

(26%) (see Figure 1). Many respondents reported that the process was clear and 

manageable. One respondent suggested that the panel was “clear in process before 

and after” (South panel, May). Another respondent reported that KCC had clearly 

communicated what would happen at each stage of the process making it a “very 

                                        
1 Some applicants completed feedback as a couple and some individually 

Page 64



 

5 

clear and fair process. [Kent] kept [us] informed every step of the way” (West panel, 

June). A further respondent found the process had been really positive and were 

extremely satisfied by their experience; “an excellent, supportive and happy occasion 

for us” (East panel, November).  

Some respondents suggested they had been anxious and had negative expectations 

about the adoption panel, however, it was often a much more positive experience than 

they expected: 

“Previous reports about Adoption Panels suggested that this would be the most 

daunting part of the adoption process. We found the adoption panel much to 

the contrary.” (South panel, April) 

Respondents acknowledged that by its nature panels would be inevitably challenging, 

but as one respondent suggested their panel was “as painless as possible!” (West 

panel, June) 

Figure 1: Overall Satisfaction with Kent Adoption Panels 

n=61 

The overall impression of the panel as a positive experience was also echoed by the 

observers. All thirteen observers suggested that the panel members were professional, 

friendly and organised. One observer said “it was a very professional, well run panel” 

(South panel, May), whilst another spoke of a generally well managed panel: 

“Every panel member had opportunity to contribute. Every member spoke 

clearly, without use of jargon. Paperwork prepared well-although difficult to 

digest all information as the observer. First panel was late which had a knock 

on effect. But panels were focused” (South panel, June).  

Page 65



 

6 

Interestingly two respondents noted the relatively positive experience of the panel 

compared with the rest of the adoption process: 

“Rather than it being terrifying experience (as expected!) we actually found our 

panel meeting very positive. We felt that the panel members were very 

encouraging and positive about our intention to adopt. We also felt that the 

panel were interested in and knowledgeable about our application. Throughout 

our adoption process we have not always felt encouraged or valued as 

prospective adopters. The process is still very long, repetitive and 

process/system led. Thank you.” (East panel, September). 

“Panel process was fine and we were put at ease by chairperson, but the build 

up and process beforehand was very demoralising, and no positives to 

mention.” (North panel, June) 

Also a small minority of seven respondents suggested the panel was ‘satisfactory’ (4) 

or ‘poor’ (3). These responses were spread between matching and approval panels 

and across locations, suggesting that no one panel is responsible for those who were 

less satisfied. There was also no theme throughout these experiences. The main 

contributing factors included: a lack of feeling prepared, the length of time for 

decision making, poor time keeping and anxiety about the process.  

Overall the findings of the questionnaire suggested that respondents felt prepared for 

panel and the panel members were effective. These areas, along with those that 

contributed to poorer experiences will be considered in turn.  

Preparing for panel 

All, but three, applicants suggested they were appropriately prepared in advance of 

attending the panel (58; 95%; see figure 2). Many respondents reported that they 

knew what to expect at the panel and felt prepared and supported by their social 

workers: 

“We knew what to expect and our social worker told us about possible change 

in how it’s done.” (South panel, April). 

“We were very well prepared and supported by our social worker [...]. She has 

been supportive, encouraging throughout our process and made our adoption 

journey insightful and enlightening.” (East panel, December) 

“We much appreciated going into Panel alongside the [social worker] and 

everyone put us at ease.” (South panel, April) 

Here feedback from the respondents to the South panel was particularly positive, 

indicating social workers in this area are preparing their applicants well.  

Page 66



 

7 

Although this large majority of applicants felt prepared some suggested other things 

they would like to have been informed about: 

“We were advised 1 or 2 questions would be asked as part of panel but 

actually there were a lot of questions and quite in-depth and personal. It would 

be good to prepare others about the possibility of this.” (South panel, July) 

Five applicants (9%) and two observers commented on their long wait time at the 

North and West panel adoption panels. One was “kept waiting 30 minutes” (North 

panel, June), whilst this wait was even longer for two others: 

“We nearly did not go to panel because the 3 child social workers were waiting 

in a second waiting room and did not locate us until 1 hour and a half after 

panel was scheduled to start.” (North panel, May) 

“The panel ran several hours behind time and the venue offered no facilities, 

at panel initially, to wait for our turn.” (West panel, November) 

Furthermore, one couple suggested that their panel was completed quickly in order to 

make up for the delay: 

“The panel was running very late, we do not know why but they got us in quite 

quickly to try and catch up.” (West panel, September) 

For some respondents this wait will have important emotional implications for them, 

as one respondent highlighted: 

“Although it couldn’t be avoided, 1 hour and a half wait did not help our 

nerves!” (West panel, August).  

For those three who reported they did not feel prepared for the panel, their responses 

largely related to a lack of up-to-date information received by the panel (this will be 

explored further below). One respondent suggested that themselves and the panel had 

not received the newest information: 

“During the meeting, it became clear that we hadn’t received the most up to 

date written information as would be expected- indeed neither had the panel 

(CPR document)” (West panel, November)* 

This was also noted by an observer who found there was confusion with the medicals: 

“Medicals seem to be an issue….clarification of who should have medicals 

[this] would be of benefit to all the panel members” (North panel, September) 

Page 67



 

8 

For the remaining respondent, a delay with documents being submitted meant that 

the panel had to be postponed. There was no strong pattern associated with feelingly 

less prepared for panel: all three respondents and the observer were spread across 

regions and two respondents were attending a matching panel, whist one an approval 

panel. 

The panel members 

As shown above the panel received generally positive feedback overall. When asked 

more specifically about the structure and tone of the panel, respondents were also 

largely positive. Many applicants particularly noted the friendliness and ‘professional’ 

manner of the panel members. One respondent from the South panel found:  

 “Facing a large panel daunting however the members were friendly and did 

their best to put us at ease.” (June) 

And another from East panel wrote: 

“We found all panel members to be courteous, professional and down to earth 

making the whole experience pleasant and relaxed.” (December) 

Panel members were also reported to be generally well prepared. For example, one 

applicant wrote that the panel were: 

“Very friendly, really seemed to have read our PAR. Asked fair and important 

questions.” (North panel, October)  

This opinion was echoed by an observer at the east panel, who suggested the panel 

had a thorough understanding of each case: 

“Knowledge of each case [was a strength], easy to understand” (East panel, 

September) 

One respondent reported that the panel listened well and were considerate:  

“All members of the panel listened intently and engaged me in the process. 

They were considerate to my needs at all times.” (West panel, August) 

Many applicants particularly noted that, as one respondent wrote, the “chair was 

effective and kind” (North panel, October). Others who attended panels in other areas 

shared these findings: 

“The chair was particularly supportive and we appreciated this.” (South panel, 

June) 

Page 68



 

9 

“[Chairperson] really helped to put us both at ease with his calm, friendly 

manner. A perfect chairperson.” (West panel, October) 

Five observers to the panel also commented on the skill of the chair. One suggested, 

for example, that a chair in the north panel: 

 “...was excellent at putting couples at ease” (North panel, May).  

Fifty-eight respondents (95%)2 suggested the panel members asked appropriate 

questions. One applicant from South panel suggested “they were friendly and 

approachable, yet asked relevant questions.” (April). One of these respondents 

however did note that the panel honed in on a potential issue which s/he suggested 

was unnecessary:  

“There was a bit of discussion on unknown potential issues that was a bit over 

the top.” (North panel, July) 

Despite this they still rated their overall experience of the panel as ‘good.’ 

All 13 (100%) observers also suggested that the panel had raised issues 

appropriately. They found that the issues raised were relevant which enabled focused 

discussion. For example, one respondent wrote the “panel raised issues in a 

constructive and pertinent way” (North panel, August). Another felt that the panel 

asked a good range of comprehensive questions; 

“[The panel] were very thorough and kept the focus on [the child]” (West 

panel, August). 

Of the three respondents who suggested that the panel members did not ask 

appropriate questions; one found the meeting was repetitive of what had already been 

reported: 

“Felt regarding finances should not been brought up, as already in report. 

Panel were critical of social workers.” (North panel, June) 

Another stated that the panel “did not have up to date information” which meant the 

respondent felt like they needed to defend their position: 

“I do not feel the panel was appropriately prepared as they did not have up to 

date information on from their medical advisor, which as [a] knock on effect... 

we were kept waiting while she shared information with the panel and put me on 

                                        
2 Please note, the negative responses to these two questions represent the responses of 5 respondents, 

i.e. only one respondent replied negatively to both questions, whose quotes are highlight with a star* 

Page 69



 

10 

the defensive as they had already been given a negative impression of me.” 

(East panel, October)* 

These experiences for these respondents seemed to largely contribute to their overall 

experience of the panel as ‘satisfactory’ and ‘poor’ respectively. 

The third respondent suggested that their personal history had been misconstrued by 

the panel: 

“One [panel member] asked [about]: "Doing this to fill a void." This was 

incorrect information - not sure where that came from, as from my end, there 

is no void to fill!” (West panel, May) 

In spite of this s/he still rated their overall experience of the panel as ‘excellent’. 

The panel also seemed to have effectively included observers in the discussions. All 

observers (13) felt that the panel members were able to effectively contribute to the 

discussion and were given the “opportunity to share their views and were fairly 

listened to”. One observer stated that the chair ensured that all members were able to 

voice their opinions and: 

“all members were encouraged by chair to participate in discussion, she worked 

hard to ensure the views of quieter, less vociferous members were given 

airplay”. 

Observers were also asked about the social workers presentation. Twelve (92%) 

reported that the it was informative, whilst one felt it was not, they said “sadly CPR 

on case I received was poor and social worker had not met child so although he 

worked hard to fill gaps it was difficult for him to provide an accurate up to date 

picture of child. Luckily medical advisor was able to fill in gaps” (South panel, June). 

Twelve observers also stated that the social worker was able to actively contribute 

after their presentation (one did not respond to this question). 

3.2 What made panels more difficult 

It has been noted above that some respondents found the panel process stressful 

and/or had a poor experience. Although this was a small proportion of the sample, 

their experiences are worth considering.  

Two respondents noted how “daunting and nervous [an] experience” (East panel, May) 

the panel was. One respondent suggested that this nervousness had impeded their 

ability to answer the questions as clearly and concisely as they had wished: 

“Although questions asked were appropriate – [I] did feel that we had 

answered these during our regular meetings with our social worker and that in 

Page 70



 

11 

panel answers may not have been as clear and concise due to nerves.” (East 

panel, May) 

Another applicant suggested they “felt somewhat patronised, distrusted and was 

extremely anxious after the panel, worrying that [they] had made a poorer impression 

than [they] could have.”  (East panel, October) 

This environment is inevitably difficult for some people, which one of the respondents 

suggests causes panels to “...be biased by shyness.” And goes on to say  

“It is not often in life that you have to present yourself to a large number of 

unknown people.” (East panel, May) 

Some applicants also found timescales between agreement of a match and panel too 

long:  

“It was unsatisfactory. Panel was too long after agreement of match we do not 

understand why there has to be a separate decision maker who does not sit on 

panel, and it takes a week to get the decision. It is an extra layer that feels 

unnecessary and just bureaucracy. Unsatisfactory is a better description rather 

than poor.” (South panel, January) 

 “It would be nice if the ratified decision was closer to panel decision for us it 

was over a week.” (South panel, August) 

One applicant said that they had to wait an extra three days to hear the panel’s 

decision due to a mix up that could have been avoided:   

“A change in our social worker was not acted upon (despite it being raised 

during panel) which meant that the decision makers decision was sent to our 

old social worker and not our new one. This meant we had to wait 3 additional 

days to hear the decision.” (North panel, September) 

One applicant felt they would have liked more information from their social worker 

prior to panel to prepare them for the amount of time they had to wait for the final 

decision:  

“We were told prior to panel that the decision makers could not give a final 

decision until 3rd June which seemed a long wait especially as both 

prospective adopters and foster carers had some prior arrangements which 

would have effected the introductions for the child quite significantly. We had 

to wait until after the panel to find out that the decision maker had brought 

forward the time of decision. It would have been nice if our social worker had 

been advised of this prior to panel. Not with standing this our panel experience 

was a positive one.”  (North panel, May) 

Page 71



 

12 

One applicant felt that the process was especially challenging as a single adopter 

because they did not have anyone else to defer questions to. They suggested that the 

format be less intensive for single adopters who are going to panel alone:  

“As a single adopter, to have each panel member ask me 2-3 questions was 

very daunting and hard work. I know the panel felt they had given me a 

particularly hard time so maybe thought needs to be given to how to deal 

differently with single adopters? I am used to interview type conversations- 

others may not be & many people would have found the experience much more 

distressing than I did” (South panel, May) 

One observer was concerned that there would be new challenges, they said “I believe 

that there will be challenges with the new PAR, where there is an emphasis on 

producing shorter reports . When the panel seemed to want the detail to consider. It 

is possible that the new PAR may mean the panel asks more questions on the day” 

(West panel, May).  

Respondents were also asked to comment on the venue, and although most were 

satisfied three applicants, one who attended a west panel and two who attended a 

south panel, and one observer to the west panel, found the venue difficult to find: 

“We did not receive a map of the venue, despite it stating in the covering letter 

that a map was enclosed. Needed clearer instructions i.e. Location of venue” 

(West panel, May) 

 “Very hard to find the venue, which should have more detailed map & 

description, but otherwise very good.”(South panel, May) 

4 Conclusions and recommendations 

The report has explored the feedback from applicants and professionals who attended 

and observed KKC Adoption Panels. The majority of respondents reported that their 

overall experience at the adoption panel as either ‘excellent’ or ‘good’. Respondents 

found that their social workers had appropriately prepared them in advance of 

attending the panel which enable them to feel more supported and to be able to 

confidently respond. Panel members and chairperson were often reported by 

respondents and observers as friendly and professional which helped put them at 

ease. Respondents also suggested that they were given sufficient opportunity to raise 

issues and that the panel listened to their contributions. This report also highlighted 

the anxiety that applicants feel in approaching panel, even when they go on to have a 

positive experience. This is valuable for social workers to be aware of to ensure they 

continue to support applicants in a way that addresses these needs. It also must be 

acknowledged here that the response rate to the questionnaire was quite low, with the 

Page 72



 

13 

responses in this report representing only around 50% of the applicants that have 

been to KCC panels this year. 

A minority of respondents were unsatisfied by their panel experience mainly due to 

the long wait before the panel called them in, feelings that the panel, or themselves, 

did not have up-to-date information, and a feeling of anxiety about the process. KCC 

and Coram could endeavour to warn applicants that perhaps they may have to be a 

wait before they are called in, and that this is normal, and nothing to worry about. 

Applicants found the South Panel venue difficult to locate and it has been suggested 

that KCC should provide a local map and identify any local landmarks for applicants 

to look out for to help them find the venue.   

KCC and Coram have already implemented a number of changes and plans to address 

some of these issues. A welcome book has also now been introduced so that 

applicants are familiar with the members prior to attending the panel. The difficulties 

associated with long waiting times before entering panel has been highlighted to 

panel advisors and chairs, however, in exceptional circumstances when delays are 

unavoidable the panel chair must let the applicants know the reasons for delay and 

reassure them. 

The feedback forms have also been updated to provide clearer, more focused 

feedback (see appendix one and two) and were implemented on 27th May. Previously 

applicants and observers were asked to return forms by post. KCC has now changed 

this process and the chairperson provides the form at the end of the panel process. It 

is hoped that this may encourage applicants and social workers to complete the 

forms. The chair and panel advisors will also now be responsible and accountable for 

the delivery of feedback forms from applicants and social workers. 

Feedback will be addressed in a number of ways: completed forms will now be 

considered by panel members at the next panel, to ensure that learning can be more 

immediate; panel advisors will be required to report on this feedback every quarter; 

and chairperson’s six monthly reports will now include and reflect on this feedback, 

themes and actions. Feedback, both positive and negative, will also be sent to and 

discussed with relevant managers and agency decision makers as it arises. Where 

applicants have previously provided negative feedback, KKC and Coram will discuss 

with them individually, detailing how their issues have been addressed, the lessons to 

be learnt and what improvements have been made a result of their feedback. Both 

KCC and Coram continue to welcome feedback from applicants and social workers 

and view it as an integral part of its improvement journey. 

Page 73



 

14 

5 Appendices 

5.1 Appendix 1: Kent adoption panel feedback form from applicants. 

 

 

Page 74



 

15 

 

 

Page 75



 

16 

5.2 Appendix 2: Kent adoption panel feedback from Social Workers. 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

17 

 

 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel 19th June 

Annual Report: Children’s adoption journey  

April – March 2013/14 

Kent County Council and Coram partnership 

 

 
Chloe Austerberry, Research Assistant 

Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service 

Kevin Yong, Senior Data Analyst 
 

Page 79



Contents 

Contents .......................................................................................................... 2 

Summary Statistics ........................................................................................... 3 

1 Introduction............................................................................................... 5 

2 Children adopted ........................................................................................ 5 

3 Children currently placed for adoption, not yet adopted .................................. 8 

4 Children placed for adoption ...................................................................... 10 

5 Matches .................................................................................................. 13 

6 Placement Orders ..................................................................................... 13 

7 Children waiting for adoptive placements .................................................... 17 

8 Children with a plan that has changed ........................................................ 22 

9 Children in care proceedings with an Agency Decision for adoption ................ 22 

10 Timescales analysis ................................................................................ 24 

Appendix 1: Demographics of children ‘waiting’, with a Placement Order, not yet 
placed for adoption ......................................................................................... 37 

Appendix 2: Children placed with a family following the Adoption Activity Day ....... 40 

Appendix 3: Kent’s Adoption Scorecard 2010-2013 and DfE published thresholds 42 

Appendix 4: Detailed analysis of Kent’s performance in relation to the DfE scorecard 
and our forecast for performance 2013-16 ........................................................ 44 

 

Page 80



Summary Statistics 

• Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 145 children were adopted. The 

service achieved 38.1% more adoptions than in 2012/13 when 105 children were 

adopted, and 107.1% higher than 2011/12 (70 children). 

• Coram was projecting to achieve 165 Adoption Orders this year. We would have 

achieved this target had there been no delay in the Courts. 

• On 31 March 2014, 118 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted. 

• The target set for the Adoption Service was that 120 looked after children leave 

care through adoption in 2013/14 (based on a target of 13% of children leaving 

care). The service exceeded this target by 20.8% (145 adoptions). 

• Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 the Agency Decision Maker agreed 

matches for 172 children. For one of these children the match broke down during 

introductions. This child is now placed for adoption with another family. 

• Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 170 children were placed with an 

adoptive family (this includes one child whose placement broke down); on average 

14 children have been placed each month. The service placed 18.9% more 

children in 2013/14 than in 2012/13 when 143 children were placed. 

• 146 children were placed with Kent approved adopters, of whom 22 were with 

Kent foster carers, 1 with an independent foster carer and 2 with relative foster 

carers, as well as 5 with consortium authorities, 8 with other local authorities and 

11 with other voluntary adoption agencies, including 5 with Coram. The ADM also 

approved the placement of 14 children with repeat adopters. 12 of these children 

were with second time adopters and 2 children with third time adopters. 

• The average time from ADM’s approval of a match to placement, for the 170 

children placed in 2013/14, was 13.8 days. 

• Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 164 children were granted a 

Placement Order, a 13.7% decrease on the number of Placement Orders granted 

in 2012/13 (190  children).  

• On 31 March 2014, 100 children were waiting to be placed with an adoptive 

family. This includes children who were matched or ‘linked’ with a family, as well 

Page 81



as those for whom active family finding was being pursued and for whom plans 

were due to change.  

• A potential family had been matched or ‘linked’ for nearly half of these children 

(46%, 46), including 9 children with whom the match was with their foster carer, 

and 1 child placed with their prospective adopters on a fostering basis in the USA. 

• 26% (26) of children waiting at the end of March were granted a Placement Order 

within the last 3 months. For these children, family finding is in its early stages 

but we already have links or matches for 13 of them. 

• Kent County Council’s first Adoption Activity Day on 7th July 2013 resulted in 16 

matches, with all children now placed for adoption. 

• Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, 38 children’s plans were changed 

from adoption to permanent foster care. 

•  On 31 March 2014, 31 children were in care proceedings with an agency 

decision for adoption but no Placement Order.  

• Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 the Agency Decision Maker agreed the 

plan for adoption for 179 children. 

 

Page 82



1 Introduction 

This is an annual reportthatsets out a detailed analysis of the performance of the 

Council in relation to children’s adoption journeys between 1 April 2013 and 31 

March 2014. A report summarising the Council’s performance in relation to the 

adopters’ journey is attached separately. 

This report contains performance data and achievements, which will be supported by 

real stories of impact on children and adopters that will be shared at the Corporate 

Parenting Panel. The data used in this report was sourced from information provided 

by the Management Information Unit (MIU), the Legal Team, Panel Team and from 

tracking meetings and performance surgeries. Only some of the data has been 

validated by MIU due to the deployment of the new ICS (Liberi). 

This report contains the following information on the children: 

• Children adopted, 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14 (validated) 

• Children currently placed for adoption, who are not yet adopted (validated) 

• Children placed for adoption, 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14 (validated) 

• Children Matched with a family (validated) 

• Placement Orders granted, 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14 (validated) 

• Children waiting at the end of March 2014: timescales, ethnicity, sibling 

status, age profile, developmental and health needs (unvalidated) 

• Children with a plan that has changed (unvalidated) 

• Children in court proceedings with a Plan for Adoption (unvalidated) 

• Timescales analysis 

2 Children adopted 

Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 145 children were adopted in Kent 

County Council, which is significantly higher (38.1%) than the number of children 

adopted in 2012/13 (105) and over double (107.1%) the number of adoptions 

achieved in 2011/12 (70). See Figure 1 for the number of children adopted by month 

and Figure 2 for the number of children adopted by area. 

Page 83



Figure 1: Children adopted by month, 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14 

 

2011/12 N=70, 2012/13 N=105, 2013/14 N=145 

Figure 2: Children adopted by area, 2013/14 

 

N=145 

The target set by Kent for the Adoption Service was that 120 looked after children 

leave care through adoption in 2012/13 (based on the target of 13% of children 

12

18

11

3

18 17

7 8

12
9

11

19

0

5

10

15

20

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

5
1 1 0

16
24

29

50

19

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Page 84



leaving care via adoption) - the service exceeded this target by 20.8% (145 

adoptions). 

Coram was projecting to achieve 165 Adoption Orders this year. We would have 

achieved this target had there been no delay in the Court. 

The children not yet adopted are being tracked through a number of mechanisms – 

performance surgeries, joint tracking meetings and by reviewing officers. Monthly 

information is also sent to managers to alert them to children awaiting an Adoption 

Order. A timescales analysis indicates that the robust performance monitoring is 

starting to impact on the overall timescales: of the 145 children adopted between 1 

April 2013 and 31 March 2014, 36.6% (53) were adopted within 5 months of the 

adoptive placement, compared to 31.4% (33) of the 105 children adopted in 

2012/13 and 18.6% (13) of the 70 children adopted in 2011/12 (see Figure 3).  

Figure 3: Children adopted by length of time from placement to Adoption Order, 2011/12, 

2012/13 and 2013/14. 

 
2011/12 N=70, 2012/13 N=105, 2013/14 N=145 

Assuming that all 118 children currently placed for adoption are granted an Adoption 

Order in 2014/15, as well as the number of children we expect to be placed for 

adoption in the first 6 months of 2014/15 (97) we project that 215 children will 

5%

32%
30%

19%

6%
9%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Under 4
months

4-5 months 6-7 months 8-9 months 10-11 months 12 months and
more

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Page 85



leave care through adoption in 2014/15. However, analysis of applications being 

progressed in 2013/2014 suggests that applications for 17 children have had to be 

adjourned for at least two months due to parents opposing the adoption order 

application. This trend is likely to continue and so it would be very ambitious to try to 

achieve 215 Adoption Orders in 2014/15 but every effort would be made to ensure 

that adoption orders are secured for adopters and children in a timely way. 

3 Children currently placed for adoption, not yet adopted 

On 31 March 2014, 118 children were placed with an adoptive family but not yet 

adopted. These children had been in placement for an average of 4 months. See 

Figure 4 for number of children currently placed for adoption, by area. 

Figure 4: Children placed for adoption, not yet adopted, by area, 31 March 2014 

 
N=118 

32 (27.1%) had been waiting 1 month or less since placement, 26 (22.0%) had 

been waiting 2-3 months, 32 (27.1%) were waiting for 4-5 months, 28 (23.7%) were 

waiting 6-12 months. No children had been placed for more than one year (see Figure 

5). 

1 0 1 1

26

14

23

36

16

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

Page 86



Figure 5: Children placed for adoption, not yet adopted, 31 March 2014 by length of time 

from placement 

 
N=118 

There have, however been considerable delays in the Court system and this has 

affected timescales. We recently undertook some analysis, with help from Kent’s 

Legal team, of the court timescales for children where an application for an adoption 

order had been submitted by 2 May 2014. We found that for those children where no 

hearing date had yet been set, we had been waiting an average of nine weeks from 

the application being submitted. Where we had a hearing date, it was scheduled to 

take place 13.9 weeks after the application was submitted on average. Two meetings 

have been held with the Judiciary, and significant challenges still remain within the 

Court system, which are being addressed on a regular basis. 

Table 1: Court timescales for children with AO application submitted as at 2 May 2014 

 Awaiting hearing date With hearing date 

 
Number of 
cases 

Average time 
(weeks) since app 
submitted 

Number of 
cases 

Average time 
(weeks) from app 
to hearing 

Canterbury 2 7.0 19 13.6 
Medway 5 9.8 8 14.5 
Total 7 9.0 27 13.9 

32

26

32
28

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

One month or
less

2-3 months 4-5 months 6-12 months

Page 87



4 Children placed for adoption 

Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 170 children were placed with an 

adoptive family (an average of 14 children each month). The service placed 

considerably (18.9%) more children in 2013/14 than in 2012/13 when 143 children 

were placed, and one and a half times (150.0%) the number of children placed for 

adoption in 2011/12 when 68 children were placed. This also exceeds the target for 

the adoption service by 9.0%, which is that 13 children are placed each month (156 

children). See Figure 6 for number of children placed for adoption by month and 

Figure 7 for the number of children placed for adoption by area.  

Figure 6: Children placed for adoption by month, 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14 

 

2011/12 N=68, 2012/13 N=143, 2013/14 N=170 

5
7

16
18

14 13

24

14 14 13 13

19

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Page 88



Figure 7: Children placed for adoption by area 2013/14  

 

N=170 

Almost half (48.2%, 82) of the 170 children placed for adoption between 1 April 

2013 and 31 March 2014 were one and under when placed; 38.8% (66) were aged 

between 2 and 4; and 12.9% (22) were aged 5 or over, see Figure 8.  

Figure 8: Children placed for adoption by age at placement, 2013/14 

 

N=170 

4 1 1 0

32

54

20

33
25

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

82

66

22

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

One and under Two-four Five and over

Page 89



Of the 170 placements between 1stApril 2013 and 31 March 2014: 

• 146 were placed with Kent approved adopters, of whom 22 were with Kent 

foster carers, 1 with an independent foster carer and 2 with relative foster 

carers;  

• 5 were placed with consortium adopters (Bexley – 2, Bromley – 2, Brighton – 

1),  

• 8 with other local authority adopters (Haringey – 2, Lincolnshire – 1, Slough 1, 

Lewisham – 1, Wandsworth– 1, Thurrock 1, Warwickshire 1).  

• 11 with voluntary agency adopters (PACT - 3, Coram - 5, Cabrini - 1, 

Barnardos – 1, Families for Children - 1). 

• 14 were placed with repeat adopters.12 of these children were placed with 

second time adopters and 2 were placed with third time adopters. 

• 118 children were placed on their own and 52 children were placed with 

siblings – 46 children in 23 sibling groups of two and 6 children in 3 sibling 

groups of 2. 

We estimate that 141 children will be granted a Placement Order in 2014/15 (see 

the end of Section 6 for more details).  

4.1 Placement breakdowns 

Two placements broke down in 2013/14. One of these children, placed for adoption 

in November 2013, had a placement breakdown in January 2014.The other was 

placed in October 2012 and the placement broke down in July 2013. For the first 

case there were challenges in finding a school place and the adopters were not able 

to deal with the developmental delay of the child; for the second case, the adopters 

were not able to meet the child’s emotional needs. 

It is clearly disappointing that these placements broke down. However in hindsight 

there is some learning that we can take from them: 

- Better preparation of foster carers; 

- Providing an opportunity for adopters to have a ‘blind’ viewing of a child they 

are interested in adopting; 

Page 90



- More exploration of any concerns the assessing social worker has about 

potential adopters; 

- Ensuring adopters have a realistic view of the needs of children who have had 

a very difficult start in life and how this affects the way they form 

relationships. 

5 Matches 

Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, 172 children were matched with an 

adoptive family, an average of 14 children per month, including 25 sibling groups 

(23 pairs of siblings and 2 sets of 3 siblings). This is 26.7% higher than the number 

of children matched in 2012/13 – 135 children, an average of 11children per month. 

For one child the match broke down during introductions, however this child has now 

been placed with another family. 

6 Placement Orders 

Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, 164 Placement Orders were granted to 

children in Kent County Council (an average of14 Placement Orders granted each 

month). This is (13.7%) lower than the number of children granted Placement Orders 

in the previous financial year, 2012/13, when 190 Placement Orders were granted, 

but greater (32.3%) than the number of children granted Placement Orders in 

2011/12 (124). Figure 9 illustrates that the number Placement Orders increased in 

the second half of 2011/12 and this increase has been sustained in both the previous 

financial year and the first half of the current financial year before decreasing in the 

second half of 2013/14. See Figure 10 for the number of children granted Placement 

Orders by area. 

Page 91



Figure 9: Placement Orders by month, 2011/12. 2012/13 and 2013/14 

 

2011/12 N=124, 2012/13 N=190, 2013/14 N=164 

Figure 10: Children granted Placement Orders by area 2013/14 

 

N=164 

15

22

16

20

8

22

15

11

6 7

11 11

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

0
3

0 1

33

25
31

42

29

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Page 92



Over half (51.2%, 84) of the 164 children granted Placement Orders between 1 April 

2013 and 31 March 2014 were one and under when they were granted a Placement 

Order (50.5%, 96 in 2012/13; 39.5%, 49 in 2011/12); 37.2% (61) were aged 

between 2 and 4 (36.8%, 70 in 2012/13; 40.3%, 50 in 2011/12); and 11.6% (19) 

were aged 5 or over (12.6%, 24 in 2012/13;  25 in 2011/12). 

As you can see in Figure 11 there has been a consistent distribution across the age 

ranges over the past two years, with a decrease in over 5s since 2011/12. 

Figure 11: Proportion of children by age when Placement Order granted, 2011/12, 

2012/13 and 2013/14 

 

2011/12 N=124, 2012/13 N=190, 2013/14 N=164 

40% 40%

20%

51%

37%

13%

51%

37%

12%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

One and under Two-four Five and over

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Page 93



Figure 12: Number of children by age when Placement Order granted, 2011/12, 2012/13 

and 2013/14 

 

2011/12 N=124, 2012/13 N=190, 2013/14 N=164 

Of the 164 children granted a Placement Order between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 

2014, 155 (94.5%) were White (142 White British; 7 children were from ‘other’ 

White backgrounds and 6 children were Roma/Gypsy/Traveller). The remaining 9 

(5.5%) were of Black and Minority Ethnic backgrounds (non-white): all of these 

children were of mixed backgrounds, including 2 mixed White / Black Caribbean and 

1 mixed White / Indian. 

The Councilhas seen a drop in the number of placement orders granted recently – 

from December 2013 to March 2014 only 35 were granted (60 in the same period in 

2012/13, 48 in the same period in 2011/12) – and we believe this is due to the legal 

judgementmade in September 20131. We think the downward trend may continueand 

so wecurrently predict that in 2014/15141 children will be granted Placement Orders 

(a 14% drop on 2013/14). We will continue to monitor the number of POs granted 

and refine our forecasts as necessary. The Lead Member for Kent has written to 

Edward Timpson, MP, raising concerns about how this judgement fits with the 

national direction of increasing adoption placements. 

                                        

 
1re B-S (children) [2013] EWCA CIV 1146 

49 50

25

96

70

24

84

61

19

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

One and under Two-four Five and over

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Page 94



7 Children waiting for adoptive placements 

On 31 March 2014, 100 children in Kent County Council’s care were waiting to be 

placed with an adoptive family.2 

Children ‘waiting’ includes children who are going through the process of being 

matched or are ‘linked’ with a family (at the end of March, these children made up 

46%, 46), as well as those for whom active family finding was being pursued and 

those whose plans were due to change (see Figure 13): 

• for 39 children (39%) a prospective adoptive family had been selected and they 

were going through the process of being matched- this includes 10 children for 

whom their foster carers were being assessed or had been assessed to adopt them 

and 1 child who has moved in with her prospective adopters in the USA on a 

fostering basis for the time being. This also includes 1 child placed for adoption 

in October 2012 whose placement broke down in July 2013, who is now matched 

with another family and expected to be placed in June; 

• 7 children (7%) had been ‘linked’ with potential prospective families and the 

families were in the process of being visited to determine whether they would be 

the right families for the children concerned;  

• for 4 children (4%) there has been consideration of changing the plan from 

adoption to permanent fostering. However, a family has now come forward to 

adopt two of these children (a sibling group), and for the other two children it has 

been agreed that family finding will continue for the time being, though for one it 

is difficult to progress due to medical uncertainty;  

  

                                        

 
2 This figure includes children with a Placement Order and a Plan for Adoption, or parallel plan where 
one of the plans is adoption. The figure also includes relinquished children with an Agency Decision 
for Adoption. This figure is unvalidated. 

Page 95



• family finding was on hold for 4 children (4%). If you have updates for these 

children, it would be good to include them – I could let you know if I know the 

names of the children or Vanessa or her admin could 

o For two siblings, their birth mother appealed the placement order but 

this was overturned in April. 

o For one child the plan is going to change to permanent fostering 

o For one child we are waiting for a written report from a genetics 

consultant into a rare chromosomal condition (I am sure this report has 

been received) 

• family finding was actively being progressed for the remaining 46 children (46%) 

who had all been allocated a dedicated family finding social worker.  

Figure 13: Number of children waiting for an adoptive family by family finding status, 31 

March 2014 

 

N=100 

These children had been waiting an average of 8 months from Placement Order by the 

end of March. 

46

4
7

39

4

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Active family finding Family finding on
hold

Linked with a family Family selected Plan to change

Page 96



Figure 14: Children waiting to be placed with a family on 31 March 2014, by length of 
time from Placement Order  

 

N=100 

Of all 100 children with a Placement Order not yet placed for adoption at the end of 

March: 

• Over a quarter (26%, 26) had been granted a Court Decision for adoption 

(Placement Order) within the last three months, so for these children family 

finding is in its early stages.  

• They had been waiting on average 10.5 months from the Agency Decisions 

Maker’s Best Interest Decision by the end of March 

• Almost two-thirds (63%, 63) male and 37 (37%) female. 

• 94 (94%) were White (87 White British, 5 White Other, 2 Roma/Gypsy/Traveller), 

2 children were mixed White and Black Caribbean and 4 children were of ‘other’ 

mixed backgrounds; 

• 60 (60%) were in sibling groups, including 33 (all sibling groups of two) with a 

plan to be placed together and 27 (5 children in sibling groups of two, 9 in 

sibling groups of three, 10 in sibling groups of four and 3 from a sibling group of 

six) to be placed separately from some siblings; 

• 23 (23%) were aged one and under, 52 (52%) were aged two-four, and around a 

quarter 25 (25%) were aged five and over; 

• Half (50%, 50) had confirmed developmental or health needs. 

44

36

18

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

5 months and under 6 to 12 months 13 months and over

Page 97



Of the 46 children for whom active family finding was being pursued at the end of 

March: 

• For the 46 children who we were actively family finding for, 23 (50%) of these 

children had been waiting for five months and under, 17 (37%) had been waiting 

six to twelve months, and 6 children (13%) had been waiting for 12 months and 

over (12 of these children are linked or matched with a family). Figure 14 shows 

this distribution for all 100 children waiting.   

• Over a quarter (28.3%, 13) had been granted a Court Decision for adoption 

(Placement Order) within the last three months; 

• They had been waiting an average of 6.6 months from Placement Order by the 

end of March 

• They had been waiting on average 9.2 months from ADM’s Best Interest Decision 

by the end of March. 9 children had been waiting for more than a year. 

• Almost two-thirds 30 (65.2%) were male and 16 (34.8%) female. 

• Over a quarter (26.1%, 12) had interest expressed in them by an adoptive family 

– this interest was in its early stages and had not yet progressed to a link; 

• 43 (93.5%) were White (41 White British, 2 White Other), 2 children were mixed 

White and Black Caribbean and 1 was of ‘other’ mixed background; 

• 35 (76.1%) were in sibling groups, including 18 (all sibling groups of two) with a 

plan to be placed together and 17 (3 children in sibling groups of two, 6 in 

sibling groups of three and 8 in sibling groups of 4) to be placed separately from 

some siblings;  

• 8 (17.4%) were aged one and under (5 are now matched), 24 (52.2%) were aged 

two-four, and 14 (30.4%) were aged five and over. 

• Over half (58.7%, 27) had confirmed developmental or health needs.  

In order to try and find families for children currently still waiting for a family there 

will be a radio recruitment campaign taking place in June for 6 weeks and there will 

be another adoption activity day in September. 

  

Page 98



Of the 7 children ‘linked’ at the end of March: 

• 2 had been granted a Court Decision for adoption (Placement Order) in the 

previous three months, for 1 the PO was granted more than a year before; 

• For 1 the ADM BI decision was made in the previous three months and for 1 the 

decision was made more than a year before; 

• 4 (57.1%) were male and 3 (42.9%) female. 

• 6 (85.7%) were White British, and 1 was of ‘other’ mixed background; 

• 3 (42.9%) were in sibling groups, including 2 in a sibling group of two with a 

plan to be placed together and 1 child from a sibling group of 2 to be placed 

separately from his sibling;  

• 3 (42.9%) were aged one and under, and 4 (57.1%) were aged two-four. 

• 3 (42.9%) had confirmed developmental or health needs. 

• April update: two of these children have now been matched;  

See Appendix 1, Tables 1-6 for a breakdown of demographic details for all children 

waiting to be placed with an adoptive family by family finding status.  

7.1 Adoption activity day 

Adoption Activity Days are child-themed events where approved adopters and 

adopters in the assessment process who have an identified panel date have the 

opportunity to directly meet a range of children waiting to be adopted in a prepared, 

supported, safe and fun environment. It is an innovative method of family finding 

with an opportunity for families to respond directly to children and make a personal 

connection with them. 

Kent County Council’s first Adoption Activity Day took place on 7 July 2013. 54 

children and 50 prospective adoptive families attended. 

Over a quarter of children who attended (29.6%, 16 children) have now been placed 

with an adoptive family. This considerably exceeds the average number of matches as 

an outcome from the first five pilot Adoption Activity Days - 19%. 

  

Page 99



Of the children placed as a result of the Adoption Activity Day (AAD): 

• All but two children (87.5%, 14) were one of the following and so could be 

considered ‘hard to place’: aged over 5, from a Black and Minority Ethnic 

(BME) background, had developmental or health needs, had been waiting over 

12 months from PO before the AAD, were placed in a sibling group); 

• The ages of these children ranged from 1 to 7, including 2 children aged one, 

8 children aged two-four and 6 children aged five and over; 

• 10 of the children had a plan to be placed individually, including 6 who were 

not part of a sibling group, 3 children who were part of separated sibling 

groups of three, and 1 child from a separated sibling group of six. 2 sets of two 

siblings had a plan to be placed together who were part of larger separated 

sibling groups, and 1 sibling group of two had a plan to be placed together; 

• 14 of these children were White British, 2 children were from 

Roma/Gypsy/Traveller backgrounds, and 1 child was Mixed White and Black 

Caribbean; 

• None of the children are registered disabled. Five children have 

developmental/health needs. 

See Appendix 2 for a detailed profile of each of the children placed for adoption as a 

result of the Adoption Activity Day. 

8 Children with a plan that has changed 

Between 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014, 38 children’s plans were changed from 

adoption to permanent foster care.  

9 Children in care proceedings with an Agency Decision for adoption 

31 children were in the Court process on 31 March 2014, where the Agency Decision 

Maker had agreed a plan for adoption but a Placement Order had not yet been 

granted.  

Page 100



The majority of these children, 18 (58.1%) had been waiting one month and under 

from ADM decision date, 8 children (25.8%) had been waiting two to four months, 

and 5 (16.1%) had been waiting five months and over. 

Of the 5 children waiting 5 months and over: 

• One child had a Final Hearing due on 8 to 10 December 2013that was 

delayed and an Issues Resolution Hearing (IRH) took place on 21 March 2014 

with a final hearing scheduled in May. It is likely that the child will return 

home, however the family finding social worker is looking at families.  

• One child had a Final Hearing due in November 2013 but this was delayed for 

a parenting assessment. The IRH took place on 31 January 2014. The Birth 

Mother became pregnant with younger sibling who was born in March 2014 so 

there is a further assessment taking place. If return to the Birth Family is not 

possible there are three families being assessed who might be suitable 

matches. The Final Hearing is scheduled for 6 to 8 May 2014. 

• For three children, a sibling group of three, a Final Hearing was scheduled for 

13 to 17 January 2014. An independent social worker instructed the parenting 

assessment of the Birth Father, with the report was to be filed by 6 March. 

Matters were listed for 13 March, however the final hearing was further 

delayed by the parenting assessment and Final Hearing was to take place on 2 

to 3 April 2014. 

10 Children who had an Agency Decision for adoption 

179 children had an Agency Decision for adoption plan agreed between 1 April 2013 

and 31 March 2014. See Figure 15 for a breakdown of ADM decisions for adoption 

by area. 

Page 101



Figure 15: Agency Decisions for adoption between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, by 
area 

 
N=179 

Of the 179 children with an Agency Decision for adoption plan agreed: 

• 168 (93.9%) were white (156 White British, 10 White Other, 2 

Roma/Gypsy/Traveller) and 11 (6.1%) were of Black and Minority Ethnic 

(BME) backgrounds (4 Mixed White and Black Caribbean, 1 Mixed White and 

Indian and 6 of ‘Other’ Mixed Backgrounds). 

• 72 children (39.8%) were in sibling groups, including 52 children in 26 

sibling groups of two, 12 children in four sibling groups of three and 8 

children in two sibling groups of four. 

• 89 (49.7%) were aged one and under, 63 (35.2%) were aged two to four, and 

27 (15.1%) were five and over. 

11 Timescales analysis 

10.1 Time from Agency Decision for adoption plan to granting of Placement Order 

The time taken between an Agency Decision for Adoption Plan and Placement Order 

has been analysed for the 164 children granted a Placement Order between 1 April 

2013 and 31 March 2014. Any delay in the local authority being granted a 

Placement Order has an effect on family finding and the child being placed in a 

timely way. 

2 4 2

38

27
31

43

32

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Page 102



The results show that in 29.9% of cases (49) the Placement Order was granted less 

than a month after the Agency Decision Maker made a plan for adoption; for 39.6% 

(65) it took 1-3 months to have a Placement Order granted after Agency decision; for 

20.7% (34) it took 3 to 6 months, and for the remaining 9.8%(16) it took 6-12 

months – see Figure 16. 

Figure 16: Children granted a Placement Order 2013/14 by time from Agency Decision for 

adoption to Placement Order  

 
N=164 

49

65

34

16

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Less than 1 month 1-3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months

Page 103



Figure 17: Children granted a Placement Order 2013/14 by time from Agency Decision for 
adoption to Placement Order, by area. 

 

N=1603 

10.2 Time from Agency Decision for adoption to placement 

Adoption National Minimum Standards (NMS) requires that children are placed for 

adoption within 12 months of ADM decision for adoption. Of the 170 children placed 

for adoption between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, over three quarters (76.5%, 

130) were placed within 12 months of ADM. On average the 170 children waited 10 

months between ADM decision for adoption and placement for adoption. 

An analysis of average length of time between Agency Decision for adoption and 

placement for adoption for children placed in 2013/14 in each area shows that all 

areas met the NMS apart from East Kent Disabled Children’s Service who placed one 

child this year. Sensory Services did not place any children this year, so are not 

included. 

                                        

 
3 This excludes the Adoption Service and the East Kent Disabled Children’s Service, neither of whom 
had any children in their service granted a Placement Order (PO) this year, as well as West Kent 
Disabled Children’s Service, who had 1 child granted a PO this year (who waited less than one month 
from ADM decision for adoption to PO), and Sensory Services who had 3 children granted a PO (2 of 
whom waited 1 month from ADM decision to PO and 1 of whom waited 3 months). 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Less than 1 month 1-3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months

North Kent South Kent Thanet Canterbury & Swale West Kent

Page 104



Figure 18 shows the average number of months from ADM decision to placement, for 

each area, and Figure 19 gives a breakdown of the number of children placed for 

adoption between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 who were placed within and 

beyond 12 months of ADM decision date, by area. By looking at both figures we can 

see that while it appears that Disability East Kent take the longest, this figure relates 

to one child with a disability, which means that are categorised as harder to place. 

The area where the highest proportion of children were placed more than 12 months 

after the ADM decision was North Kent (34%) 

Figure 18: Average number of months from Agency Decision for adoption to placement for 
adoption for children placed in 2013/14 by area  

 
N=170 

4

20

8
10 9

11 10
8

0

5

10

15

20

25

Page 105



Figure 19: Number of children placed for adoption 2013/14 by length of time from Agency 

Decision for adoption to child being placed for adoption in each area 

 
N=170 

10.3 Time from placement order to placement 

It is an Ofsted requirement that children are placed for adoption within 6 months of a 

Placement Order. In Kent, 166 children were granted a Placement Order and placed 

for adoption between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 (4 were placed without POs). 

Of these, 50.6% (84) were placed within 6 months of PO. On average the 166 

children waited 7 months between Placement Order and placement for adoption. 

An analysis of average length of time between Agency Decision for adoption and 

placement for adoption for children placed in 2013/14 in each area shows that all 

areas failed to meet the timescale from East Kent (Thanet). The areas share this 

responsibility with our family finding team, but once a link is identified it is vital that 

the areas progress this as quickly as possible to a match where appropriate. We will 

be tracking the timeliness from identifying a link to presenting a match to panel to 

determine if there are any delays we can eliminate. 

2 0 0 1

27

16
21

41

22

1 0 1 0
6 4

11
14

3

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Within 12 months of ADM Over 12 months from ADM

Page 106



Figure 20 shows the average number of months from Placement Order to placement, 

for each area, and Figure 21gives a breakdown of the number of children placed for 

adoption between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 who were placed within and 

beyond 6 months of the Placement Order, by area. Only East Kent (Thanet) and South 

Kent placed more children within 6 months than those who waited more than 6 

months. 

Figure 20:Average number of months from Placement Order to placement for adoption for 
children placed in 2013/14 by area  

 
N=166 

16

6 7
6

9
7 6

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

Page 107



Figure 21: Number of children placed for adoption 2013/14 by length of time from 

Placement Order to child being placed for adoption in each area 

 

N=166 

10.4 Time from Agency Decision Maker’s approval of a match to placement 

The average time from ADM’s approval of a match to placement, for the 170 children 

placed in 2013/14, was 13.8 days. Table 2 shows the average time by area (no 

children with a PO were placed by Sensory Services). 

Table 2: Average number of days from Agency Decision Maker’s approval of a match to 

placement, by area 

Area Average number 
of days 

Adoption 4.3 
Disability EK 0 
Disability WK 0 
East Kent (Canterbury & Swale) 12.8 
East Kent (Thanet) 16.7 
North Kent 17.3 
South Kent 13.1 
West Kent 11.8 

0 0 0 0

16
13 13

31

11

0 0 1 1

17

7

18

24

14

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Adoption Sensory
Services

Disability
EK

Disability
WK

East Kent
(Canterbury

& Swale)

East Kent
(Thanet)

North Kent South Kent West Kent

Placement within 14 mo of BLA Placement over 14 mo from BLA

Page 108



10.5   DfE Adoption scorecards 2013-2016 

Background 

Adoption Scorecards were introduced by the DfE as part of a new approach to address 

delays in the adoption system. These scorecards show a local authority’s average 

performance over a three-year period against a number of measures, allowing local 

authorities and other adoption agencies to monitor their own performance and 

compare it with that of others. The performance is based on the timescales for 

children adopted in the reporting period. 

Our current performance 

In January 2014 the scorecard for 2010-2013 was published by the DfE, along with 

thresholds for two of the indicators that LAs should meet over the next few years. A 

copy of Kent’s scorecard and the published thresholds are provided in Appendix 3. In 

summary: 

- Our performance with respect to the 2009-2012 scorecard improved for four 

of the indicators - % children leaving care via adoption, % BME children 

leaving care via adoption, % children where the plan changes from adoption 

and the average length of care proceedings. 

- Our performance did not improve for four indicators – average time from child 

entering care to being placed, average time from placement order to match 

approval, % children aged 5 or over leaving care; number of children awaiting 

adoption. 

This performance is due to the legacy of cases that we have been dealing with since 

April 2012, as we have cleared the historical backlog that led to Ofsted’s judgement 

in February 2012. In addition, Kent has a high proportion of unaccompanied asylum 

seeker children, which skews our figures as they cannot be adopted. 

  

Page 109



If we compare our performance nationally and with our statistical neighbours (SN) 

then: 

- Our average time from a child entering care to being placed (703 days) was 

higher than both the national and SN averages (647 days) 

- Our average time from placement order to match approval (210 days) was in 

line with both the national (210 days) and SN averages (205 days) 

Our performance in 2013/14 and performance needed to meet the 2013-2016 thresholds 

The financial year 2013/14 is the first year that will be considered in the 2013-2016 

Scorecard. The thresholds set for this time period are:  

• A1: entry into care (BLA) to placement for adoption - 14 months (425 days); 

• A2: Placement Order to ADM approval for a match - 4 months (121 days). 

The Management Information Unit has provided data with which Coram can estimate 

of our performance for 2013/14. We estimate that for A1 our performance in 

2013/14 was 650.2 days (718.4 days in 2012/13, 693.5 days in 2011/12); for A2 

this was 225 days (249.1 days in 2012/134). So while we have improved our 

performance it will be a huge challenge to meet the thresholds set given the following 

factors: 

- The time taken to decide on a plan of adoption for a child 

- The time taken by courts to grant Placement Orders 

- The time taken to find adoptive families 

- The time taken to progress potential matches to panel 

- Our average performance for A1 over 2014/15 and 2015/16 needs to be 10 

months (302 days) but we forecast our performance for 2014/15 will be 620 

days 

                                        

 
4 Data for this indicator was not robustly collected before 2012/13 

Page 110



- Our average performance for A2 over 2014/15 and 2015/16 needs to be 2 

months (60 days) but we forecast our performance for 2014/15 will be 285 

days. 

These forecasts are based on the same number of adoption orders being granted in 

2014/15 and 2015/16 (145). See Appendix 4 for more detail. If we can increase the 

number of adoption orders then our average performance can be higher, which is why 

addressing court delays in relation to adoption order applications is a priority – 

however these estimates give a clear indication of the scale of the challenge we face. 

We will now look at the performance of each district in relation to these measures. 

Measure 1: Time from entry into care (BLA) to placement for adoption: our performance 

this year and performance by district 

Of the 145 children adopted between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, 31 (21.4%) 

were placed for adoption within 14 months of BLA. On average children these 

children waited 21 months between BLA and placement. 

An analysis of average length of time between entry into care (BLA) and placement for 

adoption for children placed in 2013/14 in each area shows that none of the areas 

met the 2013-16 adoption scorecard threshold of 14 months (See Figure 22). This 

does not include the West Kent Disabled Children’s Service as no children held by 

this service were adopted in 2013/14.  

Figure 23 shows children adopted who were placed for adoption within and beyond 

14 months of entry into care. 

Page 111



Figure 22: Children adopted 2013/14 by average length of time from BLA to placement in 

each area 

 
N=145 

Figure 23: Children placed for adoption 2013/14 by length of time from BLA to placement 

for adoption in each area 

 
N=145 

15

42

24
26

18
23 21 21

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Page 112



Measure 2: Time from Placement Order to ADM match: our performance this year and 

performance by area 

Of the 140 children adopted between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, previously 

granted a Placement Order, 40 (28.6%) had an ADM match within 4 months of 

Placement Order being granted. On average these children waited 7 months between 

Placement Order and ADM match. 

An analysis of average length of time between Placement Order and ADM match  for 

children adopted in 2013/14 (with a previous Placement Order) in each area shows 

that none of the areas met the 2013-16 adoption scorecard threshold of 4 months 

(see Figure 24). This does not include the West Kent Disabled Children’s Service as 

no children held by this service were adopted in 2013/14.  

Figure 25 shows the number of the number of children adopted who had an ADM 

match within and beyond 4 months of Placement Order. 

Figure 24: Children with a Placement Order adopted 2013/14 by average length of time 

from Placement Order to ADM match in each area 

 
N=140 

23
21

8
11

5
8

7 7

0

5

10

15

20

25

Page 113



Figure 25: Children with a Placement Order adopted 2013/14 by length of time from 

Placement Order to ADM match in each area 

 
N=140 

12 Conclusion 

We will continue to focus on improving timescales, in particular in relation to the 

placement of children. Future detailed reports will include more analysis on the 

following: 

- The effort of family finding social workers in trying to find prospective adopters 

for children 

- Timescales for progressing links with prospective adopters to presenting a 

match to panel 

- Children not placed within 12 months of agency decision of a plan to adopt, by 

area 

- Children not placed within 4 month of placement order, by area 

- Court timescales for adoption order applications 

There are huge challenges in meeting the DfE’s thresholds for the adoption scorecard 

and we will strive to do what we can to meet them, but at the same time we must 

always ensure that what we do is in the best interests of the child. 

0 0 0 0 2

9 8

16

5
1 1 1 0

14 15

21

33

14

0
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

ADM match within 4 mo of PO ADM match over 4 mo from PO

Page 114



Appendix 1: Demographics of children ‘waiting’, with a Placement Order, not 

yet placed for adoption 

Table 1: Children waiting to be placed with a family by family finding status and number 

granted a Placement Order within the last three months 

Family finding status Total % PO granted within 
last 3 months 

Family selected 39 39 11 
Linked 7 7 2 
Plan to change 4 4  
Active family finding 465 46 13 
Family finding on hold 4 4  
Total 100  26 

Table 2: Children waiting to be placed with a family by family finding status and sex 

Family finding status Male Female Total 
Family selected 24 (61.5%) 15 (38.5%) 39 
Linked 4 (57.1%) 3 (42.9%) 7 
Plan to change 3 (75.0%) 1 (25.0%) 4 
Active family finding 30 (65.2%) 16 (34.8%) 46 
Family finding on hold 2 (50.0%) 2 (50.0%) 4 
Total 63 (63.0%) 37 (37.0%) 100 

 

                                        

 
5 There were tentative links or expressions of interest for 12 of these children  

Page 115



Table 3: Children waiting to be placed with a family by family finding status and ethnicity 

Family finding 
status 

White 
British 

White 
Other 

Roma/ 
Gypsy/ 

Traveller 

White and 
Black 

Caribbean 

Other Mixed 
background 

Total 

Family 
selected 

34 
(87.2%) 

1 (2.6%) 2     
(5.1%) 

 2        
(5.1%) 

39 

Linked 6 
(85.7%) 

   1        
(14.3%) 

7 

Plan to 
change 

4 
(100.0%) 

    4 

Active family 
finding 

41 
(89.1%) 

2  
(4.3%) 

 2      
(4.3%) 

1          
(2.2%) 

46 

Family finding 
on hold 

2 
(50.0%) 

2 
(50.0%) 

   4 

Total 87 
(87.0%) 

5 
(5.0%) 

2     
(2.0%) 

2      
(2.0%) 

4        
(4.0%) 

100 

 

Table 4: Children waiting to be placed with a family by family finding status and age 

Family finding 
status 

One and under Two-Four Five and over Total 

Family 
selected 

11(28.2%) 20(51.3%) 8(20.5%) 39 

Linked 3(42.9%) 4(57.1%)  7 
Plan to change  4(100.0%)  4 
Active family 
finding 

8(17.4%) 24(52.2%) 14(30.4%) 46 

Family finding 
on hold 

1(25.0%)  3(75.0%) 4 

Total 23(23.0%) 52(52.0%) 25(25.0%) 100 

 

  

Page 116



Table 5: Children waiting to be placed with a family by family finding status and sibling 
status 

Family finding 
status 

Single Plan to be 
placed with all 
sibling/s 

Plan to be 
placed 
separately from 
at least one 
sibling 

Total 

Family 
selected 

21(53.8%) 11(28.2%) 7(17.9) 39 

Linked 4(57.1%) 2(28.6%) 1 (17.3%) 7 
Plan to 
change 

2(50.0%)  2(50.0%) 4 

Active family 
finding 

11(23.9%) 18(39.1%) 17(37.0%) 46 

Family finding 
on hold 

2 (50.0%) 2(50.0%)  4 

Total 40(40.0%) 33(33.0%) 27(27.0%) 100 

 

Table 6: Children waiting to be placed with a family by family finding status and 
developmental and health needs 

Family finding status Developmental/health needs Total 
Family selected 14 (35.9%) 39 
Linked 3 (42.9%) 7 
Plan to change 2 (50.0%) 4 
Active family finding 27 (58.7%) 46 
Family finding on hold 4 (100%) 4 
Total 50 (50.0%) 100 

Page 117



Appendix 2: Children placed with a family following the Adoption Activity Day 

Table 1: Profiles of children placed with a family resulting from the Adoption Activity Day on 7th July 2013 

 District Age Sex Sibling status Ethnicity Developmental/ health 
needs 

Date of 
Placement Order 

Harry Dartford 5 Male Single White British None. 03/11/2013 
Tyler Canterbury 3 Male Single White British None. 14/05/2013 
Sophia and 
Catherine 

Dover 5 & 7 2  x Female 2 siblings 
placed 
together, part 
of separated 
sibling group of 
4 

White British None.  29/10/2012 

Annabel Canterbury 6 Female Placed on her 
own, from a 
separated 
sibling group of 
3 

Roma/ Gypsy/ 
Traveller 

None. 19/04/2013 

Lee Dover 1 Male Single White British Slight developmental 
delay. 

11/03/2013 

Joshua Ashford 2 Male Single Mixed 
background 

None. 12/07/2012 

Abigail and 
Jason 

Ashford 2 & 3 1 Female, 1 
Male 

Sibling group of 
2 to be placed 
together 

White British The male child has 
significant delay and 
is learning Makaton. 

17/05/2013 

Nathan Swale 4 Male Single White British Hearing and speech 
delay. Cataracts in 
both eyes. 
Incontinent. 

14/12/2013 

Jessica Gravesham 7 Female Placed on her White British None. 10/05/2012 

P
age 118



 District Age Sex Sibling status Ethnicity Developmental/ health 
needs 

Date of 
Placement Order 

own, from a 
separated 
sibling group of 
6 

Layla Dartford 4 Female Single White British None. 08/04/2012 
Dylan and 
Jake 

Maidstone 2& 4 2 x Male 2 siblings 
placed 
together, part 
of separated 
sibling group of 
3  

White British The older child has 
significant dental 
decay. 

16/01/2013 

Theo Swale 4 Male Placed on his 
own, from a 
separated 
sibling group of 
3 

White British None. 17/10/2012 

Maya Dover 5 Female Placed on her 
own, from a 
separated 
sibling group of 
3 

White British Significant emotional 
needs. 

23/05/2013 

  

P
age 119



Appendix 3: Kent’s Adoption Scorecard 2010-2013 and DfE published thresholds 

P
age 120



The thresholds set by the Department are as follows: 

For children adopted between 
Indicator A1 threshold 

(months) 
Indicator A2 threshold 

(months) 

1 April 2010 – 31 March 2013 20 6 

1 April 2011– 31 March 2014 18 5 

1 April 2012– 31 March 2015 16 4 

1 April 2013– 31 March 2016 14 4 
 
where 

- (A1) is the average time from coming into care to being placed with an 
adoptive family; 

- (A2) is the average time from placement order to Agency Decision Maker’s 
approval of a match with an adoptive family. 

  

Page 121



Appendix 4: Detailed analysis of Kent’s performance in relation to the DfE 
scorecard and our forecast for performance 2013-16 

The last financial year, 2013/14, represents the first year that will count towards the 

meeting these two thresholds. By looking at our performance in 2013/14 we can 

determine the performance we need to achieve in 2014/15 and 2015/16. We 

calculate that in 2013/14 our performance was 650.2 days for A1 and 225 days for 

A2. 

This means that to meet the thresholds set, if we maintain our current rate of 

adoption orders (145) in 2014/15 and 2015/16, then for all children granted an 

adoption order in 2014/15 and 2015/16 we need to aim for a child to be in care for 

no more than 10 months (304 days) before they are placed with an adoptive family 

(A1);  and we need a match to be made within 2 months (61 days) of a placement 

order (A2). 

However, we can also forecast our performance for 2014/15 by predicting our 

performance against the two measures for any children who were granted a placement 

order but not granted an adoption order before 31 March 2014, since we would 

expect these children to be granted an adoption order in the next two years, and so be 

included in the scorecard. These children can be split into two cohorts: 

1. Children placed but not adopted as of 31 March 2014 

2. Children not placed as of 31 March 2014 

For the first cohort our performance with respect to the indicators is set, while we 

need to predict our performance for the second cohort. 

Indicator 
Cohort 1 - Children 
placed by 31 March 
2014 (days) 

Cohort 2 - Children not 
placed by 31 March 
2014 (days) 

Combined cohorts - all 
children not granted an 
AO by 31 March 2014 
(days) 

A1 552.6 700 620 

A2 217 365 285 

Page 122



For cohort 2 we are assuming all the children are placed in the first six months of 

2015/16 and on average take another 3 months to place. 

Taking this into account, our performance for any additional children granted a 

placement order (or equivalent) and adopted over the next two years, assuming there 

are 400 AOs granted in that time, would need to be 4 days for A1 and -155 days for 

A2 (i.e. matched before their PO is granted) if we are to meet the thresholds set. This 

means that it is highly unlikely that we will meet the thresholds set for 2013-2016. 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel 19th June 

Children’s adoption journey  

Summary statistics: April 2014 

Kent County Council and Coram partnership 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



Summary Statistics, April 2014 

• In April 2014 12 children were adopted. This is the same as the 12 adoptions 

achieved in April 2013 and twice as high as the 6 adoptions achieved in April 

2012. It is lower than the 18 adoptions we are hoping to achieve each month - we 

are projecting to achieve 215 Adoption Orders this year.  

• On 30th April 2014, 123 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted. 

• In April 2014 17 children were placed with an adoptive family. This is 

significantly higher than the 6 placements in April 2013 and higher than the 14 

placements in April 2012. It is also higher than the average number of children 

placed for adoption each month in 2013/14 – 14 children. 

• 15 children were placed with Kent approved adopters, and 1 child was placed 

with Action for Children.  

• In April 2014 the Agency Decision Maker agreed matches for 14 children. All 14 

children were matched with Kent approved adopters. 

• In April 2014 12 children were granted a Placement Order. This is lower than the 

15 Placement Orders granted in April 2013 and higher than the 7 Placement 

Orders granted in April 2012. 

• On 30 April 2014, 101 children were waiting to be placed with an adoptive 

family. This includes children who were matched or ‘linked’ with a family, as well 

as those for whom active family finding was being pursued and for whom plans 

were due to change.  

• A potential family had been matched or ‘linked’ for almost half of these children 

(47.5%, 48), including 7 children with whom the match was with their foster 

carer, and 1 child placed with their prospective adopters on a fostering basis in 

the USA. 

• Almost a third (31.7%, 32) of children waiting at the end of March were granted a 

Placement Order within the last 3 months. For these children, family finding is in 

its early stages but we already have links or matches for two thirds (68.8%, 22) of 

them. 

• In April, no children’s plans were changed from adoption to permanent foster care. 

As it has been a challenge to provide accurate information in relation to change of 

Page 126



plans, it was agreed that from April 2013, the Reviewing Officers Managers’ will 

quality assure the data, and provide a report which will be incorporated into the 

report provided by Coram. The report has not been forthcoming. 

• On 30 April 2014, 31 children were in care proceedings with an agency decision 

for adoption but no Placement Order.  

• In April 2014 the Agency Decision Maker agreed the plan for adoption for 8 

children. 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

To:  Corporate Parenting Panel (19th June 2014) 
 
From:  Vanessa White (Family Finding Manager, Kent Adoption) 
  Andrew Bose (Communications Account Manager, SCHW) 
 
Date:  5th June 2014  
 
Subject: “Voice of the child” – An update on marketing activity to recruit 

adopters for particular children awaiting adoption 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
Harder to place children tend to be children in sibling groups, children with a 
physical or learning disability, older children and children from ethnic 
backgrounds and typically end up waiting a long time for a placement with a 
forever family. This situation is not specific to Kent and it is found across the 
country.  As the National Adoption Register states: “There are currently 
around 6,000 children waiting to be placed in adoptive families in England. 
Around a third of these children have to wait over 12 months to find their 
forever families.” This paper sets out what the Adoption Service is doing to 
increase the chances for the children still awaiting adoption in Kent. 
 
2.0 Types of children awaiting adoption in Kent 
 
Of the 45 children for whom active family finding was being pursued at the 
end of March 20141: 
 

• Legal status: Over a quarter (26.6%, 12) had been granted a Court 
Decision for adoption (Placement Order) within the last three months. 

• Gender: Almost two-thirds 29 (64.4%) were male and 16 (35.6%) 
female. 

• Interest to date: Over a quarter (26.6%, 12) had interest expressed in 
them by an adoptive family – this interest was in its early stages and 
had not yet progressed to a link. 

• Ethnic background: 42 (93.3%) were White (40 White British, 2 White 
Other), 2 children were mixed White and Black Caribbean and 1 was of 
‘other’ mixed background. 

• Sibling status: 35 (77.7%) were in sibling groups, including 18 (all 
sibling groups of two) with a plan to be placed together and 17 (3 
children in sibling groups of two, 6 in sibling groups of three and 8 in 
sibling groups of 4) to be placed separately from some siblings. 

• Age groups: 7 (15.5%) were aged one and under, 24 (53.3%) were 
aged two-four, and 14 (31.1%) were aged five and over. 

• Needs: Over half (60%, 27) had confirmed developmental or health 
needs. 

• DVD profile: All 45 children have a high quality professional DVD.   
• Written profile: All 45 children have had a profile created. 

                                            
1 Source: Appendix 4, Corporate Parenting Panel 19th June Annual Report: Children’s 
adoption journey April – March 2013/14 
 

Page 129



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

 
 
3.0 Why are they waiting? 
 
The Family Finding Team within Kent Adoption has been working to place 
children, but for various reasons have been unable to secure a placement for 
some so far. The following examples illustrate the sorts of work that have 
been taking place. 
 
 
3.1 Child aged one year  
 
John - DOB 10.05.2014 
 
Ethnicity - White British 
 
Date of Placement Order - 08.06.2013 
 
John is a one year old boy who was placed in care shortly after his birth 
following his birth mother longstanding alcohol misuse and mental health.  
 
John is diagnosed with global developmental delay and he is too young to 
establish if he has any form of Foetal Alcohol Syndrome. He required a brain 
scan and genetic chromosomal testing as there was concern that the soft spot 
on his head had been closing too fast. Fortunately the test results have 
confirmed no abnormalities.  
 
John’s little personality is developing and he is beginning to respond by 
smiling and babbling. John has formed a solid bond to his foster carer and 
appears securely attached. He is very social and loves attention from both 
adults and children of all ages and now has the capacity to recognise his 
known adults.  
 
He benefits from a high quality DVD and profile which has been circulated to 
all the voluntary agencies and national local authorities. Since his placement 
order was granted, John has been profiled both locally and nationally at 
several family finding events. This includes 4 Kent profiling events (formally 
known as coffee mornings), 3 internal pop up profiling events and 5 national 
exchanges. His profile is featured on the National Adoption Register and he 
has been included in the online Be My Parent magazine since January 2014.  
 
This little boy will feature in a targeted marketing campaign for Hard to Place 
Children which will run over a 6 week period throughout the Kent County in 
the hope of finding a family. It is anticipated that John will be identified to 
attend the Adoption Activity Day in September 2014.   
 
Since there has been clarification of John’s diagnosis, it has enabled family 
finding to progress further.  He will have a developmental delay screening by 
a Paediatrician which will help to define his delay for prospective adopters to 
consider. While this uncertainty is a very real challenge for adopters, it allows 
family finding the opportunity to confidently consider any potential interest in a 
more meaningful way.  
 

Page 130



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

3.2 Sibling Group 
 
Alison – DOB 05.06.09 and Sarah DOB 09.01.12 
Ethnicity – White British  
Placement Order – 28.06.13 
Alison and Sarah are two little girls who entered care in November 2012 
following a history of significant neglect and alcohol abuse. They are currently 
placed together with foster cares and their plan is to find an adoptive family as 
a sibling group. The children have an elder half sibling in permanent foster 
care and a younger brother who is placed for adoption with another family. 
Alison is a healthy, sociable and active little girl who is developing well and 
has formed a good attachment to her foster carers. She can be demanding of 
attention and has little stranger awareness.  
Sarah has significant global developmental delay. She is unable to talk and 
walks with a stiff gait and has poor spatial awareness. As a result of these 
limitations she can become frustrated and upset. This is currently being 
investigated and chromosomal testing is underway. A rare genetic syndrome 
is under consideration but to date there is no confirmed diagnosis. It is 
apparent that Sarah has some level of special needs and will need very 
special parents who are both willing and able to look after her. 
The children are an attractive and engaging sibling group with a high quality 
DVD and profile, which has generated a lot of interest. Unfortunately the 
interest does not progress primarily due to Sarah’s level of uncertainly and 
future health implications.  
Family finding has been underway for just over 12 months now and the girls 
profiles have been circulated widely to include all national Local Authorities 
and voluntary adoption agencies. To date they have been featured at a total 
of 14 events, coupled with their profiles being featured on the National 
Adoption Register and have also been included in the online Be My Parent 
magazine for several months.   
 
Alison and Sarah will be featured in a targeted marketing campaign for Hard 
to Place Children in June 2014 which will run over a 6 week period throughout 
the Kent County in the hope of finding a family. It is anticipated that these 
children will also be identified to attend the Adoption Activity Day in 
September 2014.   
 
Family finding has been challenging for these girls because of a combination 
of factors which include Sarah’s emerging “special needs”. It is not possible to 
give any information about a diagnosis or prognosis for Sarah, which any 
adopter must have in order for their interest to progress. 
In addition it is the Local Authority plan to place the children together, these 
children have very different needs and it has proved hard to identify a family 

Page 131



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

that either wish to or can meet the combined needs of both girls. Once a 
diagnosis for Sarah is known, it will enable the family finding activity to be 
more focused and concentrated.  
3.3 Child from mixed ethnic background 
Mikey DOB – 25.04.09 
 
Ethnicity - White British/Black African heritage 
 
Placement Order – 14.02.2014 
  
Mikey is a dual heritage child of White British/Black African heritage. Mikey is 
described as a well-mannered and bright little boy. Mikey lived in the care of 
his birth mother for the first 3.5 years and then moved into foster care in 
December 2012 where he remains settled.  
 
Mikey is a delightful and energetic little boy. He is very particular with his 
routines and needs predictability or preparation for any change. He was 
assessed to show on the autism-spectrum. For Mikey, he needs parents who 
can manage his special educational needs, learning style, cognitive and 
emotional development in order to be able to interpret his actions and 
behaviour and to respond and support him appropriately. Mikey has some 
input from a speech and language therapist.  
 
He enjoys playing with his foster sibling, a female aged 7. They enjoy 
interactive play such as chasing and running around. Mikey particularly enjoys 
direct contact with his older half-brother who is 11 years old and they enjoy 
rough and tumble.  
 
Mikey is noted to be a generally healthy boy and has a good night time and 
meal routine. In September 2013 he began full time education in reception 
year. Mikey interacts with other children and may lack some social 
awareness. He plays generally well with most of the children.  He has a 
willingness and curiosity to learn and great concentration. 
 
Since the granting of a Placement Order and Care Order, Mikey benefited 
from a high quality DVD and profile which has been circulated to all the 
voluntary agencies and national local authorities. Since his placement order 
was granted, Mikey has been profiled both locally and nationally at several 
family finding events. This includes 4 Kent profiling events (formally known as 
coffee mornings), 3 internal pop up profiling events and 5 national exchanges. 
His profile is featured on the National Adoption Register and he will be profiled 
in Be My Parent magazine for July 2014.  
 
This little boy will feature in a targeted marketing campaign for Hard to Place 
Children which will run over a 6 week period throughout the Kent County in 
the hope of finding a family. It is anticipated that Mikey will be identified to 
attend the Adoption Activity Day in September 2014.   
 
Both his dual heritage status and diagnosis of Autism could be an additional 
challenge when finding Mikey a new family however it is helpful to have 

Page 132



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

regular updates from his foster carer and social worker to share his significant 
progress in foster care.  
 
3.4  Family Finding Events  
 
The adoption service host regular profiling events for Kent children waiting 
and extend the invitation to the Voluntary Adoption Agencies and Local 
Authorities nationally. The purpose of these events is to bring the “child to life” 
in a meaningful and child focused way through high quality DVD’s, 
photographs, meeting the childcare social worker and family finder for the 
specific child and sometimes the foster carer. It is acknowledged that many of 
the children waiting do not translate well on paper and events such as these 
are an opportunity to explore the children needs versus the adopters straight 
and vulnerabilities. In essence it allows the adopters take the lead in finding 
the right child for their family.   
 
Within the last twelve months, the adoption service has increased the scope 
and frequency of family finding activities which include:  

• Bimonthly Profiling Events – formerly known as coffee mornings. This 
is an event where children profiles and DVD’s are shared with adopters 
approved and waiting and those nearing the end of their assessment to 
have an opportunity to meet with childcare, family finders, foster carers 
to gain insight into the background and needs of the children waiting.  

 
This profiling event is a form of adopter led matching and is one of our most 
successful methods for matching children with adopters.  
 

• National Exchange Days – The Adoption Register organises regular 
adoption exchange days, at which prospective adopters can view 
children’s profiles and DVD’s of children waiting across all national 
Local Authorities and Voluntary Adoption Agencies. The Adoption 
Register annual report in 2012/13 confirmed a total of 88 children were 
successfully placed with adopters.  

• Kent Exchange Day – This is similar to National Exchange Days with 
the main difference being that Kent host and organise this event twice 
a year and invite all National Local Authorities, Consortium Members  
and Voluntary Adoption Agencies approved and awaiting adopters and 
soon to be approved adopters to consider the Kent children waiting for 
adoption.  

Our most recent Kent exchange was held in March 2104 and attended by 
Jenny Whittle, Kent County Councils Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services - “It was great to see so many families willing to open their homes to 
give a child a better future at the exchange. One of the challenges we are 
facing is finding parents who can offer all sorts of homes to many different 
types of children”. 
 
Here are some quotes from attendees at the event: 
Kent approved adopter said: 
“We took away several profiles of children and we have already spoken to our 
social worker about one little girl to find out more. I would definitely 
recommend this event to other people.” 
 

Page 133



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

National Adoption Register representative said: 
“This was an excellent event with a lot of prospective adopters attending. It is 
a great opportunity for us to engage with a large number of adopters and talk 
about children who are in need of families. It is great that agencies hold days 
like this to enable adopters to find out more about the children they could give 
a loving home to.” 
 

• Pop up profiling event – is an internal initiative designed to engage 
assessment social worker to gain an insight into the profiles of children 
waiting and to help identify suitable children for their adopters to 
consider. This event is currently being developed to offer a more 
personalised service to identified adopters who are approved and 
waiting, where it is not yet clear on what child may best fit with their 
family.  

• Linking Meetings – are monthly meetings that are hosted by family 
finding to consider the adopters that are approved and waiting and 
identify potential links to explore. 

• Adoption Link – is a new adoption database that has been developed 
by adopters to enable adopters as they are approved to consider inter 
agency placements in a transparent manner. There are currently 280 
approved adopters already registered with this site and Kent is now 
beginning to utilise it as a family finding option for Kent children waiting.  

• Targeted Marketing and Recruitment Campaign for hard to place 
children – this relates to 45 children who will be featured in a county 
wide marketing campaign across Kent over a six week period. This 
activity is detailed further in the report. 

• Adoption Activity Day – a highly successful event was held In July 2013 
with a success rate of 16 children successfully matched and placed 
with adoptive families. A Kent Adoption Activity Day is currently being 
planned for the summer of 2014.   

 
Combined with all of these events, there is a real need to recruit adopters who 
are willing and able to adopt the specific children we are trying to place. It was 
felt that marketing recruitment activity could play an important role in helping 
Kent Adoption to address this issue. 
 
 
4.0 Context - Recruitment marketing activity undertaken last year 
 
4.1 Range of awareness raising activities 
 
The main marketing recruitment activities, steered and monitored by the 
Adoption Recruitment Marketing Group2, included: 

• National Adoption Week multi-channel activity (November 2013) 
including adoption open information event promotion 

• Public relations with favourable broadcast and print coverage 
(especially surrounding the first Activity Day in Kent which was featured 
in The Times, The Guardian and The Daly Mail. 

• Major web content refresh including several videos 
                                            
2 The Adoption Recruitment Marketing Group (ARM Group) has created a closer working partnership 
between the Kent Adoption Service and KCC’s Central Communications Team.  

Page 134



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

• Regular social media retweets and mentions 
• Marketing support for “in-process” activities including events, 

information packs and adoption support services. 
 
Samples of the visuals from selected marketing activities are included for 
information as Appendix 1, showing the now well-established look and feel 
used across all aspects of our adoption recruitment marketing activities.  
 
4.2 Increased initial enquiries 
 
The key objective for KCC’s marketing recruitment activity, and so the main 
metric measured to gauge its success, is the number of enquiries received by 
the Adoption Service’s Initial Enquiries Team. There was a 38.5% increase in 
the total number of enquiries received by this team from April 2013 to March 
2014, compared to the same period 2012/13. 
 
 

  
 
4.3 Increased web traffic 
 
Web traffic statistics show a marked increase in web traffic compared to the 
previous year. Comparing July 2012 to March 2013 and July 2013 to March 
20143 the number of page views has almost doubled. The number of users 
visiting the site has increased by 120% compared to the same period last 
year. 
 

 
                                            
3 The date range July to March was selected for year on year comparison because the site 
was launched in July 2012, so there is no traffic data from March 2012 to June 2013 for 
comparison. 

Page 135



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

 

 5.0 Current adoption recruitment marketing activity 
 

Building on the gains made last year, the challenge now is to urgently find 
adopters for children who have been waiting a long time. This relates to the 
following groups of children:  

• children who have a great deal of unknown and uncertainty about their 
future health and development 

• Siblings groups, especially 2 or more boys which is not only pertinent 
to Kent but also a national challenge 

• Older children with the age of 3+ nationally being considered as “too 
old” 

• Child with a disability 
• Child with a  diverse ethnicity 

 
Since the latter end of 2013 and beginning of 2014, there has been a 
significant reduction in the numbers of Placement Orders being granted in 
Kent and nationally. For example in April 2014; The Local Authority had only 
four placement orders granted. This is comparably low with this time last year, 
where on average there were 18 to 20 placement orders per month.  
 
The other significant factor is that the age range and profile of children 
currently available for adoption has radically evolved within the last year. In 
2013 there were a high number of babies and young children waiting for 
adoption who were considered attractive to adopters and resulted in several 
successful adoptions. This year however the profile of children is challenging, 
where children are removed from birth family at an older age and adoption is 
their care plan. 
 
The changing cycle of adoption has greatly impacted the balance of “supply 
and demand” and it is has led to the adoption service and childcare partners 
to collaboratively engage with the communications team to consider 
innovative methods of finding families for our more harder to place children.  
This section sets out the Adoption Recruitment Marketing Group’s planned 
approach to tackling this issue in Kent 
.  
5.1 Marketing communications aims and objectives 
 
The main purpose of the marketing activity remains to encourage initial 
contact with the Adoption Service through the IET Service. Secondary 
objective is to increase website visitors (as a stepping stone on their way to 
contacting IET). However, this time, we need adopters to be contacting IET 
with either a) a specific intention to adopt a harder to place child, disabled 
child, sibling group or older child and/or b) a better general understanding and 

Page 136



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

more realistic expectations early on about the sorts of children available for 
adoption. 
 
5.2 Overall strategy 

 
We are advertising six children to demonstrate particular circumstances 
(disability, siblings, older children). Those advertisements (and other activity 
such as social media and PR) will be used to drive the following responses 
(“calls to action”): 
 

1) Text a short number (88802) so that a member of the Family Finding 
Team or other children social worker can call them back to discuss 
their particular circumstances and the child they have expressed an 
interest in. 

2) Visit the kentadoption.co.uk website where they can find more details 
of the children awaiting adoption 

3) From the website, call the family finding social worker of the individual 
child they would like to find out more about adoption. 

4) Contact the Initial Enquiries Team for find out more and register to 
attend an information event 

5) Attend the adoption Open Information Event planned for 19 July. 
 
5.3 Radio advertising 

 
Radio advertising will run on the Heart FM (Kent) station from mid-June to for 
4 to 6 weeks. Radio ads focus on one of 4 children, each with their own 
specific challenges. The radio ads feature the “voice of the child” (performed 
by actors from a script based on an actual child’s story). Real names will not 
be used following legal advice. The call to action on the ads would be to visit 
the Kent Adoption website or to use the special text response SMS system. 
 
5.4 Supporting activity 

 
We are also, for first time, publishing written profiles of all the children waiting 
(though it is felt that to publish all of them at the same time would be 
somewhat overwhelming for prospective adopters, so they will be rotated with 
about 10 to 15 children’s profiles on the site at any one time). The campaign 
is also being boosted by social media (Twitter), online advertising on 
Facebook (pay-per-click) and media relations work during the period of 
activity.  In addition we would run profile-led print advertising in specialist / 
niche disabilities and impairment-related publications as well as print 
advertising for the Open Information Event on 19 July. 
 
5.5 Why radio? 

 
We are recommending radio because: 

• It has a wider reach compared to print advertising (this would give us 
an estimated reach of 492,000 adults in Kent). 

• Print advertising is more expensive (local print advertising reaching 
242,551 would cost £22,560) 

• Cheaper print media wouldn’t give us the reach we need. 
• Better targeting of adverts means a greater likelihood that enquiries 

generated will lead to attending an information event. 
Page 137



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

• Anonymity / privacy issues are easier to deal with on radio advertising 
than in print 

• We can create an emotional connection using the audio 
 
Generally, well-planned campaigns involving a consistent message spread 
across a range of media are more likely to be successful than a reliance on 
single channel. That is why the current approach (as dis the approach 
followed last year) involves multiple activities brought together with clear 
messages, a simple call to action and consistent branding. 
 
5.6 Resources  
 
A total budget of £15,000 has been allocated by the Adoption Service to cover 
the costs of the campaign. The majority of this will be spent on the radio 
advertising. The KCC External Communications Team in managing all 
communications activity including PR, events support, digital and campaign 
management.  
 
 
6.0 Recommendations 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to: 

• NOTE the course of action being taken by Kent Adoption 
• SUPPORT the campaign in their capacity as Corporate Parents and 

encourage other elected KCC Members to do the same.  

Page 138



Draft V0-5 | 050614 

Appendix 1 – selection of marketing materials from 2013 
 
 
Article in  
The Time  
supplement  
(story was  
also covered  
by the  
Guardian  
and the Daily  
Mail) 
 

Inspirational 
poster used at 
open information 
event, based on a 
Facebook posting 
of a Kent Adopter 

 
Improved 

information 
materials for 

people thinking 
about adoption 

Improved website user experience with 
structural changes and ongoing content updates 

Adoption 
calling card to 
support 
engagement 
activity 

Use of Twitter to 
widen campaign 

reach 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children Services 
 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director Families and Social Care  
To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 June 2014 

Subject: Update regarding the work of the  Head Teacher of Virtual School 
Kent (VSK) 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Summary: This report provides Members with an overview of the priorities for the 
Virtual School Head Teacher, and details;- 
• VSK Update 
 

 
1. Introduction  
(1) Further to the report received by the Corporate Parenting Panel at the last 
meeting, this report provides an overview of the progress made since this meeting of 
the Virtual School Kent.  
 
Significant developments include; 
 

• Local Raising Attainment Plan 2 Review update 
• Participation and Engagement update 
• Looked After Children Pupil Premium Grant (PP+) 

 
2. Locality Raising Attainment Plan 2 Review 
 

Ac. Year ‘07/8 ‘08/9 ‘09/10 ‘12/13 
 

%�� on 
baseline 

LRAP #2 
2013 

LRAP #2 
2014 

99 32.6% 31.6% 38% 44% � 16% 36% 44% 
100 28.3% 31.6% 43% 49% �14% 38% 44% 

National 
Indicator 

101 5.4% 6.3% 4.6% 15.3% �233% 13.1% 13.1% 
Performance 
Assessment 
Framework 

CF/C24 
25+days 
Absence 15% 15% 16.3% 9.5% �42% 

 
9.5% 

 
9.5% 

% Permanently 
Excluded 
(PEx) 1% 1% 1% 0.39% �61% 

 
0.4% 

 
0.4% 

Review Health 
Assessments   62.7% 93% � 44% 

 
90% 

 
93% 

 
 

Ofsted 
Target 
baseline 

 
   

 

Page 141

Agenda Item B2



 2 

Current performance predictions indicate yet another positive year for our young 
people. Key Stage 2 (end of year 6 in Primary School) English and Mathematics 
National Curriculum levels are set to increase by 8 and 6% respectively on last year’s 
predictions. All other key indicators are on line to maintain last year’s levels with the 
exception of Review Health Assessments which were impacted by the change in 
management system from ICS to Liberi last financial year therefore an expected 
improvement this financial year. 
 
3. Participation and Engagement Update 
 
There has been significant and sustained work on this work stream since the last 
report. Key developments include:- 

a) The update to the Care to Listen DVD has been made and the Leader of the 
Council, the Lead Member for SCS and the Chair of the CPP have met with 
some children in care and care leavers to discuss the film.  The DVD will be 
shown to the full Council in July. 

b) The leaflet outlining the Leaving Care Charter has been finalised and again will 
be shown to the full Council meeting in July.  The Lead Member for SCS has 
some ideas about how this might be launched, which will be discussed and 
progressed further. 

c) Development of the OCYPC continues to be a work in progress and an 
agreement has been reached to seek to incorporate the 16+ Forum, which 
includes older children in care and care leavers, to serve as the older section of 
the Council.  An away day is being planned during the Summer school holidays 
to strengthen the group and to take forward some good practice guidance which 
has recently been published by the  NCB & The Voice. This guidance was 
developed out of some regional one day workshops undertaken last year, which 
one of the VSK apprentices attended along with some Kent children in care, a 
Member of the Corporate Parenting Panel and an Officer. 

d) VSK has asked each social care district/area to nominate two social workers to 
serve as Participation Champions, to represent their area and develop closer 
links with the OCYPC.  

e) The Your Voice Matters survey has been undertaken and the responses are 
currently being analysed by the Business Intelligence Unit and a report will be 
produced and shared at the next Corporate Parenting Panel. 

f) A quarterly newsletter is produced by the apprentices within VSK, which was 
previously distributed via the social care and fostering teams.  However, 
agreement has been reached with the Children in Care Service Managers that in 
future VSK apprentices, on behalf of the OCYPC, will communicate directly with 
children in care, to ensure they receive communication designed for them in a 
timely way.  It is hoped this will also encourage improved interest in the 
membership of the OCYPC. 

g) Participation Activity days continue to be facilitated by VSK, with events planned 
during the summer school holidays.  VSK apprentices and staff also support 
other participation events organised such as the ‘Fun Day’ organised by the 
KFCA in East Kent for and the Dover Children in care’s team events which took 
place during the May school holidays and included children in care and their 
foster families. 

h) The Kent Pledge leaflet is being redesigned and will be launched in the 
Summer. 

Page 142



 3 

i) The LILAC Assessment is planned to take place between 29th September and 
1st October. 

j) VSK apprentices are supporting the work taking place with social care teams 
and the IRO Service to encourage and improve participation of children in care 
in their LAC reviews. 
 

4. Looked After Children Pupil Premium Grant(PP+) 
 
On the 20th February the Department for Education published the new Conditions of 
Grant for the Pupil Premium 2014-15. This marks the biggest shake up in the grant 
since its conception. There are numerous significant changes with in the document, 
however the main changes include:- 
 

• The amount    - As of April will be £1900 
• Responsibility - No longer goes directly to the school but is held by    

the Virtual School 
• Application  - Not £1900 per child but a lump sum for the VS to co-

ordinate support to raise attainment accelerate progress and narrow the 
attainment gap for children in care. 

 
These changes are very exciting for our young people, as the grant has real potential to 
make a positive impact. This may however cause friction between the schools and the 
Virtual School as they have historically received this money which was not ring fenced 
to be spent on our young people. This issue is further compounded by the late release 
of the conditions of grant so close to the start of the next financial year. 
To mitigate these issues, VSK are working closely with The Executive School Funding 
Forum, School Funding Forum,  Area Headteacher Networks and with KCC Finance 
Team. It is vital that we maintain our fantastic relationship with the schools so that we 
can work closely to maximise support for our young people. 
 
VSK are currently finalising our PP+ policy which will be circulated to every school, 
social work team, educational teams and foster carers throughout June and July. 
 

5.      Recommendations: 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to note: 
 

• Note progress made by the Virtual School Kent 
 
 
Tony Doran 
Virtual School Headteacher 
07921038094  
tony.doran@kent.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Documents:  
Other Useful Information:  Pupil Premium and thr role of the Virtual Head FAQ 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Pupil Premium and 
the role of the 
Virtual School Head 
2014-15 
Frequently asked questions 

March 2014 

Page 145



2 

What changes have been made to the conditions of grant for the Pupil 

Premium for looked after children in 2014-15? 

The conditions of grant state the following: 

Basis of the allocations to the local authority 
 
16. The Department will allocate a provisional allocation of £1,900 per child 
for the number of children looked after for at least one day as recorded in the 
March 2013 Children Looked After Data Return (SSDA903) and aged 4 to 15 
at 31 August 2012. This allocation will be updated and finalised in October 
2014 based on the number of children looked after for at least one day as 
recorded in the March 2014 Children Looked After Data Return (SSDA903) 
and aged 4 to 15 at 31 August 2013. 
 
Use of the Looked After Children Premium 
 
17. The grant allocation for Looked After Children must be managed by the 
designated Virtual School Head in the authority that looks after those children 
to be used for the benefit of the looked after child’s educational needs as 
described in their Personal Education Plan (PEP). The Virtual School Head 
should ensure there are arrangements in place to discuss with the child’s 
education setting – usually with the designated teacher – how the child will 
benefit from any pupil premium funding. The local authority is not permitted to 
carry forward funding held centrally into the financial year 2015-2016. 
 

 

The conditions of grant for the pupil premium arrangements in 2014-15 are published 

on the Department’s website and can be found 

here:https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2

83193/Pupil_Premium_CoG_2014-15.pdf 

What are the changes to the pupil premium arrangements for looked after 

children in 2014-15? 

There are three main changes: 

Firstly, looked after children attract a pupil premium of £1900, more than double the 

amount they attracted in 2013-14. 

Secondly, the cohort of looked after children who attract the pupil premium is bigger 

and includes children looked after from the first day of care rather than, as 

previously, only those who had been looked after for six months or more. 

Thirdly, for 2014-15 the pupil premium for looked after children must be managed by 

the virtual school head1 in the authority that looks after them. Unlike in previous 

                                            
1
 The Children and Families Act 2014 requires all local authorities to have someone (called the virtual 

school head) who will carry out the duty of the authority to promote the educational achievement of 
the children it looks after. 

Page 146

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/283193/Pupil_Premium_CoG_2014-15.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/283193/Pupil_Premium_CoG_2014-15.pdf


3 

years, there is no requirement for an authority to pass the funding onto the school 

where the child is on roll to contribute towards meeting the needs identified in their 

Personal Education Plan. The presumption, however, is funding is passed to the 

school and this is strongly encouraged. 

Why have the arrangements for managing the pupil premium for looked after 

children changed for 2014-15? 

The Department has changed the conditions of grant regarding how the pupil 

premium is managed for looked after children to reflect more effectively the particular 

challenges of supporting their education.  Now that virtual school heads will be 

statutory they will be responsible as part of the corporate parent role to promote the 

educational achievement of the children looked after by their authority. Ministers 

therefore want them to have a greater role in working with schools to ensure that 

duty is fulfilled. And now local authorities attract pupil premium for children from the 

first day of care giving the virtual school head management of the looked after pupil 

premium is administratively less bureaucratic. 

Does the virtual school head have to manage the budget or can this be 

delegated to a local authority finance team? 

The conditions of grant for 2014-15 states clearly that the pupil premium grant 

allocation must be managed by the designated virtual school head for the children 

looked after by the authority. This has statutory force. It is a virtual school head 

rather than a local authority finance team who is best placed to know how to use 

pupil premium to maximise the benefits to looked after pupils. Virtual school heads 

should consult finance teams about the best way to distribute funding to schools.  

Can the Director of Finance dictate that the pupil premium funding is passed 

directly to schools? 

The conditions of grant state that virtual school heads should manage pupil premium 

funding. It is therefore for the virtual school head to decide how the pupil premium for 

looked after children is managed. That is an important part of how the virtual school 

head complies with the duty under the Children Act 1989 to promote the educational 

achievement of the children looked after by the authority.  

Does the virtual school head have to give the money to schools? 

There is no requirement to do so. There is, however, a strong expectation that virtual 

school, heads will pass on pupil premium funding onto a child’s education setting to 

be used to meet additional needs set out in his or her Personal Education Plan. That 

can be passed to the school on a termly or annual basis. Any funding not passed 

down to schools by the end of the financial year will have to be returned to the 

Department. 

Page 147



4 

Does the virtual school head have to give £1900 to schools or can they give a 

higher or lower amount? 

The conditions of grant state that grant allocation for looked after children must be 

managed by the virtual school head. It is for the virtual school head to decide 

whether to provide £1900 to a school for a looked after child or a higher or lower 

amount. They can also decide on whether to pay termly or annually. They can also 

link allocation to the content of the Personal Education Plan as agreed with the 

school.  

Can the virtual school head pool funding for some of the authority’s looked 

after children? 

The Department expects virtual school heads to manage the pupil premium to 

ensure that it promotes the educational achievement of all the children looked after 

by the authority.  It may be appropriate to pool some pupil premium for activities to 

benefit the authority’s looked after children more holistically.  For example, it might 

be appropriate to use this funding to provide training for a group of designated 

teachers across the authority or a group of Teaching Alliance schools.    

Equally, a virtual school head might negotiate with a school regarding pooling pupil 

premium funding for looked after children with the school’s pupil premium to provide 

an enhanced and more intensive package of support for disadvantaged children 

generally.  

Does the pupil premium for looked after children need to be passed to non-

mainstream schools? 

There is no requirement to do so There should be a discussion about what provision 

is being delivered and what would be provided in addition to that in accordance with 

the child’s Personal Education Plan, if the pupil premium funding was passed on to 

the non-mainstream education setting. 

Can the pupil premium for looked after children fund a post in the virtual 

school? 

Pupil premium is additional funding provided to raise the achievement of looked after 

pupils and close the achievement gap.  It is not intended to fund posts that should be 

the responsibility of local authorities as a corporate parent.  

There may be instances where some pupil premium funding can be used to support 

the work of a person where it can be very clearly demonstrated that their role has a 

significant contribution to promoting the educational achievement of the children 

looked after by the authority. That role could, for example, involve working with 

schools to raise the quality of learning targets in a child’s Personal Education Plan. 

Page 148



5 

Can some of the pupil premium for looked after children be spent on providing 

other central services that support their education? 

Pupil premium funding is additional funding provided to support schools to raise the 

achievement of disadvantaged pupils, including looked after children. It should not 

be used to fund central services that would reasonably be expected to be funded by 

local authorities, to comply with their duty to promote the educational achievement of 

the children they look after.  As stated above, however, virtual school heads are 

responsible for managing the efficient use of pupil premium funding for the purpose it 

has been provided. They will therefore need to demonstrate a direct link between 

spending and raising standards of achievement for the children looked after by their 

authority, wherever they are placed.   

Are virtual school heads accountable for the use and impact of the pupil 

premium on the achievement of looked after children, in the same way as head 

teachers? 

Virtual school heads are responsible for making sure there are effective 

arrangements in place for allocating pupil premium funding to benefit children looked 

after by their authority.  That means: 

 

 making sure that pupil premium funding for looked after children is spent 

effectively and fully, given any underspend needs to be returned to the 

Department at the end of the financial year; 

 

 being able to demonstrate how pupil premium funding managed by the virtual 

school head is linked to raising achievement for looked after children and 

closing the gap between their achievement and that of their peers; and 

 

 having arrangements in place to engage with the looked after child’s school 

(usually with the designated teacher) about how pupil premium funding 

allocated to the school is contributing to meet the needs identified in his/her 

Personal Education Plan. 

 
Schools are accountable for the educational attainment and progress of all 

disadvantaged pupils who attract pupil premium on their roll, through Ofsted 

inspections and KS2/KS4 school performance tables. Virtual school heads and 

others involved in Personal Education Plans will want a constructive dialogue with 

schools about how best to support looked after children using the pupil premium. 

 

The Ofsted framework for the inspection of children looked after services states that, 

as part of the performance information required, the inspector will ask for the annual 

report of the virtual school head.  We would expect that to include information about 

how the pupil premium has been managed and the impact it has made.   

Page 149



6 

But to whom is the virtual school head accountable within their local 

authority? 

That depends on the line management arrangements in individual local authorities.  

Ultimately, however, the virtual school head is accountable to the Director of 

Children’s Services and/or the Chief Executive and the Lead Member for Children. 

How should the funding be allocated for looked after children in 2014-15 when 

the funding is based on one-year old data in the SSDA903? 

It is important to distinguish the basis on which funding is allocated to local 

authorities from SSDA903 data and how that funding is managed by the virtual 

school head to support those children who are looked after during the 2014-15 

period.  

The provisional allocation is based on the number of children looked after for at least 

one day and aged 4 to 15 at 31 August 2012, as submitted in the SSDA903 in March 

2013. This allocation is updated and finalised in October 2014, based on the number 

of children looked after for at least one day and aged 4 to 15 at 31 August 2013, as 

submitted in the SSDA903 in March 2014. 

This funding should be managed by the virtual head teacher so it is used to support 

those children looked after by the local authority for one day or more during the 

2014-15 period. This needs to take account of the fact that children move in and out 

of care. 

How should virtual school heads give schools funding for children who have 

been looked after for a very short period? 

It is up to virtual schools heads to manage pupil premium funding for looked after 

children during the 2014-15 period. Although £1900 is allocated for each looked after 

child, irrespective of how long they have been in care, this does not necessarily 

mean that virtual head teachers are expected to manage the funding on the same 

basis to schools. Virtual head teachers can therefore manage the funding to take 

account of the length of time in care, as well as other factors, if they wish. The 

funding, however, should always be to support the educational achievement of the 

looked after child, as described in their Personal Education Plan. 

Can the virtual school head carry over pupil premium funding to 2015-16? 

No.  Any pupil premium funding that has not been passed to schools or spent by 31 

March 2015 must be returned to the Department. 

 

 

Page 150



7 

Can we give foster carers the pupil premium to spend rather than give it to 

schools? 

The virtual school head manages pupil premium funding to support the education of 

looked after children, as set out in the Personal Education Plan. The expectation is 

that this funding is passed to schools unless there are clear reasons not to do this. It 

should not be used for activity that the local authority should normally be expected to 

fund as the corporate parent, such as support for foster carers. Foster carers, 

however, have an essential role in supporting the education of the children for whom 

they care. Foster carers can therefore make a valuable contribution, such as with the 

Personal Education Plan.  

Does the pupil premium for 2014-15 work in the same way as personal 

education allowances did? 

No. The pupil premium is not a replacement for the personal education allowance.  

The pupil premium is much more focussed on support to improve the educational 

achievement of looked after children and close the gap between looked after children 

and their peers.  

Can virtual school heads impose conditions on how schools use the pupil 

premium for looked after children? 

We want local authorities to have a constructive and meaningful dialogue with the 

schools on the most effective use of the funding and not impose conditions. The 

funding should support children’s Personal Educational Plan, overseen by the 

designated teacher in the school.  

Can a school insist that they get £1900 for a looked after child on roll? 

It is up to the virtual school head to decide how the funding is managed, including 

how funding is distributed to schools. Although £1900 is allocated for each looked 

after child, irrespective of how long they have been in care, this does not necessarily 

mean that virtual head teachers are expected to manage the funding on the same 

basis to schools. Virtual school heads should also work closely with schools about 

how best to meet the needs identified in a child’s Personal Education Plan with 

support provided through the pupil premium.  

Can an amount be held by the virtual school head to administer the grant? 

Pupil premium funding is additional funding provided to support schools to raise the 

achievement of disadvantaged pupils, including looked after children. It should not 

be used to fund central services such as the virtual school head to administer the 

funding. The pupil premium should be used to provide additional support for looked 

after children in order to raise the achievement of looked after children.  

Page 151



8 

What tips have virtual school heads got to share about how they have worked 

with schools up to now in how the pupil premium is used? 

Talk to other virtual school heads in your area through the virtual school head 

regional structures.     

 

Department for Education 

 

 

Page 152



 

By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children Services 
 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director Families and Social Care  

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 June 2014 

Subject: INDEPENDENT REVIEW OFFICER SERVICE QUARTERLY 
UPDATE 

 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Summary: 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation: 

The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Update for Quarter 4, 
January to March 2014 is attached as: 

• IRO Quality Assurance Report 
• Feedback from surveys and participation 

 
Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to note and comment on the 
IRO quarterly update. 

 
1. Introduction  
 

(1) The IRO quarterly quality assurance report (Appendix 1) provides an overview 
of performance and practice with respect to children and young people in care 
who are under the responsibility of Kent County Council. Appendix 2 provides 
feedback from surveys and children and young people participation. 

 
2. Context 
 

(1) The Department for Health’s Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Handbook 
requires the local authority’s IRO Manager to produce an annual report for the 
scrutiny of elected members and the corporate parenting board. 

 
 
3. Recommendations 
 
 (1) The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to note and comment on the 
IRO quarterly update. 

 
 
Background documents: 
 
Appendix 1: Independent Reviewing Officer Quality Assurance Report: Q4, 2013/14 
Appendix 2: Survey responses and Children & Young People Participation: Q4 13/14 
 
Contact details: 
Paul Brightwell 
Performance and Quality Assurance Manager (LAC) 
Tel: 01622 694308 Email: Paul.Brightwell@kent.gov.uk 

Page 153

Agenda Item B3



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Independent Review Officer Service quality assurance report 
Quarter 4 (January 2014 to March 2014)  

 
Introduction 
 
This report summarises the quality assurance work undertaken by Independent 
Reviewing Officers (IROs) during the fourth quarter of 2013/14 (January to March 
2014) with respect to the level of IRO and social work practice and performance 
for children in the care of Kent County Council.   
 
The report is divided into 4 sections: 
 

• Section 1 – Workload 
• Section 2 – IRO practice and performance 
• Section 3 – Social work practice and performance 
• Section 4 – Children and young people’s views  

 
Due to the recent implementation of a new children’s Information System (Liberi) 
in December 2013, it has not been possible to provide information in time for this 
report on the proportion of reviews chaired within timescales or the percentage of 
review minutes completed within 15 working days.  It is expected that this 
information will be made available in time for inclusion in the IRO Management 
Report for 2013/14, which is expected to be finalised in June 2014. 
 
Key headlines 
 

• Children in care numbers have stabilised over the year period, although 
there remain fluctuations on a daily and monthly basis. 

• IRO caseloads have been steadily reducing, although this needs to 
continue in order to enable IROs to be as effective as possible in their 
case oversight role. 

• There has been some improvement in participation of children at their 
reviews, especially in relation to the number chairing all or some of their 
reviews.  Further work is required to strengthen further participation and 
involvement, including outside of the review. 

• The IRO service receives a late notification of children coming in to care in 
approximately a fifth of cases. 

• There has been a significant drop in the number of formal escalations 
made by IROs.   

• The percentage of care plans that are meeting the child / young person’s 
needs continues to improve.  The work underpinning the care plan is of a 
much higher consistency, which suggests that Social Workers do not 
always effectively translate all that they are doing into a written plan. 
Further work is also required around the implementation of the plan within 
the child / young person’s timeframe, although this has also improved. 

• There has been a significant drop in the proportion of Social Worker’s 
reports for the review graded as satisfactory or better since the last quarter.  
A key factor remains the timeliness of these reports being completed and 
provided to the IRO before the review. 

• The majority of children and young people (95.8%) are considered to be 
receiving their Pledge commitments – although only 15% of children / 

Page 155



 2 

young people report in the consultation questionnaires that they know 
what the Pledge is.   

• 70% of children / young people who responded to the leaving care survey 
said they found it difficult to get the support and help they needed after 
leaving care. 

 

Section 1:  Workload 
 
The number of children and young people in care 
 
At the end of Quarter 4 there were 1842 children and young people in the care of 
Kent County Council. This is a rise of 11 when compared with the number of 
children and young people in care at the end of March 2013 (1831). 
 
Of these 1842 children and young people, 1624 were UK citizens and 218 were 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC).  Compared to end of March 
2013, the number of UK citizen children in care had decreased by 17 and the 
number of UASC in care had increased by 28.   
 

    
A breakdown of the number of children and young people in care by Area/Service 
as at 31st March 2014 is presented in the PIE chart below:  
 

  

Page 156



 3 

The overall distribution of children in care across the authority and by service 
remains relatively unchanged, although it does reflect the slight increases in the 
numbers of children in care in the East Kent Area, the Service for 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers, Catch 22 (16plus) and the Children’s Disability 
Service, while North Kent, West Kent and the South Kent Area have all had 
decreases.   
 
IRO caseloads 
 
The IRO service comprises of 22 full-time or equivalent (FTE) IRO’s.  Three of 
these posts (both within the South / East Area team) are currently filled by 
agency staff until permanent IROs can be recruited.  The service also has a 
reserve of 2 IROs under zero hour contract arrangements, who are called upon 
to assist when vacancies arise and / or when the main constituent of IROs are 
unable to chair due to sickness.  Work is currently being undertaken to review the 
structure of the IRO service in order to ensure that it is delivering an effective 
service.  A key focus of the review is on how to improve the level of recruitment 
of IROs with relevant Team Manager experience, which is a key attribute outlined 
in the statutory guidance within Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 (IRO 
Handbook).  This review is also looking at whether the number of FTE IROs 
needs to increase from 22 FTE to 24 FTE in order to ensure that caseloads are in 
line with the statutory guidance of no more than 70 children in care per FTE IRO.   
 
IRO caseloads were at 83.72 per FTE IRO by the end of the Q4 period.  This 
represents a slight drop of 3.78 cases per FTE IRO when compared with Q1, 
although caseloads have risen by approximately 0.5 per FTE IRO when 
compared with caseload sizes in Q2.   
 
Actual caseloads currently average 86.3 as a result of some IRO vacancies.  This 
is mainly affecting the SK/EK IRO Team, which has an average caseload of 89.3.  
This issue is being addressed through the recruitment of new IROs.   
 
 

The number of reviews chaired 
No optimum performance defined 

 
A total of 1251 reviews were chaired during the Quarter 4 period, which 
represents a decrease of 134 when compared with the Quarter 4 period of 
2012/13 (1385).   
 
Over a full year period, the IRO service has chaired 5220; a decrease of 176 
when compared with 2012/13. 

 
Section 2: IRO performance 
 

 
The % of reviews chaired by the IRO service 
  No optimum performance defined 

 
The IRO service chaired 99.9% of all reviews chaired during quarter 4; an 
increase in performance of 0.6% when compared with the Q3 period, 0.5% when 

Page 157



 4 

compared with Q2 period (99.4%) and 0.1% when compared with the Q4 period 
of 2012/13. 
 
Performance for the whole year is at 99.5%, which reflects an increase of 0.2% 
when compared with 2012/13. 
 

  
 

 
Participation of child/young person at Statutory Review 
Further improvement required 

 
The IRO service and the operational social work teams have joint responsibility 
and accountability for this area of practice. 
 
During Q4 period, 4% of children and young people (excluding children under the 
age of 4 years) did not participate in their review (96% participated at some level). 
This represents a slight drop (0.7%) when compared with the Q3 period (96.7%) 
although a slight improvement (0.3%) when compared with the Q4 period of 
2012/13 (95.5%). 
 
The average performance for the whole year (213/14) showed a participation 
level of 96.9%; an improvement of 0.3% when compared with performance in 
2012/13. 
 
While these findings reflect a generally improving picture with respect to 
participation and involvement of children in care at their reviews, further work is 
still needed to increase performance higher.  There is an expectation that all 
children and young people in care over 4 years of age should be participating at 
some level in their reviews.    Participation is a focus outside of the review; in 
everyday practice.  IROs should be using their oversight to ensure that children’s 
views are recorded in their own words on assessments and plans made about 
them and that information about how to complain and access advocacy services 
is provided as a matter of course at every child in care review meeting.    
 
 

Page 158



 5 

 
Children and young people chairing their own review meetings 

 Further improvement required 
 
There has been a 390% increase in performance with respect to the number of 
children and young people chairing all or part of their reviews over the whole year.  
During this quarter 4 period, 78 children and young people were enabled to chair 
part of their reviews, with a further 4 young people chairing the whole review 
meting (82 in total).  This compared with 8 in the Q3 period of 202/13, 21 during 
the previous Q4, 31 in Q1, 48 in Q2 and 72 in Q3. 
 
 

 
 
 
Section 3: Social work performance and practice 

 
Late notifications of reviews 
Performance is poor 

 
A late notification is defined as 2 or more days after the child has come in to care.  
A delay in the IRO service being notified promptly delays an IRO being appointed 
and makes it harder to ensure that the initial review takes place on time. 
 
The IRO service received 32 late notifications from operational social work teams 
during the Q4 period.  This represents 20.3% of all children and young people 
(158) beginning care episodes during this period.  When compared with the Q3 
period, there has been a slight decrease in performance of 1.2% although Q4 
performance is better than Q1 (22.4%) and Q2 (23.7%) and the average for the 
year as a whole (21.4%).   
 
When compared with performance during Q4 of 2012/13 (15.8% late 
notifications), there has been a drop in performance of 4.5%. This has been 
raised with the Assistant Directors responsible, emphasising the need for each 
area to have a named admin link to the IRO service to ensure timely notifications. 
 

Page 159



 6 

 

 
 

 
Escalations / IRO challenges 
Performance is good 

 
During this quarter period, of the 1246 cases reported on by IROs, 91 formal 
disputes (7.3%) were raised under KCC’s IRO dispute procedures; requiring the 
local authority to address the issue within 20 working days.  A further 129 
challenges (10.4%) were raised informally by IROs during the Q4 period. 
 
Of the 91 formal disputes, 78 (85.7%) were addressed at the level of Team 
Manager, 12 were escalated to Service Managers, and 1 was escalated to the 
Assistant Director level before a resolution was achieved.  No cases required 
being raising formally to the Divisional Director for Specialist Children’s Services 
or higher.   
 
There has been a marked drop of 9.1% in the overall number of disputes made 
by IROs compared to the Q3 period (September to December 2013) (from 26.8% 
to 17.7%), although this is qualified by a rise in Q4 in the number of disputes that 
have been made formally; 5.4% in Q3 compared with 7.3% in Q4.  When Q4 is 
compared with the previous Q4 in 2012/13, this shows a significant drop in the 
number of disputes made; from 54.7% to 17.7%, with formal disputes reducing 
from 15.8% to 7.3%. 
 
The average % of cases where an IRO challenge has been made over 2013/14 
is 30.6%.  The drop in disputes that has been evident over the last year and a 
half is likely to be down to overall improvements in Social Work practice as well 
as IROs being more focussed and balanced on how they use their powers; 
balancing the need for effective challenge along with support to help get things 
done.  This improvement can be evidenced in the quality of care planning activity, 
including the implementation of plans that has been evident in IRO QA reports 
over this time period.      

Page 160



 7 

 
The single main focus of IRO disputes was on the care plan / pathway plan, 
accounting for 39% of all disputes issued (formal and informal). 
There does remain some variation between operational Areas / Services in the 
number of escalations, which is shown in the table below:  
 

 
 
Quality of practice 
 
Since April 2013, the IRO service has moved the majority of its quality assurance 
focus from process driven activities onto the quality of social work practice and 
activities that are more closely associated with positive outcomes for children and 
young people in care. 
 
At the present time, this focuses heavily on care planning, including the core 
activities that underpin a good plan and its implementation, the quality of the 
social work report for the statutory review, and the delivery of Kent’s Pledge to 
our children and young people in care. 
 

Care Plans 
  Performance needs improving 

 
Of the 1135 QA audits undertaken by IROs during the Q4 period, 916 were 
deemed to be of a sufficient standard or better (80.7%), while 219 (19.3%) were 
considered inadequate.   
 
This finding confirms an ongoing improvement in performance in care planning 
which has been evident over the last year and a half.  For example, in Q3 of 
2012/13 65.8% of plans reached a satisfactory level or higher, which improved to 
75.4% in Q4 of 2012/13, 74.8% in Q1, 78% in Q2 and 79.9% in Q3. 
 
Performance is higher when evaluating the activity that goes on in order to form a 
care plan.  This activity is based around 12 core components that make up a 
good plan that are individually graded by IROs after each review.  Overall, the 
IROs findings equates to a performance potential of 90.9% during the Q4 period, 
which has improved from a baseline of 84.5% at the start of the year in Q1.  In 

Page 161



 8 

addition, the quality of implementation of the care plan has also improved, from 
81% in Q1 to 84.9% in Q4.   
 
The discrepancy between performance in relation to the care plan grading and 
the grading of the core components that make a good plan highlight that further 
work is needed to help Social Workers produce clear and cogent plans which 
does full justice to the work they are doing.  The need to conceptualise the plan 
into a coherent whole is important to ensure that in the event of a change of 
worker or intervention by another agency/team, that there is a clear 
understanding of the plan for the child / young person.   
 
Further work by IROs is taking place to improve care planning over 2014/15.  
This includes strengthening the way in which IROs report on the quality of 
contingency planning, which from June 2014 is included as a core component of 
the care plan which is given a quality assurance grading.  Contingency plans that 
respond to issues which, on a balance of probability may occur in the foreseeable 
future, help to ensure that care plans are future proofed, help children to achieve 
their potential and reduce the risk of drift in care.  Some areas where contingency 
planning may be needed focus on placement stability, children at risk of going 
missing from care, education, health and contact with family.   
 
The IRO service will also be providing workshops for Social Workers on Care 
Planning.  Future QA reports will also be separating out IRO grading of care 
plans to highlight the proportion graded good or better.   
 

  
 
A summary of the findings in relation to the core elements that make up a good 
plan is presented below:  
 

 
Achieving permanence for the child  
Performance is good 
 
Q4: 91.7% graded adequate or better (range 86.9% to 96.4%) 
Q3: 88.9% graded adequate or better (range 79.7% to 96%) 
Q2: 85.8% graded adequate or better (range 80% to 91%) 
Q1: 83.4% graded adequate or better (range 75% to 88%) 
2012/13: 80.1% adequate or better (range 73% to 87%) 
 

Page 162



 9 

 
 
Promotion of health needs 
Performance is good 
 
Q4: 94.4% graded adequate or better (range 82.7% to 100%) 
Q3: 93.7% graded adequate or better (range 83.8% to 98.4%) 
Q2: 92% graded adequate or better (range 83% - 97%) 
Q1: 91% graded adequate or better (range 74% - 100%) 
 
 
Promotion of educational needs 
Performance needs improving 

 
         Q4: 87.9% graded adequate or better (range 76.4% to 100%) 

Q3: 89.1% graded adequate or better (range 72.5% to 100%) 
Q2: 88.1% graded adequate or better (range 69% - 95%) 
Q1: 86.7% graded adequate or better (range 66% - 98%) 

 
 
Promotion of personal interest and activities 
Performance is good 

 
Q4: 95.1% graded adequate or better (range 78.6% to 100%) 
Q3: 93.9% graded adequate or better (range 82.2% to 100%) 
Q2: 95.2% graded adequate or better (range 78% - 100%) 
Q1: 89.9% graded adequate or better (range 73% - 98%) 

 
 
The participation of the child/young person in developing their plan 
Performance is good 
 
Q4: 94.2% graded adequate or better (range 88.6% to 97.9%) 
Q3: 95.4% graded adequate or better (range 91.7% to 100%) 
Q2: 96% graded adequate or better (range 88% - 99%) 
Q1: 93.7% graded adequate or better (range 82% to 100%) 
2012/13: 86.1% adequate or better (range 82% to 93.5%) 
 

 
Promoting placement stability 
Performance is good 
 
Q4: 94.3% graded adequate or better (range 83.3% to 98.2%) 
Q3: 94.2% graded adequate or better (range 80.1% to 98.4%) 
Q2: 92.9% graded adequate or better (range 81% - 97.5%) 
Q1: 91.2% graded adequate or better (range 73% to 96%) 
2012/13: 85.8% adequate or better (range 78% to 98%) 
 

 
Relationships with family and friends  
Performance is good 

 

Page 163



 10 

Q4: 97% graded adequate or better (range 88.4% to 98.9%) 
Q3: 94.7% graded adequate or better (range 83.7% to 100%) 
Q2: 91.5% graded adequate or better (range 81% - 97.5%) 
Q1: 89.8% graded adequate or better (range 75% to 100%) 
2012/13: 86.5% adequate or better (range 79% to 93%) 
 

 
Keeping children safe 
Performance needs improving 
 
Q4: 95.7% graded adequate or better (range 85.9% to 98.4%) 
Q3: 94.4% graded adequate or better (range 85.1% to 95.7%) 
Q2: 94.4% graded adequate or better (range 83% - 99%) 
Q1: 92.8% graded adequate or better (range 78% to 97%) 
2012/13: 89% adequate or better (range 87% to 93%) 

 
Transition planning 
Performance is good 
 
Q4: 94.2% graded adequate or better (range 92.7% to 97.1%) 
Q3: 93.1% graded adequate or better (range 88.6% to 97.3%) 
Q2: 92% graded adequate or better (range 83% - 96%) 
Q1: 91.3% graded adequate or better (range 76% to 97%) 
2012/13: 82% adequate or better (range 74% to 89%) 
 

 
Direct social work 
Performance needs improving 
 
Q4: 90.3% graded adequate or better (range 83.3% to 95.9%) 
Q3: 88% graded adequate or better (range 78.5% to 96.1%) 
Q2: 90.4% graded adequate or better (range 83% - 100%) 
Q1: 88.8% graded adequate or better (range 78% to 96%) 

 
 
Statutory visits 
Performance needs improving 
 
Q4: 82.9% graded adequate or better (range 78% to 96.4%) 
Q3: 83.7% graded adequate or better (range 77.1% to 96.8%) 
Q2: 90.4% graded adequate or better (range 77% - 94%) 
Q1: 85.1% graded adequate or better (range 72% to 93%) 

 
 
The Social Worker’s report for the review 
Performance is poor 

 
During Q4, the IRO service quality assured 1114 cases with respect to looking at 
the quality of the Social Worker’s report for the review.  Of these 773 (69.4%) 
were considered satisfactory or better.  This represents a significant drop in 
performance of 14.4% when compared with Q3 (83.8%) and the average for the 
year (82.6%).   

Page 164



 11 

 

  
 
Kent’s Pledge 
Performance is good 

 
The delivery of Kent’s Pledge to our children in care was quality assured by IROs 
in 1144 cases during the Q4 period. Of these, 1096 (95.8%) were deemed 
satisfactory or better in terms of how the Pledge was being delivered to the 
children and young people concerned.  This represents an improvement of 3.1% 
when compared with Q1. The average for the whole year (2013/14) is 93.9% 
based on 4677 quality assurance audits.  
 

  
 
Section 4: Children and young people’s views 
 
The IRO Service conducts a number of different surveys to ascertain children 
and young people’s views of the services that they receive.  This includes exit 
interviews, which are available to all children and young people aged 8 years 
plus who want to provide feedback on the services they receive at the point they 
leave care.  The IRO service also collects information from consultation 
questionnaires that are completed by children and young people to help them 
prepare for their review meetings. Further work is also undertaken by IROs 
through focus groups with disabled children, unaccompanied asylum seekers and 
older young people in care in order to develop a rounder picture of the key issues 
affecting them.   

Page 165



 12 

 
A detailed report setting out the findings from this work over quarter 4 is 
presented at appendix 1.  Below is a summary of the key findings from the IRO 
surveys for the Q4 period below: 
 

• 10 children / young people completed the exit interview survey in Q4, 
which represent a response rate of around 20% 

• 100% said they understood their plan 
• 90% said they felt able to give their views and that they were considered 
• 80% said they felt their IRO had kept an eye on their case between 

reviews 
• 60% said their IRO had been helpful (this compares with 90% for social 

workers and 80% for carers) 
• 70% felt it had been difficult to get support after leaving care 

 
The following key messages came from 151 responses (a 12% response rate) 
that children and young people had made in their consultation questionnaires 
during the Q4 period: 
 

• 84% said that they understood their care plan 
• 68% said they knew how to make a complaint 
• 15% said they knew about Kent’s Pledge 
• 6% said they would like to chair some or all of their review meeting 

 
 
Paul Brightwell Head of Quality Assurance, Children’s Safeguarding Unit 
Specialist Children’s Services Division 
Families and Social Care Directorate 
Kent County Council FSC 
Tel: 01622 694308   email: Paul.Brightwell@kent.gov.uk 
 
3rd January 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
              = Improving performance                 = Good performance 
             
 
              = Unchanged performance               = Improvement required 
 
 
              = Drop in performance                      = Performance is poor 
 
 
             = No optimum performance defined 

Page 166



1 

Independent Reviewing Officer Report 
Feedback from Surveys and Children and Young People 

Participation – Quarter 4, January – March 2014.  
  
This report focuses on the findings from surveys of Children and young people leaving care (Exit 
interviews). The report will also provide feedback from Children and young people consultation 
leaflets, focus group and participation at their review meeting. 
 
The report is divided into 6 sections 

Section 1: Introduction 
Section 2: Feedback from surveys 
Section 3: Participation – children and young people chairing their own reviews 
Section 4: Children and young people consultation leaflets 
Section 5: Feedback from Focus Groups 
Section 6: Analysis and conclusion 
 

Section 1: INTRODUCTION 
Since January 2014, the IRO service began to focus mainly on surveys of children and young 
people leaving care (exit interview), children and young people consultation leaflets and focus 
groups to obtain views of children and young people about the services being provided for them. 
 
The rest of the surveys – Children and young people, parents, professional and carers surveys can 
be completed on line at any time. 
The children and young people’s surveys have also been incorporated into Virtual School Kent 
(VSK) E-PEP process. 
The benefit of this change is to minimise the number of surveys within the directorate, to avoid 
repetition, increase the response rate and run surveys through an independent source. 
 

Section 2: FEEDBACK FROM SURVEYS  
 
Survey of young people leaving care 
 
The leaving care survey (exit interview) of children and young people leaving care at different 
stages of their care episode was introduced by the IRO service in April 2013. This group of children 
are required to feedback on their experiences of being in care and services they received. Since its 
implementation, it is continuing to be a slow progress either because the young people do not want 
to complete the survey on their own and return to IRO service or they are not interested in 
completing them. Some children and young people have stated that they do not want to be 
reminded about their experiences in care.  
 

Further work is being developed to encourage children and young people to complete the surveys. 
 
 
A total of 10 young people responded to the survey, an increase of 2 compared to quarter 3. 
 
70% was in care once (88% in quarter 3) and 1% more than once (77% in quarter 3) and 20% did 
not respond to how many times they have been in care. 
 
30% rated their time in care as ‘Very good’, 30% Good and 40% ‘Neither good nor poor’. 

Page 167



2 

In quarter 3, 38% rated their time in care as ‘Very good’, 25% Good and 38% ‘Neither good nor 
poor’. 
 
100% understood their Care Plan. This was the same in the previous survey. 
 
100% felt that they were able to give their views about their care plan. No change from the 
previous quarter. 
 
100% felt that their views were considered. No change from previous survey. 
  
80% thought their IRO kept an eye on their cases, including the time between reviews, a decrease 
by 2% compared to Q3. 
 
100% (no change from Q3) stated some individuals such as -social workers (29%), carers (26%), 
teachers (10%), youth workers (6%), IROs (19%) and others (10%) - family members, support 
workers and Orchard house, who were particularly helpful while they were in care.  
In Q3, 33% social workers, 33% carers, 5% teachers 5% youth workers, 5% IROs and 19% others 
responded to this question. 
 

 
Since leaving care, 30% of young people felt that it was very easy to get the support that they 
needed. 20% found it easy and 10% found it difficult due to changes of social workers. 40% blank 
response. 
 
In quarter 3, 13% of young people felt that it was very easy to get the support that they needed and 
25% found it very easy in quarter 3. 
 
Positive comment made by young person: 
 

“ My 11 years with my carer have been really good however, prior to that, my 

experience in the system was pretty horrific. ” 
 

Negative comments made by young people are: 
‘It was long, tiring and a piss take being moved around too much’. 

 
Comment 
The feedback from young people leaving care shows no major change from response in Q3. 
Children and young people felt they understood their care plan and that they were able to give their 
views about their care plan. They thought that majority of IROs, kept an eye on their cases 
including the time between reviews. 

Page 168



3 

There was an increase by 17% from quarter 3 on the number of CYP who felt it was very easy to 
get the support that they needed. Those that found it difficult to get the support they needed felt it 
was due to frequent changes of social workers. 
 
 
Surveys of parents, Foster Carers, Staff and Professionals 

IRO SURVEYS - Number of responses 
Period/month, 
Quarter 

Number 
of CiC 
reviews 

Children and 
Young 
People 

CYP Leaving 
Care Parents 

Foster 
Carers and 
Agency 

Professionals 
/ Staff 

Total / 
period

      paper online paper online paper online paper online paper online  
2011 July 437 55 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
2012 Jan-March  Q4 1344 100 2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 155 N/A 88 
2012 April-June Q1 1271 18 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 N/A 0 
2012 July-Sept Q2 1327 15 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0 N/A 5 
2012 Oct-Dec Q3 1413 36 2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 N/A 10 
2013 Jan-March  Q4 1385 20 1 0 0 3 2 17 1 6 3 
2013 April-June Q1 1265 13 1 13 0 16 1 40 7 6 4 
2013 July-Sept Q2 1341 6 0 12 0 8 0 31 7 8 1 
2013 Oct-Dec Q3 1367 0 0 8 0 4 0 7 0 1 0 
2013 Jan-March  Q4 1251 0 0 10 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 

263 16 43 0 31 5 99 172 21 111 Total / survey 279 43 36 271 132 
 
A total of 2 parents responded to the online survey, a decrease of 2 compared to feedback from 
paper survey in Q3.  
A total of 4 foster carers responded to the paper survey, a decrease of 3 from Q3.  
There was no response from surveys of staff and professionals in Q4. In Q3, only 1 staff 
responded to the survey. 
 
 
Comment 
The continuing decrease in the response rate of surveys for foster carers, staff and professionals 
could be due to time factor and work pressure. It is possible that parents who completed the 
surveys for the first time may not wish to complete them again. 
 
 
 
 
Section 3: PARTICIPATION 
 
Children and young people chairing their own review 
 
From IROs' QA report  
(Percentage is from the yearly Total by each area) 
 
Area / 
Service Quarter 1 Q1 % Quarter 2 Q2 % Quarter 3 Q3 % Quarter 4 Q4 % Total Total % 
North 2 14.3% 4 28.6% 2 14.3% 6 42.9% 14 100% 

Page 169



4 

West 1 11.1% 0 0.0% 5 55.6% 3 33.3% 9 100% 
South 10 19.6% 10 19.6% 21 41.2% 10 19.6% 51 100% 
East 6 7.7% 11 14.1% 21 26.9% 40 51.3% 78 100% 
16+ 9 12.7% 21 29.6% 20 28.2% 21 29.6% 71 100% 
DCS 0 0.0% 1 25.0% 2 50.0% 1 25.0% 4 100% 
UASC 3 50.0% 1 16.7% 1 16.7% 1 16.7% 6 100% 
County 
Total 31 13% 48 21% 72 31% 82 35% 233 100% 
 
 
The performance in the county with regards to the number of children and young people, who 
chaired their reviews or part of their reviews, has increased by 10 compared to Q3. 
The East Kent area is showing an ongoing improvement in this area of practice, an increase of 19 
when compared to Q 3.   
 
IROs and social workers will continue to work together with VSK participation workers especially in 
the North and West Kent areas to ensure that more suitable children and young people are 
identified, encouraged and supported to chair their reviews or part of their reviews. 
 
Section 4: Children and Young People Consultation Leaflets 
 
A total of 151 children and young people provided feedback through the consultation leaflets in 
January to March 2014 (66 children and 85 young people). This is an increase of 56 compared to 
Q 3. 
 
It is expected that this number will continue to increase and in line with the number of reviews 
chaired by IROs in the same quarter. 1251 Children and young people’s reviews were chaired in Q 
4 and a total of 151 consultation leaflets were received. It is still possible that some social workers 
in operational district teams are not sending the leaflets to children and young people to complete 
before their reviews. It is also possible that some social workers are not spending time with 
children and young people prior to their review to support them to complete the leaflets in 
preparation for their reviews. The IRO county team manager will continue to raise this issue with 
specialist children and families’ service managers and fostering managers to ensure there is clarity 
in the use of consultation leaflets. 
 

 
71% felt good about where they live, a decrease by 6% compared to quarter 3. 

Page 170



5 

 
45% felt good about their school, 1% increase from last quarter. 
 

 
71% felt very well about their health, a decrease by 2% compared to quarter 3. 
 
73% said they felt very safe where they live, 4% decrease from last quarter. 
 
56% felt very safe at school, this represents a 1% decrease from quarter 3. 
 
69% said they see their social workers ‘the right amount’ (unable to compare from previous quarter 
as this particular data is new) 
 
43% said they definitely understood plans for their future, an increase by 2% compared from 
previous quarter. 
 

Page 171



6 

 
 
68% knew how to make a complaint (64% response in quarter 3). 
 
30% knew about ‘our children and young people council, (26% in quarter 3). 
 
15% knew about the Kent pledge, (11% in quarter 3). 
 
6% would like to chair all or part of their next child in care review, (7% in quarter 3). 
 
Section 5: Feedback from Focus Groups 
During November 2013, some IROs met with a group of children and young people in the Catch 22 
(16plus) and DCS services to obtain face to face feedback about the quality of the service they 
receive from the IRO service and their views about chairing their own review or part of their review.  
 
The same sets of questions were asked to those children and young people who participated in the 
focus group. The themes covered by IROs include: 

1. Understanding the role of the Independent Reviewing Officer; 
2. Preparing for the Review; 
3. Ongoing relationship with the Independent Reviewing Officer; 
4. The Review meeting; 
5. Chairing own Review, and  
6. Communicating back to you. 

 

Catch 22 (16 plus) Service 
6 Young people attended the focus group (2 males and 4 females). 
 

1. Understanding the role of the IRO 
The general view was that IROs chair child in care reviews. They work for Kent County 
Council. They find out ‘what’s going well and what’s going badly’. IROs can ‘make 
changes’. The young people generally knew the names of their IROs and were able to 
share the names of their IROs. Some said they have email address for their IROs and if 
they were not able to make contact this way, they would phone their social worker to get 
contact details, would phone or text. 

 
2. Preparing for the Review 

2 young people said they had a ‘discussion with the social worker about a month, or a 
week’ before the review. The social workers would ask the young people who they 

Page 172



7 

wanted or did not want to attend the review and what they would like to talk about at their 
review. 
Other young people could not remember if they were prepared for their review or not.  
It would appear that it depended on who their social worker was and if or not they had the 
same social worker. 
1 young person (female) did not want to fill out the consultation leaflets because she did 
not really want to talk to anyone at that time. 
1 young person said that she met with her IRO before her review and it was a ‘chance 
raise things with her’. Another young person said ‘I used to get nervous as these reviews 
were at school where I asked them to be but I did not like to sit through them all’. She 
said she was also nervous even when the venue was moved to her foster carers home. 
This suggests that it is important for the IRO to speak with the young person before the 
review to obtain the young person’s view and how the young person will like to participate 
at the review.  

 
3. Ongoing relationship with the IRO 

The general view was that IROs did not visit the young people in between their reviews. 1 
young person said, ‘she did only if they came to visit  a sibling’. 
The young people would like IROs to visit them a little more often. 1 young person said 
‘every 6 months for an hour would be fine. 2 young people said they would not like to talk 
to anyone. 
The young people said they were able to talk to their IRO however reviews often felt as if 
people were talking over the young person. 1 young people said that she walked out of 
her review ‘as they were talking about her’. Another young person said he walked out of 
his review feeling good as ‘they had all given them a lot of praise’. 1 young person said 
when she gets the review report through ‘it feels weird to see it and she said ‘did I say 
that’? 
In a discussion about whether the social worker sat down and shared the report with 
them, rather than just sending it in the post, 1 young person said that this had happened 
others said they just received the minutes in the post. 
 
The young people spoke about changes of social workers, ‘which happens quite often’ 
and ‘it was most difficult’. They also talked about further change of a social worker when 
they reach 16. 1 young person said ‘I hate having a different social worker’ which the 
majority were in agreement is difficult. 
It would appear from the young people’s comment that IROs were more stable 
professionals in young people’s lives during their time in care.  
 

4. The Review meeting 
Most of the young people said that they did participate in their review. 1 young person 
said it was only at the end of being a child in care that they ‘began to understand that I 
could express my views’. Another young person did not like attending their reviews as 
they felt that ‘others were talking over them’. 
The majority of the young people said that they were asked what they wanted to be 
discussed at their review and were given the choice as to where they wanted the review 
to be held. 
The majority said that they were given the option to say what they wanted discussed at 
their review. 
1 young person did not want her reviews to be held at school as people would ask what 
she was doing when she had them. Another young person preferred to have hers at 

Page 173



8 

school. The view was expressed that it was better to have reviews where the young 
people feel safe. 
There was a difference of opinion as to whether a representative from the school should 
be present for all of the review. Some said it was ‘okay for them to be present for the 
more personal issues’ and others said they ‘should not’. 
With regards to the changes the young people would like to see in the way their reviews 
are chaired, 1 young person said ‘reviews are boring, they should be scrapped’. There 
was a general consensus that they ‘should not be too long’. It was suggested to the 
young people that if the young person chaired their review, they would be more able to 
control this. 
 

5. Chairing own Review 
1 young person said she would like to chair her review and had talked about it. She has 
since then been put in touch with her IRO. 
1 young person said she had chaired her review for the last year and it was good. She 
felt more confident about reviews. 
1 young person said she had chaired her review for the last 2 years and liked it. This also 
made the meeting shorter. 
1 young person said it had helped when the social worker had discussed the review with 
her and said what was expected.  
1 young person said she did not like people staring at her in reviews or people talking 
about her or talking about her family as this would make her uncomfortable. 
Making reviews shorter was generally seen by young people as something that would 
improve their chairing reviews. 
 

6. Communicating back to you 
Some children and young people did say they complete the survey on line. There was a 
consensus that they would not want it on ‘face book’. There was a suggestion that this 
could be sent to their participation workers and then they can pass it on to young people. 
 
 
Disabled children service 
6 disabled young people were identified for the focus group, only 2 were able to 
communicate their views to the IRO. The other 4 have severe complex needs and were 
considered by the IRO as unable to communicate their views directly to IROs. 

 
1. The young people understood about their review meetings but do not understand what     

powers the independent reviewing office has. They remembered the name of their IROs 
and would get their IROs number through their foster carers or social worker. 

 
2. 1 young person received help from his social worker to prepare for his review. Another 

young person did not complete consultation leaflets in preparation for his review. 2 of 
the young people have been offered the opportunity to speak with their IROs with 
someone else present due to their challenging behaviour. 

 
3. The 2 young people said their IROs do not visit them in between reviews, however, they 

would be able to talk to their IROs about things in their lives that are worrying them.  
 
4. The 2 young people usually attend all their review meetings. 1 young person knew how 

to raise issues at his review. 2 young people felt listened to during their review meeting. 

Page 174



9 

1 young person would prefer his review meeting held at the college another young 
person would like her review to be held at his foster carers’ home. 

 
5. It was difficult to obtain the views of the young people about chairing their reviews. 1 

young person was reminded by the IRO that she usually makes a really good 
contribution to reviews. She agreed. 

 
Comment 
Obtaining feedback from disabled children and young people was particularly difficult due to their 
complex disability needs and other severe communication difficulties. 
 
The focus group for unaccompanied asylum seeking children did not take place in Q4. It is 
hoped that children and young people will be able to give their face to face feedback in Q1.  

 
 

Analysis/Conclusion 
Generally, the report has highlighted an ongoing decrease in the number of children and young 
people taking part in surveys compared to numbers completing the consultation leaflets. Although 
there was a 2 % increase compared to quarter 3 on the number of young people that responded to 
the leaving care survey, the general interests of children and young people in this area has 
continued to decrease. It is possible that children and young people have continued to find this 
method of obtaining their feedback repetitive and boring. It is also possible that the numbers of 
surveys children and young people are asked to complete across the county and nationwide have 
continued to increase and this will be the reason for the low response rate. It may be more 
beneficial to obtain feedback from CYP through direct work with them by IROs, social workers and 
participation workers. 
 
There is a decrease in the number of children and young people who were in care more than once 
compared to Q3. There is also a decrease in the number of children and young people who find 
social workers and carers particularly helpful compared to numbers in Q3. More children and 
young people find IROs particularly helpful. The same view was echoed by young people in the 
Catch 22 focus group. Most young people continue to find their IROs to be consistent professionals 
in their lives. 
  
The feedback from the consultation leaflet reports a decrease by 6% on the number of children 
who felt good about where they live, 4% decrease on the number that felt very safe from where 
they live and 2% decrease from the number that felt very well about their health. Majority of the 
children understood their plan for the future. 
Parents and carers generally have confidence in the IRO but would like the length of the review 
meeting to be shorter. Parents would like greater involvement in the child in care reviews and 
receiving review minutes at the right time. 
 
The report highlights a number of recommendations based on the key findings from the surveys, 
consultation leaflets and focus groups. This will help to improve the effectiveness of IRO 
performance and social work practice. 
 

• More direct work with children by social workers to improve communication and active 
participation of children and young people at their review meetings. 

• Social workers and IROs to continue to encourage and support children and young people 
to chair their reviews or part of their reviews.  

Page 175



10 

• Further discussions with managers on how to minimise the number of surveys completed 
by children and young people in care. 

• Social workers to ensure that child in care review minutes are distributed in a timely fashion 
to those present at the review, and the minutes discussed with children. 

• Minimise frequent changes of social workers - County wide management action. 
• Improving continuity of same IRO for child and young person. 
• Increasing IRO contacts and visits to children and young people in between reviews. 
• Social workers to ensure consultation leaflets are sent out for completion,  to children and 

young people, parents and carers, and made available to IROs before the child in care 
review. 

• Social workers to prepare children and young people for their reviews and improving use of 
consultation leaflets.. 

 
Tina Onuchukwu 
CountyTeam Manager 
IRO Service 
01227 598726 
 
26/05/2014 

Page 176


	Agenda
	A3 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 April 2014
	A4 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 22 May 2014
	A7 Cabinet Member's Verbal Update
	B1 Update on Adoption Service
	B1 - App 1 - Adopters Journey annual report
	B1 - App 2 - Analysis of Information Event (Jun 14)
	B1 - App 3 - Evaluation of Adoption Panels
	B1 - App 4 - Children's adoption journey - Annual Report 2013-14
	Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service
	Contents
	Summary Statistics
	1 Introduction
	2 Children adopted
	3 Children currently placed for adoption, not yet adopted
	4 Children placed for adoption
	4.1 Placement breakdowns

	5 Matches
	6 Placement Orders
	7 Children waiting for adoptive placements

	Of the 46 children for whom active family finding was being pursued at the end of March:
	7.1 Adoption activity day
	8 Children with a plan that has changed
	9 Children in care proceedings with an Agency Decision for adoption
	10 Children who had an Agency Decision for adoption
	11 Timescales analysis
	10.1 Time from Agency Decision for adoption plan to granting of Placement Order
	10.2 Time from Agency Decision for adoption to placement
	10.3 Time from placement order to placement
	10.4 Time from Agency Decision Maker’s approval of a match to placement
	10.5   DfE Adoption scorecards 2013-2016
	Background
	Our current performance
	Our performance in 2013/14 and performance needed to meet the 2013-2016 thresholds


	12 Conclusion
	Appendix 1: Demographics of children ‘waiting’, with a Placement Order, not yet placed for adoption
	Appendix 2: Children placed with a family following the Adoption Activity Day
	Appendix 3: Kent’s Adoption Scorecard 2010-2013 and DfE published thresholds
	Appendix 4: Detailed analysis of Kent’s performance in relation to the DfE scorecard and our forecast for performance 2013-16


	B1 - App 5 - Children's Adoption Journey - April 2014 Summary Statistics
	B1 - App 6 - Comms  Adoption Report - Hard to Place

	B2 Update regarding the work of the Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent
	B2 - App 1- 2014-15 pupil premium arrangements for LAC_ likely questions FINAL 20-3-14

	B3 IRO Service  - quarterly update
	B3 - App 1 - IRO Report Q4 January to March 2014
	B3 - App 2 - Survey-report-Q4 January to March 2014


